20-F 1 utsi-20f_20191231.htm 2019 20-F

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 20-F

☐ | REGISTRATION STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(b) OR 12(g) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
OR
☒ | ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019.
OR
☐ | TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
| For the transition period from to
OR
☐ | SHELL COMPANY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Date of event requiring this shell company report . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Commission file number: 001-35216

UTStarcom Holdings Corp.
(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)
N/A
(Translation of Registrant’s name into English)
Cayman Islands
(Jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)
4th Floor, South Wing, 368 Liuhe Road, Binjiang District, Hangzhou, P.R. China
(Address of principal executive offices)
Investor Relations 4th Floor, South Wing, 368 Liuhe Road, Binjiang District, Hangzhou, P.R. China Phone: (86-571) 8192-8888 UTSI-IR@utstar.com
(Name, Telephone, E-mail and/or Facsimile number and Address of Company Contact Person)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

None

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

Title of each class |  | Trading Symbol |  | Name of each exchange on which registered
Ordinary Shares, $0.00375 par value |  | UTSI |  | The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC

Securities for which there is a reporting obligation pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Act:

NONE
(Title of Class)

Indicate the number of outstanding shares of each of the issuer’s classes of capital or common stock as of the close of the period covered by the annual report: 35,524,950 ordinary shares, par value US$0.00375 per share.

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.

☐ Yes ☒ No

If this report is an annual or transition report, indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or (15)(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

☐ Yes ☒ No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

☒ Yes ☐ No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files).

☒ Yes ☐ No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer. See definition of “accelerated filer and large accelerated filer” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer☐ |  | Accelerated filer☐ |  | Non-accelerated filer☒ |  | Emerging growth company ☐

If an emerging growth company that prepares its financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards† provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐

† The term “new or revised financial accounting standard” refers to any update issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board to its Accounting Standards Codification after April 5, 2012.

Indicate by check mark which basis of accounting the registrant has used to prepare the financial statements included in this filing.

U.S. GAAP☒ |  | International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ☐ |  | Other☐

If “Other” has been checked in response to the previous question, indicate by check mark which financial statement item the registrant has elected to follow.

☐ Item 17 ☐ Item 18

If this is an annual report, indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).

☐ Yes ☒ No

(APPLICABLE ONLY TO ISSUERS INVOLVED IN BANKRUPTCY PROCEEDINGS DURING THE PAST FIVE YEARS)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed all documents and reports required to be filed by Sections 12, 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 subsequent to the distribution of securities under a plan confirmed by a court.

☐ Yes ☐ No

UTSTARCOM HOLDINGS CORP.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Page
INTRODUCTION | 1
PART I | 3
ITEM 1-Identity of Directors, Senior Management and Advisers | 3
ITEM 2-Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable | 3
ITEM 3-Key Information | 3
ITEM 4-Information on the Company | 25
ITEM 4A-Unresolved Staff Comments | 32
ITEM 5-Operating and Financial Review and Prospects | 32
ITEM 6-Directors, Senior Management and Employees | 46
ITEM 7-Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions | 52
ITEM 8-Financial Information | 52
ITEM 9-The Offer and Listing | 53
ITEM 10-Additional Information | 54
ITEM 11-Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk | 59
ITEM 12-Description of Securities other than Equity Securities | 60
PART II | 62
ITEM 13-Defaults, Dividend Arrearages And Delinquencies | 62
ITEM 14-Material Modifications to the Rights of Security Holders and Use Of Proceeds | 62
ITEM 15-Controls and Procedures | 62
ITEM 16A-Audit Committee Financial Expert | 63
ITEM 16B-Code of Ethics | 63
ITEM 16C-Principal Accountant Fees and Services | 64
ITEM 16D-Exemptions from the Listing Standards for Audit Committees | 64
ITEM 16E-Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers | 65
ITEM 16F-Change in Registrant’s Certifying Accountant | 66
ITEM 16G-Corporate Governance | 66
ITEM 16H-Mine Safety Disclosure | 66
PART III | 66
ITEM 17-Financial Statements | 66
ITEM 18-Financial Statements | 66
ITEM 19-Exhibits | 67
SIGNATURES | 68

i

INTROD UCTION

Unless the context otherwise requires, in this annual report on Form 20-F:

| • | “We,” “us,” “our,” and “our company” refer to UTStarcom Holdings Corp., an exempted company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands in April 2011, and its direct and indirect subsidiaries;

| • | “UTStarcom” refers to UTStarcom Holdings Corp.;

| • | “Shares” or “ordinary shares” refers to our ordinary shares, par value $0.00375 per share;

| • | “China” or “PRC” refers to the People’s Republic of China, excluding, for the purpose of this annual report, Taiwan, Hong Kong and Macau; and

| • | “RMB” or “Renminbi” refers to the legal currency of China, “JPY” or “Japanese Yen” refers to the legal currency of Japan, “INR” or “Indian Rupee” refer to the legal currency of India, and “$” or “U.S. dollars” refers to the legal currency of the United States.

Names of certain PRC companies provided in this annual report are translated or transliterated from their original PRC legal names.

Discrepancies in any table between the amounts identified as total amounts and the sum of the amounts listed therein are due to rounding.

This annual report on Form 20-F includes our audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.

This annual report contains translations of certain Renminbi amounts into U.S. dollars at the rate of RMB 6.9618 to $1.00, the noon buying rate on December 31, 2019, as set forth in the H.10 statistical release of the U.S. Federal Reserve Board. We make no representation that the Renminbi or U.S. dollar amounts referred to in this annual report could have been or could be converted into U.S. dollars or Renminbi, as the case may be, at any particular rate or at all. See “Item 3. Key Information-D. Risk Factors-Risks Relating to Conducting Business in China-Fluctuation in the value of the RMB relative to the U.S. dollar could affect our operating results and may have a material adverse effect on your investment.”

This annual report also contains translations of certain Indian Rupee amounts into U.S. dollars at the rate of INR 71.36 to $1.00, the noon buying rate on December 31, 2019, as set forth in the H.10 statistical release of the U.S. Federal Reserve Board. We make no representation that the Indian Rupee or U.S. dollar amounts referred to in this annual report could have been or could be converted into U.S. dollars or Indian Rupee, as the case may be, at any particular rate or at all. Fluctuation in the value of the Indian Rupee may have a material adverse effect on your investment. See “Item 3. Key Information-D. Risk Factors-Risks Related to Our Business-Currency rate fluctuations may adversely affect our cash flow and operating results.”

This annual report also contains translations of certain Japanese Yen amounts into U.S. dollars at the rate of JPY 108.67 to $1.00, the noon buying rate on December 31, 2019, as set forth in the H.10 statistical release of the U.S. Federal Reserve Board. We make no representation that the Japanese Yen or U.S. dollar amounts referred to in this annual report could have been or could be converted into U.S. dollars or Japanese Yen, as the case may be, at any particular rate or at all. Fluctuation in the value of the Japanese Yen may have a material adverse effect on your investment. See “Item 3. Key Information-D. Risk Factors-Risks Related to Our Business-Currency rate fluctuations may adversely affect our cash flow and operating results.”

Our ordinary shares are listed on the NASDAQ Stock Market, or NASDAQ, under the symbol “UTSI”. On March 21, 2013, we effected a one-for-three reverse share split of our ordinary shares. Unless otherwise specified, all share and per share information in this annual report has been retroactively adjusted to reflect this reverse share split.

On June 24, 2011, we effected a merger, or the Merger, to reorganize the corporate structure of UTStarcom, Inc., a Delaware corporation incorporated in 1991, and its subsidiaries. The Merger resulted in shares of the common stock of UTStarcom, Inc. being converted into the right to receive an equal number of ordinary shares in our capital, which were issued by us in connection with the Merger. Following the Merger, UTStarcom, Inc. became our wholly owned subsidiary and we became the parent company of UTStarcom, Inc. and its subsidiaries. See “Item 4. Information on the Company-C. Organizational Structure” for a list of our subsidiaries. We, together with our subsidiaries, continue to conduct our business in substantially the same manner as was conducted by UTStarcom, Inc. and its subsidiaries. The transaction was accounted for as a legal re-organization of entities under common control. Accordingly, we have prepared our consolidated financial statements as if the current corporate structure had been in existence throughout all relevant periods. Our consolidated financial statements prior to the Merger reflect the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of UTStarcom, Inc. and its subsidiaries. Our consolidated financial statements as of December 31,

1

2019 and 2018 and for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 reflect our financia l position, results of operation and cash flows.

2

PART I

ITEM 1-IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISERS

Not Applicable.

ITEM 2-OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE

Not Applicable.

ITEM 3-KEY INFORMATION

A. Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) data for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 have been derived from our audited financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report. The selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with those financial statements and the accompanying notes and “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects” below. Our consolidated financial statements are prepared and presented in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles, or U.S. GAAP. Our historical results do not necessarily indicate our results expected for any future periods.

Our selected consolidated statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 and our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements, which are not included in this annual report.

|  | Years Ended December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |  |  | 2017 |  |  | 2016 |  |  | 2015 |
|  | (in thousands, except per share amount) |
Consolidated Statement of Operations Data: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Net sales(1) |  | $ | 65,623 |  |  | $ | 115,944 |  |  | $ | 98,292 |  |  | $ | 86,512 |  |  | $ | 117,103 |
Gross profit |  | $ | 24,157 |  |  | $ | 32,268 |  |  | $ | 33,146 |  |  | $ | 28,356 |  |  | $ | 27,868 |
Operating income (loss) |  | $ | (6,137) |  |  | $ | 4,367 |  |  | $ | 6,516 |  |  | $ | 1,708 |  |  | $ | (4,989 | )
Net income (loss) |  | $ | (3,913) |  |  | $ | 4,820 |  |  | $ | 6,981 |  |  | $ | 290 |  |  | $ | (27,158 | )
Net income (loss) per share-Basic |  | $ | (0.11) |  |  | $ | 0.14 |  |  | $ | 0.20 |  |  | $ | 0.01 |  |  | $ | (0.74 | )

(1) | The sales decrease from 2015 to 2016 was mainly caused by lower market demand for old products as we streamlined our business to focus more on high-gross margin products after we announced our new strategy in June 2015. In 2018, we recognized revenues in accordance with Accounting Standard Update 2014-09 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) (“ASU 2014-09”). The disclosure for the quantitative effect and the significant changes between the reported results under the new standard and those that would have been reported under legacy GAAP (i.e., ASC 605), please see Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included under Part III, Item 18 of annual report for the year ended December 31, 2018 on the form of 20-F, which was not incorporated in this annual report. The decreased revenue in 2019 was from India and Japan, due to the lower demand requirement from our two major customers.

|  | Years Ended December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |  |  | 2017 |  |  | 2016 |  |  | 2015 |
|  | (in thousands) |
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Cash and cash equivalents |  | $ | 34,966 |  |  | $ | 57,049 |  |  | $ | 79,749 |  |  | $ | 83,922 |  |  | $ | 77,050 |  |
Working capital |  | $ | 88,045 |  |  | $ | 90,362 |  |  | $ | 78,549 |  |  | $ | 75,850 |  |  | $ | 63,818 |  |
Total assets |  | $ | 151,303 |  |  | $ | 177,435 |  |  | $ | 187,044 |  |  | $ | 178,703 |  |  | $ | 198,379 |  |
Total short-term debt |  | $ | — |  |  | $ | — |  |  | $ | — |  |  | $ | — |  |  | $ | — |  |
Long-term debt |  | $ | — |  |  | $ | — |  |  | $ | — |  |  | $ | — |  |  | $ | — |  |
Total UTStarcom Holdings Corp. shareholders’ equity |  | $ | 99,188 |  |  | $ | 102,166 |  |  | $ | 90,992 |  |  | $ | 82,741 |  |  | $ | 83,777 |  |

B. Capitalization and Indebtedness

Not Applicable.

3

C. Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds

Not Applicable.

D. Risk Factors

Risks Related To Our Business

We have a history of operating losses and may not have enough liquidity to execute our business plan or to continue our operations without obtaining additional funding or selling additional securities. We may not be able to obtain additional funding under commercially reasonable terms or issue additional securities.

We reported a net loss of $3.9 million, and net income of $4.8 million, and $7.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. As of December 31, 2019, we had $35.0 million in cash or cash equivalents. Our management considered our current financial status, business operation, market strategy, and product development in the twelve months following the issuance date of this report and believes that we will have sufficient liquidity to finance our anticipated operations, capital expenditure requirements and new business acquisitions and investments, as well as achieve projected cash collections from customers and contain expenses and cash used in operations over that period. However, we may not achieve such operating performance and our management expects to continue to implement our liquidity plans, including reducing operating expenses and improving cash collections and receivable turnover. If we cannot successfully implement our liquidity plans, it may be necessary for us to make significant changes to our business plans and strategy to maintain adequate liquidity. In addition, various other factors may negatively impact our liquidity, such as:

| • | our inability to achieve planned operating results, which may increase liquidity requirements beyond those considered in our business plans;

| • | our growth initiatives, which may increase liquidity requirements beyond those considered in our business plans;

| • | changes in our business conditions or the financial markets that could limit our access to existing credit facilities or make new sources of financing more-costly or commercially unviable; and

| • | changes in China’s currency exchange control regulations, which could limit our ability to access cash outside of China to meet liquidity requirements for our operations in China, or vice-versa.

| • | changes in the public health crisis of COVID-19, which could affect the Company’s liquidity.

Although our management has developed liquidity plans, we may have difficulty maintaining existing relationships or developing new relationships with suppliers as a result of our current financial condition. Our suppliers may choose to provide products or services to us on more stringent payment terms than those currently in place, such as requiring advance payment or payment upon delivery, which may have a negative impact on our short-term cash flows, and in turn materially and adversely affect our ability to retain current customers, attract new customers and maintain contracts that are critical to our operations.

If we cannot meet our liquidity needs through improved operating results, we may need to obtain additional financing from financial institutions or other third parties. However, we may not be able to obtain financing under commercially reasonable terms, or at all. Additionally, we may not be able to sell additional securities to meet our liquidity needs, and any such sale of securities would dilute the ownership of our shareholders.

Our strategic plan may not be successful, which may materially and adversely affect our financial results.

We have a strategic plan in place and expect that this plan in time will result in an optimized revenue profile and improve our margins. While we continue to execute and modify our plan to align with market changes, we may not be successful in reducing our costs, improving our efficiencies, or expanding our margins. If our current or future strategic plans for the business of our company are not as successful as originally anticipated, or at all, our company, financial prospects and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

Our cost-reduction initiatives and restructuring plans may not result in anticipated savings or more efficient operations. Our restructuring may disrupt our operations and adversely affect our operations and financial results.

In the past several years, we implemented certain cost-reduction initiatives and restructuring plans. However, our restructuring may not improve our results of operations and cash flows as we anticipated. Our inability to realize the benefits of our cost-reduction initiatives and restructuring plans may result in an ineffective business structure that could negatively affect our results of operations. In addition to severance and other employee-related costs, our restructuring plans may also subject us to litigation risks and expenses.

4

Our restructuring may also have other adverse consequences, such as employee attrition beyond our planned reduction in the workfor ce, the loss of employees with valuable knowledge or expertise, a negative effect on employee morale and gains in competitive advantages by our competitors. Our restructuring may also place increased demands on our personnel and could adversely affect our ability to attract and retain talent, develop and enhance our products and services, service our existing customers, achieve our sales and marketing objectives and perform our accounting, finance and administrative functions.

We may undertake future cost-reduction initiatives and restructuring plans that may materially and adversely impact our operations. If we do not realize the anticipated benefits of any future restructurings, our operations and financial results could be adversely affected.

Changes in our management may cause uncertainty in, or be disruptive to, our business. Certain of our directors and management team members have been with us in those capacities for only a short time.

We have experienced significant changes in our management and our Board of Directors, or Board, in recent years. In 2016, we appointed a new chief executive officer, a new chief operating officer and a new director to the Board. Additionally, in November 2017, one of our directors was replaced. In September 2019, two of our directors were replaced resulting from the sale of 9.2 million shares by Shah Capital Opportunity Fund and Mr. Hong Liang Lu (“Selling Shareholders”) to Tongding Interconnection Information Co., Ltd. (“TDI”). In March 2020, the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) took a temporary medical leave of absence, and our Board of Directors appointed an acting CEO. In May 2020, the Vice Present of Finance will resign from the Company. Future change of shareholders may also cause further changes in our management and our Board of Directors. Although we have endeavored to implement any director and management transition in a non-disruptive manner, any such transition might impact our business, and give rise to uncertainty among our customers, investors, vendors, employees and others concerning our future direction and performance, which may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows, and our ability to execute our business model.

In addition, because certain members of our management and Board have served in their respective capacities for only limited durations, we face the additional risks that these persons:

| • | have limited familiarity with our past practices;

| • | lack experience in communicating effectively within our team and with other employees and directors;

| • | lack settled areas of responsibility; and

| • | lack established track records in managing our business strategy.

We rely on a Japanese customer and an Indian customer for a significant portion of our net sales. Any deterioration of our relationship or any interruption to our ongoing collaboration with these customers, may significantly harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

A significant portion of our net sales is derived from a Japanese customer, SoftBank Corp. and its related entities (collectively “Softbank”), and an Indian customer, Bharat Sanchar Nigam Limited and its related entities (collectively “BSNL”).

Although we have collaborated with Softbank since 2008, Softbank may not continue working with us in the future, whether due to changes in management preferences, business strategy, corporate structure or other factors. Softbank previously was one of our principal shareholders. On January 14, 2014, Softbank sold its entire stake in our Company, consisting of 4,883,875 ordinary shares. We repurchased 3,883,875 ordinary shares, and Shah Capital Opportunity Fund LP, one of our shareholders, purchased 1,000,000 ordinary shares, for a price of $2.54 per ordinary share. After the consummation of the transaction, Softbank was no longer a related party. In 2019 and 2018, our net sales to Softbank totaled approximately $13.5 million and $31.9 million, respectively, representing approximately 21% and 28%, respectively, of our total net sales in 2019 and 2018. Our net sales to BSNL totaled approximately $31.8 million and $67.0 million, respectively, representing approximately 48% and 58%, respectively, of our total net sales in 2019 and 2018. We anticipate that our dependence on Softbank and BSNL will continue for the foreseeable future.

Consequently, our failure to continue collaborating with Softbank and BSNL may adversely affect our business, financial conditions and results of operations. Any of the following events may cause material fluctuations or declines in our net sales or liquidity position and have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations:

| • | changes in the regulatory environment in Japan or India that adversely affect the Softbank or BSNL businesses that we supply;

| • | changes in the commercial environment in Japan or India that adversely a ffect the Softbank or BSNL businesses we supply;

5

| • | changes in the trade barriers in Japan or India that adversely affect the Softbank or BSNL businesses we supply;

| • | Softbank or BSNL’s collaborations with our competitors;

| • | local manufacture requirement;

| • | reduction, delay or cancellation of contracts from Softbank or BSNL;

| • | the success of Softbank or BSNL utilizing our products; and

| • | failure of Softbank or BSNL to make timely payment for our products and services.

Failure of BSNL to make timely payment for our products and services.

BSNL is UTStarcom's long-time customer in India. In particular, our Company took on several major projects during the past few years involving the supply of telecom equipment, installation and commissioning, as well as annual maintenance contracts, and accumulated a significant amount of Accounts Receivable (“AR”). The process of collecting payments from BSNL is taking longer than we had anticipated. As of December 31, 2019, the gross AR amount owed by BSNL to the Company was approximately $53.9 million (INR 3.8 billion).

Our Company has two types of contracts with BSNL. The first type is an annual maintenance contract for regular maintenance service provided to BSNL’s existing system. The revenue for this type of service is recognized after service is rendered and certified by BSNL. Payment is due upon BSNL’s acceptance of the invoices. The second type of contract is related to projects. Normally a project is comprised of two parts: provision of communication equipment and installation services.

For project equipment sales, the payment term of a typical project contract requires substantial payment (50% to 60%) upon equipment delivery and the rest to be paid over time. We issue invoices to BSNL requesting payment when certain contractual milestones are reached. Payment is due upon BSNL’s acceptance of the invoice. For the service component of a project, an invoice is submitted and payment is due after services are rendered and accepted. For sale of both equipment and services, the payment process normally is about 90 days.

Based on the contract terms and the payment history of BSNL, the time period between the delivery of our goods or services and payment receipts is no more than one year, thus there is no financing component in our contracts with BSNL. The total contract amount was recorded as revenue when revenue recognition criteria were met. Correspondingly, the accounts receivable resulting from those BSNL revenues are trade receivables generated during the normal course of business and not financing receivables.

UTStarcom and other equipment providers shipped substantial amounts of equipment to BSNL in 2018 to support BSNL’s network expansion. However, BSNL was delinquent in paying its suppliers as its financial condition deteriorated. Only a limited amount of the outstanding BSNL receivable was collected in 2019 until the end of 2019 when an $8 million was collected. This situation not only adversely affected selling expenses due to a higher AR allowance for doubtful accounts, it also disrupted our normal revenue and cash flow stream. See “Item 5-Operating and Financial Review and Prospect”.

As a 100% state-owned enterprise, BSNL operates under the guidance of India’s Telecommunication Ministry (the “Telecom Ministry”). The Telecom Ministry had been working to rectify BSNL’s financial situation throughout 2019. On October 23, 2019, the Indian government approved a revival plan for BSNL, which includes a $3.3 billion voluntary retirement scheme, a $3.4 billion 4G spectrum allocation and $2.1 billion of sovereign bonds for funding operations and the 4G upgrade. The Indian government also authorized BSNL to monetize $5.4 billion of its assets, such as real estate, optical fiber, and towers. Additionally, the Indian government approved a half billion USD loan guarantee for BSNL in order to raise funds to settle its outstanding vendor payments.

We assessed the current situation and financial outlook for BSNL. Based on the formal financial backing of the Indian government, we believe collectability is probable. We have received partial payment at the end of 2019, and every month in 2020 through April 2020. However, timing of future payments for remaining open Accounts Receivable is uncertain. We are closely monitoring BSNL’s financial and payment activities and accordingly will adjust our AR reserve quarterly.

Investigation by Taiwan Investment Commission (“TWIC”) may cause significantly negative impacts on our business in Taiwan

In February 19, 2019, UTStarcom Taiwan Ltd. (“UTTW”), one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, received an investigation letter from Taiwan Investment Commission (the “TWIC”) of the Ministry of Economic Affairs (the “MOEA”) requesting UTTW to provide information in relation to its shareholders background.

According to the current Taiwan laws and regulations, once the total shareholding in a Taiwan company, directly or indirectly owned by PRC individuals or entities, exceeds 1/3 of the equity interests in this Taiwan company, such company will not be allowed to participate in the operations of certain industries, which includes some of our existing business of UTTW.

6

Considering the total shareholding in UTTW, directly or indi rectly owned by PRC individuals or entities, has exceeded 1/3 of total equity interests, UTTW had to transfer all of our Taiwan business to an unaffiliated local company at the end of August 2019. The liquidation process of UTTW was triggered on December 9, 2019, the dissolution registration was approved by Taipei municipal government on March 9, 2020 and the other formalities will be carried out in due course.

In 2019, 2018 and 2017, the net sales contributed from the Taiwan market were $3.7 million, $6.4 million and $3.0 million, which accounted for 6%, 6% and 3% of our total net sales in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The closing of UTTW will have a negative impact on our business and overall financial condition.

We have a rapidly evolving business model, and if our new product and service offerings fail to attract or retain customers or generate revenue, our growth and operating results could be harmed.

We have a rapidly evolving business model and are regularly exploring entry into new market segments and introduction of new products, features and services with respect to which we may have limited experience. In the past, we have added additional types of services and product offerings, and in some cases, we have modified or discontinued those offerings. We may continue to offer additional types of products or services in the future, but these products and services may not be successful. The additions and modifications to our business have increased its complexity and may present new and significant technological challenges, as well as strains on our management, personnel, operations, systems, technical performance, financial resources, and internal financial control and reporting functions. The future viability of our business will depend on the success of our new business model and product and service offerings, and if they fail to attract or retain customers or generate revenue, our growth and operating results could be materially and adversely affected.

Our future product sales are unpredictable and our operating results are likely to fluctuate from quarter to quarter as a result.

Our quarterly and annual operating results have fluctuated in the past and are likely to fluctuate in the future due to a variety of factors, some of which are outside of our control. Factors that may affect our future operating results include:

| • | the timing and size of the orders for our products;

| • | customer acceptance of new products we may introduce to market;

| • | changes in the growth rate of customer purchases of communications services;

| • | lengthy and unpredictable sales cycles associated with sales of our products;

| • | cancellation, deferment or delay in implementation of large contracts;

| • | quality issues resulting from the design or manufacture of the products, or from the software used in the products;

| • | cash collection cycles in the markets where we operate;

| • | reliance on product, software and component suppliers which may constitute a sole source of supply or may have going concern issues;

| • | the decline in business activity we typically experience during the Lunar New Year holiday in China, which leads to decreased sales and collections during our first fiscal quarter;

| • | issues that might arise from divestiture of non-core assets or operations or the integration of acquired entities and the inability to achieve expected results from such divestitures or acquisitions;

| • | shifts in our product mix or market focus; and

| • | availability of adequate liquidity to implement our business plan.

As a result of these and other factors, period-to-period comparisons of our operating results are not necessarily meaningful or indicative of future performance. In addition, the factors noted above may make it difficult for us to forecast our future financial performance. Furthermore, it is possible that in some future quarters our operating results will fall below our internal forecasts, public guidance or the expectations of securities analysts or investors, which may adversely affect the trading price of our ordinary shares.

Changes in government trade policies could limit the demand for our equipment and increase the cost of our equipment.

General trade tensions between the United States and China escalated beginning in 2018. In each of July, August and September 2018, June and September 2019, and February 2020, the U.S. government imposed new or higher tariffs on specified

7

imported products originating from China in response to what the U.S. government characterizes as unfair trade practices. The Chinese government responded to each of these rounds of U.S. tariff c hanges by imposing new or higher tariffs on specified products imported from the United States. Higher duties on existing tariffs and further rounds of tariffs have been announced or threatened by U.S. and Chinese leaders.

The imposition of tariffs by the U.S. and Chinese governments and the surrounding economic uncertainty may have a negative impact on the telecommunications equipment industry. Depending upon their duration and implementation, as well as our ability and available alternatives to mitigate their impact, these tariffs could materially affect our business, including in the form of increased cost of goods sold, increased pricing for customers, and reduced sales. In addition, any changes in trade policies between China and certain trading partners could trigger retaliatory actions by affected countries, resulting in further cost escalations and reduced demand for our products. Our access to parts and ability to sell our products could also be impacted by other trade-related factors, such as restrictions on the sale of certain parts into China, or government-promoted “buy local” campaigns.

Competition in our markets may lead to reduced prices, revenues and market share.

We currently face and will continue to face intense competition from both domestic and international companies in our target markets, many of which may operate under lower cost structures and have much larger sales forces than we do. Additionally, other companies not presently offering competing products may also enter our target markets. Many of our competitors have significantly greater financial, technical, product development, sales, marketing and other resources than we do. As a result, our competitors may be able to respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies and changes in service provider requirements. Our competitors may also be able to devote greater resources than we can to the development, promotion and sale of new products. These competitors may be able to offer significant financing arrangements to service providers, which may give them a competitive advantage in selling systems to service providers with limited financial resources. In many of the developing markets in which we operate or intend to operate, relationships with local governmental telecommunications agencies are important to establish and maintain through permissible means. In many such markets, our competitors may have or be able to establish better relationships with local governmental telecommunications agencies than we have, which could result in their ability to influence governmental policy formation and interpretation to their advantage. Additionally, our competitors might have better relationships with their third-party suppliers and obtain component parts at reduced rates, allowing them to offer their end products at reduced prices. Moreover, the telecommunications and data transmission industries have experienced significant consolidation, and we expect this trend to continue. Increased customer concentration may increase our reliance on larger customers and our bargaining position and profit margins may suffer.

Increased competition is likely to result in price reductions, reduced profit margin and loss of market share, any one of which could materially harm our business, cash flows and financial condition. In order to remain competitive, we must continually reduce the cost of manufacturing our products through design and engineering changes and other cost control measures. We may not be successful in these efforts or in delivering our products to market in a timely manner. In addition, any redesign may not result in sufficient cost reductions to allow us to reduce the prices of our products to remain competitive or to improve or maintain our profit margin, which would cause our financial results to suffer.

To remain competitive, we may enter into contracts with low profitability or even anticipated losses if we believe it is necessary to establish a relationship with a customer or a presence in a market that we consider important to our strategy. Entering into a contract with an anticipated loss requires us to recognize a provision for the entire loss in the period in which it becomes evident rather than in later periods in which contract performance occurs. Entering into contracts with low gross margins adversely affects our reported results when the revenues from such contracts are recognized.

The average selling prices of our products may decrease, which may reduce our revenues and our gross profit.

The average selling prices of our products may decrease in the future in response to product introductions by us or our competitors or other factors, including price pressures from customers. Sales of products with low gross profit margins may adversely affect our profitability and result in losses with respect to such products. Therefore, we must continue to develop, source and introduce new products and enhancements to existing products that incorporate features that can be sold at higher average selling prices. Failure to do so, or the failure of consumers or our direct customers to accept such new products, could cause our revenues and profitability to decline.

Our market is subject to rapid technological change and we must continually introduce new products and product enhancements that achieve market acceptance to compete effectively.

The market for broadband equipment is characterized by rapid technological developments, frequent new product introductions, changes in consumer preferences and evolving industry and regulatory standards. Our success will depend in large part on our ability to enhance our technologies and develop and introduce new products and product enhancements that anticipate changing service provider requirements, technological developments and evolving consumer preferences. We may need to make substantial capital expenditures and incur significant R&D expenses to develop and introduce new products and enhancements. If we fail to

8

develop and introduce new products or enhancements to existing products that effectively respond to technological change on a timely basis, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Certain of our products are subject to rapid changes in standards, applications and technologies. Moreover, from time to time, we or our competitors may announce new products or product enhancements, technologies or services that have the potential to replace or shorten the life cycles of our products and that may cause customers to defer purchasing our existing products, resulting in charges for inventory obsolescence reserves. Future technological advances in the communications industry may diminish or inhibit market acceptance of our existing or future products or render our products obsolete. Even if we are able to develop and introduce new products, they may not gain market acceptance. Market acceptance of our products will depend on various factors, including:

| • | our ability to obtain necessary approvals from regulatory organizations within the countries in which we operate and for any new technologies that we introduce;

| • | the length of time it takes service providers to evaluate our products, causing the timing of purchases to be unpredictable;

| • | the compatibility of our products with legacy technologies and standards existing in previously deployed network equipment;

| • | our ability to attract customers who may have pre-existing relationships with our competitors;

| • | product pricing relative to performance;

| • | the level of customer service available to support new products; and

| • | the timing of new product introductions meeting demand patterns.

If our products fail to obtain market acceptance in a timely manner, our business and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

We purchase certain key components and materials used in our products from authorized distributors of sole source suppliers. If we cannot secure adequate supplies of high quality products at competitive prices or in a timely manner, our competitive position, reputation and business could be harmed.

We purchase certain key components and materials, such as chipsets, used in our products from authorized distributors of sole source suppliers. We do not have direct contractual arrangements with the sole source suppliers of chipsets used in our products. If we are unable to obtain high-quality components and materials in the quantities required and at the costs specified by us, we may not be able to find alternative sources on favorable terms, in a timely manner, or at all. Our inability to obtain or to develop alternative sources if and as required could result in delays or reductions in manufacturing or product shipments. From time to time, there may be shortages of certain products or components. Moreover, the components and materials we purchase may be inferior quality products. If an inferior quality product supplied by a third-party is used in our end product and causes a problem, our end product may be deemed responsible and our competitive position, reputation and business could suffer.

Our ability to source a sufficient quantity of high-quality, cost-effective components used in our products may also be limited by import restrictions and duties in the foreign countries where we manufacture our products. We require a significant number of imported components to manufacture our products, and these imported components may be limited by a variety of permit requirements, approval procedures, patent infringement claims, import duties and licensing requirements. Moreover, import duties on such components increase the cost of our products and may make them less competitive.

Our multinational operations may strain our resources and subject us to various economic, political, regulatory and legal risks.

We market and sell our products globally. Our existing multinational operations require significant management attention and financial resources. To continue to manage our global business, we will need to continue to take various actions, including:

| • | enhancing management information systems, including forecasting procedures;

| • | further developing our operating, administrative, financial and accounting systems and controls;

| • | managing our working capital and sources of financing;

| • | maintaining close coordination among our engineering, accounting, finance, marketing, sales and operations organizations;

| • | successfully consolidating a number of functions in China to eliminate functional duplication;

9

| • | retaining, training and managing our employee base;

| • | reorganizing our business structure to allocate and utilize our internal resources more effectively;

| • | improving and sustaining our supply chain capability; and

| • | managing both our direct and indirect sales channels in a cost-efficient and competitive manner.

If we fail to implement or improve systems or controls or to manage any future growth and transformation effectively, our business could suffer.

Furthermore, our multinational operations are subject to a variety of risks, such as:

| • | the complexity of complying with a variety of foreign laws and regulations in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate;

| • | difficulty complying with continually evolving and changing global product and communications standards and regulations for both our end products and their component technology;

| • | market acceptance of our new products, including longer product acceptance periods in new markets into which we enter;

| • | reliance on local original equipment manufacturers, third party distributors, resellers and agents to effectively market and sell our products;

| • | unusual contract terms required by customers in developing markets;

| • | changes to import and export regulations, including quotas, tariffs, licensing restrictions and other trade barriers;

| • | the complexity of compliance with the varying taxation requirements of multiple jurisdictions;

| • | evolving and unpredictable nature of the economic, regulatory, competitive and political environments;

| • | reduced protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;

| • | longer accounts receivable collection periods; and

| • | difficulties and costs of staffing, monitoring and managing multinational operations, including but not limited to internal controls and compliance.

In addition, many of the global markets are less developed, presenting additional economic, political, regulatory and legal risks unique to developing economies, such as the following:

| • | customers that may be unable to pay for our products in a timely manner or at all;

| • | new and unproven markets for our products and the telecommunications services that our products enable;

| • | lack of a large, highly trained workforce;

| • | difficulty in controlling local operations from our headquarters;

| • | variable ethical standards and an increased potential for fraud;

| • | unstable political and economic environments; and

| • | lack of a secure environment for our personnel, facilities and equipment.

In particular, these factors create the potential for physical loss of inventory and misappropriation of operating assets. We have in the past experienced cases of vandalism and armed theft of our equipment that had been or was being installed in the field. If disruptions for any of these reasons become too severe in any particular market, it may become necessary for us to terminate contracts and withdraw from that market and suffer the associated costs and lost revenue.

10

Our success depends o n our ability to hire and retain qualified personnel, including senior managers. If we are not successful in attracting and retaining these personnel and in managing key employee turnover, our business will suffer.

The success of our business depends in significant part upon the continued contributions of key technical and senior management personnel, many of whom would be difficult to replace. The loss of a key employee, the failure of a key employee to perform satisfactorily in his or her current position or our failure to attract and retain other key technical and senior management employees could have a significant negative impact on our operations.

Notwithstanding our recent workforce restructurings, to effectively manage our operations, we will need to recruit, train, assimilate, motivate and retain qualified employees, especially in China. Competition for qualified employees is intense, and the process of recruiting personnel in all fields, including technology, research and development, sales and marketing, finance and accounting, administration and management with the combination of skills and attributes required to execute our business strategy can be difficult, time-consuming and expensive. We must continue to implement hiring and training processes that are capable of quickly deploying qualified local residents to support our products and services knowledgeably. Alternatively, if there are an insufficient number of qualified local residents available, we might incur substantial costs importing expatriates to service new global markets. For example, we have historically experienced and continue to experience difficulty finding qualified accounting personnel knowledgeable in both U.S. and PRC accounting standards who are PRC residents. In addition, we made changes within our senior management team in China. If our current senior management in China cannot maintain and/or establish key relationships with customers, governmental entities and other relevant parties in China, our business may decline significantly. If we fail to attract, hire, assimilate or retain qualified personnel, our business would be harmed. Our recent layoffs also have an adverse effect on our ability to attract and retain critical staff. Competitors and others have in the past, and may in the future, attempt to recruit our employees. In addition, companies in the telecommunications industry whose employees accept positions with competitors frequently claim that the competitors have engaged in unfair hiring practices. We may be the subject of these types of claims in the future as we seek to hire qualified personnel. Some of these claims may result in material litigation and disruption to our operations. We could incur substantial costs in defending ourselves against these claims, regardless of their merit.

Currency rate fluctuations may adversely affect our cash flow and operating results.

Our business is subject to risk from changing foreign exchange rates as a substantial part of our business was conducted in a variety of currencies other than the U.S. dollar. In 2019, a majority of our sales were made in India and denominated in Indian Rupee. The value of INR against the U.S. dollar and other currencies fluctuate and is affected by, among other things, changes in the respective country’s monetary or fiscal policies and political and economic conditions and supply and demand in local markets. Over the past 3 years, INR fluctuated about 6%, 9% and 2% against the U.S. dollar in 2017, 2018 and 2019 respectively. In addition, significant sales were denominated in Japanese Yen and most of our inventory purchases and operating expenses were denominated in Renminbi. Adverse movements in currency exchange rates may negatively affect our cash flow and operating results. In aggregate, we recorded a net foreign currency gain of $0.6 million in 2017, a net foreign currency loss of $2.6 million in 2018, and a net foreign currency loss of $3.9 million in 2019. We currently do not use forward and option contracts to hedge against the risk of foreign currency rate fluctuation in the eventual net cash inflows and outflows resulting from foreign currency denominated transactions with customers, suppliers, and non-U.S. subsidiaries. We are limited in our ability to hedge our exposure to rate fluctuations in certain currencies, including the Renminbi and Indian Rupee, primarily due to governmental currency exchange control regulations that restrict currency conversion and remittance. As a result, fluctuations in foreign currencies may have a material impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Currency exchange control and government restrictions on dividends may impact our ability to transfer funds outside of the China and India.

A significant portion of our business is conducted in China where the currency is the RMB and in India where the currency is the INR. Regulations in China and India permit foreign owned entities to freely convert the RMB or INR into foreign currency for transactions that fall under the “current account,” which includes trade related receipts and payments. Accordingly, our PRC or Indian subsidiaries may use RMB or INR to purchase foreign exchange for settlement of such “current account” transactions without pre-approval. However, pursuant to applicable regulations in China, foreign-invested enterprises in China may pay dividends only out of their accumulated profits, if any, determined in accordance with PRC accounting standards and regulations. In calculating accumulated profits, foreign investment enterprises in China are required to allocate at least 10% of their realized profits each year, if any, to fund certain reserves, until these reserves have reached 50% of the registered capital of the enterprises.

Transactions other than those that fall under the “current account” and that involve conversion of RMB or INR into foreign currency are classified as “capital account” transactions; examples of “capital account” transaction include repatriations of investment by or loans to foreign owners, or direct equity investments in a foreign entity by a China domiciled entity. In China, “capital account” transactions will be examined and registered by banks or State Administration of Foreign Exchange (“SAFE”) in China to convert a remittance into a foreign currency, such as U.S. dollars, and transmit the foreign currency outside of China. In India, “capital account” transactions will be examined and approved by the Reserve Bank of India (“RBI”) to convert INR into a foreign currency, such as U.S. dollars, and transmit the foreign currency outside of India.

11

The foreign exchange control system in China or India could be changed at any time and any such change may affect the ability of us or our subsidiaries in China or I ndia to repatriate capital or profits, if any, outside China or India. Furthermore, SAFE, RBI or other governmental authorities have a significant degree of administrative discretion in implementing the laws and regulations and has used this discretion to limit convertibility of “current account” payments out of China or India. Whether as a result of a deterioration in the PRC or India balance of payments, a shift in the PRC or Indian macroeconomic prospects or any number of other reasons, China or India co uld impose additional restrictions on capital remittances abroad. As a result of these and other restrictions under the laws and regulations of the PRC or India, our PRC or India subsidiaries are restricted in their ability to transfer a portion of their n et assets to the parent. We have no assurance that the relevant PRC or Indian governmental authorities in the future will not limit further or eliminate the ability of our PRC or Indian subsidiaries to purchase foreign currencies and transfer such funds to us to meet our liquidity or other business needs. Any inability to access funds in China or India, if and when needed for use by us outside of China or India, could have a material and adverse effect on our liquidity and our business.

We may not be able to take advantage of acquisition opportunities or achieve the anticipated benefits of completed acquisitions.

We have in the past acquired certain businesses, products and technologies. We will continue to evaluate acquisition prospects that would complement our existing product offerings, augment our market coverage, enhance our technological capabilities, or that may otherwise offer growth opportunities. To the extent we desire to raise additional funds for purposes not currently included in our business plan (such as taking advantage of acquisition opportunities, developing new or enhanced products, responding to competitive pressures, or raising capital for strategic purposes), additional financing for these or other purposes may not be available on acceptable terms or at all. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of equity securities, our shareholders will experience dilution of their ownership interest, and the newly issued securities may have rights superior to those of ordinary shares. If we raise additional funds by issuing debt, our ability to meet our debt service obligations will be dependent upon our future performance, which will be subject to financial, business and other factors affecting our operations, many of which are beyond our control. Additionally, debt obligations may subject us to limitations on our operations and increased leverage. In addition, acquisitions involve numerous risks, including difficulties in the assimilation of operations, technologies, products and personnel of the acquired company; failures in realizing anticipated synergies; diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns; adverse effects on existing business relationships with customers; difficulties in retaining business relationships with suppliers and customers of the acquired company; risks of entering markets in which we have no direct or limited prior experience; the potential loss of key employees of the acquired company; unanticipated costs; difficulty in maintaining controls, procedures and policies during the transition and integration process; failure of our due diligence process to identify significant issues, including issues with respect to product quality, product architecture and legal and financial contingencies; product development; significant exit charges as impairment charges if products or businesses acquired are unsuccessful or do not perform as expected; potential future impairment of our acquisitions or investments; potential full or partial write-offs of acquired assets or investments and associated goodwill; potential expenses related to the amortization of intangible assets; and, in the case of the acquisition of financially troubled businesses, challenges as to the validity of such acquisitions from third party creditors of such businesses.

We may be unable to adequately protect against the loss or misappropriation of our intellectual property, which could substantially harm our business.

We rely on a combination of patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade secret laws and contractual obligations to protect our technology. We have patents issued in the United States and internationally and have pending patent applications internationally. Additional patents may not be issued from our pending patent applications, and our issued patents may not be upheld. In addition, we have, from time to time, chosen to abandon previously filed patent and trademark applications. Moreover, we may face difficulties in registering our existing trademarks in new jurisdictions in which we operate, and we may be forced to abandon or change product or service trademarks because of the unavailability of our existing trademarks or because of oppositions filed or legal challenges to our trademark filings. The intellectual property protection measures that we have taken may not be sufficient to prevent misappropriation of our technology or trademarks and our competitors may independently develop technologies that are substantially equivalent or superior to ours. In addition, the legal systems of many foreign countries do not protect or honor intellectual property rights to the same extent as the legal system of the United States. For example, in China, the legal system in general, and the intellectual property regime in particular, are still in the development stage. It may be very difficult, time-consuming and costly for us to attempt to enforce our intellectual property rights in these jurisdictions.

We may be subject to claims that we infringe the intellectual property rights of others, which could substantially harm our business.

The industry in which we compete is moving towards aggressive assertion, licensing and litigation of patents and other intellectual property rights. From time to time, we have become aware of the possibility or have been notified that we may be infringing certain patents or other intellectual property rights of others. Regardless of their merit, responding to such claims could be time consuming, divert management’s attention and resources and cause us to incur significant expenses. In addition, although some of our supplier contracts provide for indemnification from the supplier with respect to losses or expenses incurred in connection with any infringement claim, certain contracts with our key suppliers do not provide for such protection. Moreover, certain of our sales contracts provide that we must indemnify our customers against claims by third parties for intellectual property rights infringement

12

related to our products. There are no limitations on the maximum pot ential future payments under these guarantees. Therefore, we may incur substantial costs related to any infringement claim, which may substantially harm our results of operations and financial condition.

We have been and may in the future become subject to litigation to defend against claimed infringements of the rights of others or to determine the scope and validity of the proprietary rights of others. Future litigation may also be necessary to enforce and protect our patents, trade secrets and other intellectual property rights. Any intellectual property litigation or threatened intellectual property litigation could be costly, and adverse determinations or settlements could result in the loss of our proprietary rights, subject us to significant liabilities, require us to seek licenses from or pay royalties to third parties which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, if at all, and/or prevent us from manufacturing or selling our products, which could cause disruptions to our operations.

In the event that there is a successful claim of infringement against us and we fail to develop non-infringing technology or license the proprietary rights on commercially reasonable terms and conditions, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely impacted.

We are subject to risks related to our financial and strategic investments in third party businesses.

From time to time, we make financial and/or strategic investments in third party businesses. We cannot be certain that such investments will be successful. In certain instances, we have lost part or all of the value of such investments, resulting in a financial loss and/or the loss of potential strategic opportunities. We recognize an impairment charge on our investment when a decline in the fair value of such investment below the cost basis is judged to be other-than-temporary. In making this determination, we review several factors to determine whether the losses are other-than-temporary, including but not limited to: (i) the length of time the investment was in an unrealized loss position, (ii) the extent to which fair value was less than cost, (iii) the financial condition and near term prospects of the issuer, and (iv) our intent and ability to hold the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value. For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, we recorded impairment charges of nil and $0.4 million related to investments, respectively. If we have to write down or write-off our investments, or if potential strategic opportunities do not develop as planned, our financial performance may suffer. Moreover, these investments are often illiquid, such that it may be difficult or impossible for us to monetize such investments.

We could incur asset impairment charges for long-lived assets or long-term investments, which could negatively affect our future operating results and financial condition.

As of December 31, 2019, we had long-lived assets and long-term investments. We perform periodic assessments for any possible impairment of long-lived assets and long-term investments for accounting purposes. We review the recoverability of the carrying value of long-lived assets held and used and long-lived assets to be disposed of whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the assets or asset groups may not be recoverable. Any such charge may adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.

When determining whether an asset impairment has occurred or calculating such impairment for long-term investments or other long-lived asset, fair value is determined using the present value of estimated cash flows or comparable market values. Our valuation methodology requires management to make judgments and assumptions based on projected future cash flows, the timing of such cash flows, discount rates reflecting the risk inherent in future cash flows, perpetual growth rates, the determination of appropriate comparable entities and the determination of whether a premium or discount should be applied to these comparable entities. Projections of future operating results and cash flows may vary significantly from actual results. Changes in estimates and/or revised assumptions affecting the present value of estimated future cash flows or comparable market values may result in a decrease in fair value of a reporting unit, or a decrease in fair value of long-lived assets or asset groups, our acquisitions or investments. The decrease in fair value could result in a non-cash impairment charge.

Product defect or quality issues may divert management’s attention from our business and/or result in costs and expenses that could adversely affect our operating results.

Product defects or performance quality issues could cause us to lose customers and revenue or to incur unexpected expenses. Many of our products are highly complex and may have quality deficiencies resulting from the design or manufacturing of such product, or from the software or components used in the product. Often these issues are identified prior to the shipment of the products and may cause delays in market acceptance of our products, delays in shipping products to customers, or the cancellation of orders. In other cases, we may identify the quality issues after the shipment of products. In such cases, we may incur unexpected expenses and diversion of resources to replace defective products or correct problems. Such pre-shipment and post-shipment quality issues could result in delays in the recognition of revenue, loss of revenue or future orders, and damage to our reputation and customer relationships. In addition, we may be required to pay damages for failed performance under certain customer contracts, and may receive claims from customers related to the performance of our products.

13

We are subject to complex and evolving laws and regulations regarding privacy and data protection.

We may collect personal data while providing products, services and solutions to our customers. Our reputation may be damaged due to the collection, use, disclosure or security of personal information or other privacy-related matters, even if unfounded, which will cause us to lose users and other customers and adversely affect our operations. We strive to comply with applicable laws and regulations on data protection, as well as our privacy policies and data protection obligations in accordance with our terms of use and other obligations we may have. However, any non-compliance or perceived non-compliance with these laws, regulations or policies may lead to investigations and other lawsuits against us by government agencies or other individuals. These actions would have a negative impact on our reputation and brand, may cause us to lose users and customers, and have a negative impact on our business. Besides, any systems failure or compromise of our security that results in the unauthorized access to or release of our users’ or other customers’ data would greatly limit the adoption of our products and services, harm our reputation and brand, as well as affect our business.

Many jurisdictions have adopted or are adopting new data privacy and data protection laws that may impose further onerous compliance requirements, such as data localization, which prohibits companies from storing data relating to resident individuals in data centers outside the jurisdiction. The proliferation of such laws within jurisdictions and countries in which we operate may result in conflicting and contradictory requirements. PRC government authorities have promulgated laws and regulations to protect personal information from any abuse or unauthorized disclosure. Pursuant to the Order for the Protection of Telecommunication and Internet User Personal Information issued by the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology in July 2013, any collection and use of user personal information must be subject to the consent of the user, abide by the principles of legality, rationality and necessity and be within the specified purposes, methods and scopes. Besides, Personal Information Protection Act has been listed into the legislative plan, which will strengthen the supervision of the collection of personal information. Furthermore, the draft of Information Security Technology- Personal Information Security Specification (“Specification”) was issued by National Information Security Standardization Technical Committee on February 1, 2019. Pursuant to the draft of the Specification, product and service providers should take technical and other necessary measures to ensure the safety of personal information, clearly demonstrate the purpose, approaches and scope of processing the personal information to the individual and acquire the authorization.

In order for us to maintain or become compliant with applicable laws as they come into effect, it may require substantial expenditures on resources to continually evaluate our policies and processes and adapt to new requirements that are or become applicable to us. Complying with any additional or new regulatory requirements on a jurisdiction-by-jurisdiction basis would impose significant burdens and costs on our operations or may require us to alter our business practices. While we strive to protect our users’ privacy and data security and to comply with material data protection laws and regulations applicable to us, it is possible that our practices are, and will continue to be, inconsistent with certain regulatory requirements. Our international business operations could be adversely affected if these laws and regulations are interpreted or implemented in a manner that is inconsistent with our current business practices or that requires changes to these practices. If these laws and regulations materially limit our ability to collect and use user data, our ability to continue our current operations without modification, develop new services or features of the products and expand our user base will be impaired. Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with applicable data privacy laws and regulations, including in relation to the collection of necessary end-user consents and providing end-users with sufficient information with respect to our use of their personal data, may result in fines and penalties imposed by regulators, governmental enforcement actions (including enforcement orders requiring us to cease collecting or processing data in a certain way), litigation and/or adverse publicity. Proceedings against us—regulatory, civil or otherwise—could force us to spend money and devote resources in the defense or settlement of, and remediation related to, such proceedings.

Business interruptions could adversely affect our business.

Our operations are vulnerable to interruption by fire, earthquake, power loss, telecommunications failure, external interference with our information technology systems, incidents of terrorism and other events beyond our control that affect us, either directly or indirectly through one or more of our key suppliers. Also, our operations and markets in China, Japan and India are located in areas prone to earthquakes. We do not have a detailed disaster recovery plan, and the occurrence of any events like these that disrupt our business could harm our business and operating results.

We face risks related to outbreaks of health epidemics, natural disasters, and other extraordinary events, which could significantly disrupt our operations and adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

In December 2019, a novel and deadly strain of coronavirus was reported, and started to circulate widely in January 2020. On January 30, 2020, the World Health Organization declared this COVID-19 outbreak a health emergency of international concern. On February 28, 2020, the World Health Organization increased the assessment of this risk of spread and the risk of impact of COVID-19 to very high at global level. In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 a pandemic. Chinese government actions to control and prevent the spreading of COVID-19 in China resulted in the temporary closure of our headquarters, factory, and other offices in February and March 2020. Actions by governments in other affected countries resulted in further office closures around the world. Although we were able to shift a significant portion of our employees to work from home, we still experienced reduced productivity, delayed shipments, and diminished marketing activity. Although the Chinese government started to gradually reduce health-related restrictions, and our operations in China are steadily returning to normal and we have adopted and implemented health protocols allowing half of the employees to work onsite, the global pandemic has affected our global operations to date,

14

including operations in India, Japan and United States outs ide of China. In India, we expect government health-related actions to have a material impact on our financial condition. We have a large overdue receivable from a major customer in India; we expect delays in payments due to COVID-19 containment actions in that country. Although we expect the global COVID-19 disruption to be temporary, there is uncertainty around the duration of the disruption and the possibility of other effects on our business. In the event that this pandemic cannot be effectively and tim ely contained, our ability to consistently offer products and services in the future may be significantly disrupted, and may adversely affect our business operations, financial condition and operating results for 2020, including but not limited to negative impact to the Company’s total revenues, slower collection of accounts receivables and additional allowance for doubtful accounts.

In general, the Company, its employees, and its business partners are vulnerable to epidemics, natural disasters and other calamities, including fire, floods, typhoons, earthquakes, power loss, telecommunications failures, break-ins, war, riots, terrorist attacks, and any other similar event that may give rise to a loss of personnel, damages to property, server interruptions, breakdowns, technology platform failures or internet failures. In such cases, our operations could be materially and adversely affected. Any such occurrences could cause severe disruption to our daily operations, and may even require a temporary closure of our offices. Such closures may disrupt our business operations and adversely affect our results of operations.

Failure to achieve and maintain effective internal control in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 could have a material adverse effect on our business and share price.

We are subject to reporting obligations under the United States securities laws. The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, requires that we establish and maintain an effective internal control structure and procedures for financial reporting and include a report of management on our internal control over financial reporting in our annual report. Our Annual Report on Form 20-F must contain an assessment by management of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting and must include disclosure of any material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting that we have identified.

As of December 31, 2019, we have identified material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting and have concluded that our internal controls over financial reporting were not effective as of December 31, 2019. The requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act are ongoing and also apply to future years. We expect that our internal control over financial reporting will continue to evolve as we continue in our efforts to transform our business. Although we are committed to continue to improve our internal control processes and we will continue to diligently and vigorously review our internal control over financial reporting in order to ensure compliance with the Section 404 requirements, any control system, regardless of how well designed, operated and evaluated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that its objectives will be met. In addition, successful remediation of the control deficiencies identified as of December 31, 2019 is dependent on our ability to hire and retain qualified employees and consultants. Therefore, we cannot be certain that in the future additional material weakness or significant deficiencies will not exist or otherwise be discovered. See ”Item 15-Controls and Procedures” contained in UTStarcom Holdings Corp.’s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019”.

Risks Relating to Conducting Business in China

Uncertainties with respect to China’s economic, political and social condition, as well as government policies, could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

A significant portion of our business operations are conducted in China. Accordingly, our results of operations, financial condition and prospects are subject to a significant degree to economic, political and legal developments in China. China’s economy differs from the economies of most developed countries in many respects, including with respect to the amount of government involvement, level of development, growth rate, control of foreign exchange, and allocation of resources. Although the PRC government has implemented measures emphasizing the utilization of market forces for economic reform, the reduction of state ownership of productive assets, and the establishment of improved corporate governance in business enterprises, a substantial portion of productive assets in China is still owned by the government. In addition, the PRC government continues to play a significant role in regulating industry development by imposing industrial policies. The PRC government also exercises significant control over China’s economic growth by allocating resources, controlling payment of foreign currency-denominated obligations, setting monetary policy, regulating financial services and institutions and providing preferential treatment to particular industries or companies. While the PRC economy has experienced significant growth in the past decades, growth has been uneven across different regions and among various economic sectors of China. The PRC government has implemented various economic and political policies and laws and regulations to encourage economic development and guide the allocation of resources. Some of these measures may benefit the overall PRC economy, but may also have a negative effect on us. Our financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected by government control over capital investments or changes in tax regulations that are applicable to us. In addition, the PRC government has implemented in the past certain measures to control the pace of economic growth. For example, from time to time, the PRC government may implement monetary, fiscal and other policies or otherwise make efforts to alter the investment-driven growth model of China’s economy, which could result in decreased capital expenditures by our end customers in China, reduce their demand for our products, and adversely affect our business and results of operations.

15

There are uncertainties regarding the interpretation and enforcement of PRC laws, rule s and regulations.

A significant portion of our operations are conducted in the PRC, and are governed by PRC laws, rules and regulations. Our PRC subsidiaries are subject to laws, rules and regulations applicable to foreign investment in China. The PRC legal system is a civil law system based on written statutes. Unlike the common-law system, prior court decisions may be cited for reference but have limited precedential value.

In 1979, the PRC government began to promulgate a comprehensive system of laws, rules and regulations governing economic matters in general. The overall effect of legislation since that time has significantly enhanced the protections afforded to various forms of foreign investment in China. However, China has not developed a fully integrated legal system, and recently enacted laws, rules and regulations may not sufficiently cover all aspects of economic activities in China or may be subject to significant degrees of interpretation by PRC regulatory agencies. In particular, because these laws, rules and regulations are relatively new, and because of the limited number of published decisions and the nonbinding nature of such decisions, because the laws, rules and regulations often give the relevant regulator significant discretion in how to enforce them, the interpretation and enforcement of these laws, rules and regulations involve uncertainties and can be inconsistent and unpredictable. In addition, the PRC legal system is based in part on government policies and internal rules, some of which are not published on a timely basis or at all, and which may have a retroactive effect. As a result, we may not be aware of our violation of these policies and rules until after the occurrence of the violation.

Any administrative and court proceedings in China may be protracted, resulting in substantial costs and diversion of resources and management attention. Since PRC administrative and court authorities have significant discretion in interpreting and implementing statutory and contractual terms, it may be more difficult to evaluate the outcome of administrative and court proceedings and the level of legal protection we enjoy than in more developed legal systems. These uncertainties may impede our ability to enforce the contracts we have entered into and could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Fluctuations in the value of the RMB relative to the U.S. dollar could affect our operating results and may have a material adverse effect on your investment.

We prepare our financial statements in U.S. dollars, while we conduct a significant portion of our operations in China where the only legitimate currency for use within is RMB. The value of RMB against the U.S. dollar and other currencies may fluctuate and is affected by, among other things, changes in China’s monetary or fiscal policies and political and economic conditions and supply and demand in local markets. Since July 21, 2005, the PRC government changed its decade-old policy of pegging the value of the RMB to the U.S. dollar. Following the removal of the U.S. dollar peg, the RMB appreciated more than 20% against the U.S. dollar over the following three years. Between July 2008 and June 2010, this appreciation halted and the exchange rate between the RMB and the U.S. dollar remained within a narrow band. Since June 2010, the RMB has started to appreciate slowly against the U.S. dollar, though there have been periods when the U.S. dollar has appreciated against the RMB. On August 11, 2015, the People’s Bank of China (“PBOC”) allowed the RMB to depreciate by approximately 2% against the U.S. dollar. Since then and until the end of 2016, the RMB has depreciated against the U.S. dollar by approximately 10%. Over 2017, RMB rose almost 6.3% against the U.S. dollar partly because of the weakened U.S. dollar but mainly due to Chinese government’s policy to keep the currency stable in avoidance of capital flight outside of China. Over 2018, RMB depreciated almost 5.7% against the U.S. dollar. Over 2019, RMB depreciated almost 1.23% against the U.S. dollar.

It is difficult to predict how market forces or PRC or U.S. government policy may affect the exchange rate between the RMB and the U.S. dollar in the future.

As we have significant operations in China, any significant revaluation of the RMB may materially and adversely affect our cash flows, revenue, earnings and financial position, and the value of, and any dividends payable on, our ordinary shares in U.S. dollars.

We may be deemed a PRC resident enterprise under the Enterprise Income Tax Law and be subject to PRC taxation on our worldwide income.

The Enterprise Income Tax Law, or the EIT Law, provides that enterprises established outside of China whose “de facto management bodies” are located within China are considered “resident enterprises” and are generally subject to the uniform 25% enterprise income tax rate on their worldwide income (including dividend income received from subsidiaries). Under the Implementing Regulations for the EIT Law, “de facto management body” is defined as a body that has material and overall management and control over the manufacturing and business operations, personnel and human resources, finances and treasury, and acquisition and disposition of properties and other assets of an enterprise. The State Administration of Taxation (“SAT”), issued the Notice of the State Administration of Taxation on Issues Concerning the Determination of Chinese-Controlled Enterprises Registered Overseas as Resident Enterprises on the Basis of Their Bodies of Actual Management, or Circular 82, on April 22, 2009. Circular 82 provides certain specific criteria for determining whether the “de facto management body” of a Chinese-controlled

16

offshore-incorporated enterprise is located in China. Althou gh Circular 82 only applies to offshore enterprises controlled by PRC enterprises, not those controlled by foreign enterprises or individuals, the determining criteria set forth in Circular 82 may reflect the SAT’s general position on how the “de facto man agement body” test should be applied in determining the tax resident status of offshore enterprises, regardless of whether they are controlled by PRC enterprises. Since substantially all of our operational management is currently based in the PRC, it is un clear whether PRC tax authorities would require (or permit) us to be treated as a PRC-resident enterprise. If we are treated as a resident enterprise for PRC tax purposes, we will be subject to PRC tax on our worldwide income at the 25% uniform tax rate, w hich could have an impact on our effective tax rate and an adverse effect on our net income and the results of operations, although dividends distributed from our PRC Subsidiaries to us could be exempted from Chinese dividend withholding tax, since such in come is exempted under the EIT Law for PRC-resident recipients.

Dividends payable by us to our foreign investors and profits on the sale of our shares may be subject to tax under PRC tax laws.

Under the Implementing Regulations for the EIT Law, PRC income tax at the rate of 10% is applicable to dividends payable to investors that are “non-resident enterprises,” not having an establishment or place of business in the PRC, or which do have such establishment or place of business but the relevant income is not effectively connected with the establishment or place of business, to the extent that such dividends have their sources within the PRC. Similarly, any profits realized through the transfer of shares by such investors are also subject to 10% PRC income tax if such profits are regarded as income derived from sources within the PRC. It is unclear whether dividends we pay with respect to our share, or the profits you may realize from the transfer of our shares, would be treated as income derived from sources within the PRC and be subject to PRC tax. If we are required under the Implementing Regulations for the EIT Law to withhold PRC income tax on dividends payable to our non-PRC investors that are “non-resident enterprises,” or if you are required to pay PRC income tax on the transfer of our shares, the value of your investment in our shares may be materially and adversely affected.

In addition, pursuant to the Arrangement between Mainland China and the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region for the Avoidance of Double Taxation and Tax Evasion on Income, the withholding tax rate in respect to the payment of dividends by a PRC enterprise to a Hong Kong enterprise may be reduced to 5% from a standard rate of 10% if the Hong Kong enterprise directly holds at least 25% of the PRC enterprise. Pursuant to the Notice on the Issues concerning the Application of the Dividend Clauses of Tax Agreements issued by the SAT on February 20, 2009, or SAT Circular 81, a Hong Kong resident enterprise must meet the following conditions, among others, in order to apply the reduced withholding tax rate: (i) it must be a company; (ii) it must directly own the required percentage of equity interests and voting rights in the PRC resident enterprise; and (iii) it must have directly owned such required percentage in the PRC resident enterprise throughout the 12 months prior to receiving the dividends. On October 14, 2019, SAT promulgated the Administrative Measures on Non-resident Taxpayers Enjoying Treaty Benefits, or SAT Circular 35, which became effective on January 1, 2020. SAT Circular 35 provides that Non-resident taxpayers' enjoyment of treaty benefits shall be handled in the manner of “self-assessment, claim for and enjoyment of treaty benefits, and retention of relevant materials for review”. If a non-resident taxpayer determines through self-assessment that he or she is eligible for treaty benefits, he or she may, when filing tax returns, or when a withholding agent files withholding returns, enjoy tax treaty benefits, and collect and retain relevant materials for review in accordance with the provisions of SAT Circular 35 and accept the follow-up administration of tax authorities. Accordingly, UTStarcom Hong Kong Ltd. may be able to benefit from the 5% withholding tax rate for the dividends it receives from UTStarcom Telecom Co., Ltd., if it satisfies the conditions prescribed under SAT Circular 81 and other relevant tax rules and regulations. However, according to SAT Circular 81, and SAT Circular 35, if the relevant tax authorities consider the transactions or arrangements we have are for the primary purpose of enjoying a favorable tax treatment, the relevant tax authorities may adjust the favorable withholding tax in the future.

There are uncertainties with respect to Value-Added Tax Rates relating to the tax liabilities of our PRC subsidiaries.

On March 20, 2019, the Announcement of the Ministry of Finance, the State Administration of Taxation and the General Administration of Customs on Issuing Relevant Policies for Deepening the Reform of Value-Added Tax were promulgated and became effective on April 1, 2019, together with two other relevant announcements and one circular. These policies indicated that the current Value-Added Tax rate of 16 percent in sale and imported goods was reduced to 13 percent, and the current Value-Added Tax rate of 10 percent in other categories of sale and imported goods was reduced to 9 percent from April 1, 2019. In addition, the scope of business Value-Added Tax deductions was expanded. Furthermore, the refund system of the period-end excess input Value-Added Tax for trial implementation was adopted from April 1, 2019. Given these changes, it may be difficult to predict whether the Value-Added Tax Rates will remain unchanged in the future, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

PRC regulations establish more complex procedures for acquisitions conducted by foreign investors which could make it more difficult for us to pursue growth through acquisitions.

On August 8, 2006, six PRC regulatory agencies, namely, the PRC Ministry of Commerce, the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of State Council (“SASAC”), the State Administration of Taxation, the State Administration for Industry and Commerce, the China Securities Regulatory Commission (“CSRC”), and SAFE, jointly adopted the Regulations on Mergers and Acquisitions of Domestic Enterprises by Foreign Investors, or the M&A Rule, which became effective on

17

September 8, 2006 and wa s amended on June 22, 2009. The M&A Rule established new procedures and requirements that could make merger and acquisition activities by foreign investors more time-consuming and complex, including requirements in some instances that the Ministry of Comme rce be notified in advance of any change-of-control transaction in which a foreign investor takes control of a PRC domestic enterprise. On February 3, 2011, the General Office of the State Council promulgated the Notice on Launching the Security Review Sys tem for Mergers and Acquisitions of Domestic Enterprises by Foreign Investors, or the M&A Security Review Notice, which became effective on March 6, 2011. The M&A Security Review Notice provides for certain circumstances under which foreign investors’ acqu isition of domestic enterprises shall be subject to the security review of the PRC governments. The security review assesses such acquisition’s impact on national security, stable operation of national economy, basic living of the people, and R&D capacity for key technologies related to national security. On August 25, 2011, the Ministry of Commerce of PRC promulgated the Regulation of Ministry of Commerce on Implementation of the Security Review System for Mergers and Acquisitions of Domestic Enterprises b y Foreign Investors, or the M&A Security Review Regulation, which became effective on September 1, 2011. The M&A Security Review Regulation stipulates the requirements of application documents and security review procedures of the Ministry of Commerce. In the future, we may grow our business in part by acquiring complementary businesses. Complying with the requirements of the M&A Rule, the M&A Security Review Notice and the M&A Security Review Regulation to complete such transactions could be time-consuming, and any required approval processes, including obtaining approval from the Ministry of Commerce or its provincial affiliates, may delay or inhibit our ability to complete such transactions, which could affect our ability to expand our business or maintai n our market share.

Strengthened scrutiny over acquisition transactions by the PRC tax authorities may have a negative impact on our acquisition strategy.

In connection with the EIT Law, the Ministry of Finance and SAT jointly issued, on April 30, 2009, the Notice on Issues Concerning Process of Enterprise Income Tax in Enterprise Restructuring Business, or Circular 59. Circular 59 became effective retroactively on January 1, 2008, and amended on December 25, 2014. Under this circular, non-PRC-resident enterprises may be subject to income tax on capital gains generated from their transfers of equity interests in PRC resident enterprises. The PRC tax authorities have the discretion under Circular 59 to make adjustments to the taxable capital gains based on the difference between the fair value of the equity interests transferred and the cost of the investment. In addition, by promulgating and implementing the circulars, the PRC tax authorities have strengthened their scrutiny over the direct or indirect transfer of equity interests in a PRC resident enterprise by a non-PRC-resident enterprise.

On February 3, 2015, the SAT issued the Notice on Several Issues regarding Enterprise Income Tax for Indirect Transfer of Assets by Non-resident Enterprises, or SAT Bulletin 7, which specifies that the SAT is entitled to redefine the nature of an equity transfer where offshore vehicles are interposed for tax avoidance purposes and without reasonable commercial purpose, specifically, further specified the criteria for judging reasonable commercial purpose, and the legal requirements for the voluntary reporting procedures and filing materials in the case of indirect transfer of assets. Pursuant to this Bulletin, an “indirect transfer” of assets, including equity interests in a PRC resident enterprise, by non-PRC resident enterprises may be re-characterized and treated as a direct transfer of PRC taxable assets, if such arrangement does not have a reasonable commercial purpose and was established for the purpose of avoiding payment of PRC enterprise income tax. As a result, gains derived from such indirect transfer may be subject to PRC enterprise income tax. According to SAT Bulletin 7, “PRC taxable assets” include assets attributed to an establishment in China, immoveable properties located in China, and equity investments in PRC resident enterprises, in respect of which gains from their transfer by a direct holder, being a non-PRC resident enterprise, would be subject to PRC enterprise income taxes.

SAT Bulletin 7 listed several factors to be taken into consideration by tax authorities in determining whether an indirect transfer has a reasonable commercial purpose. However, despite these factors, an indirect transfer satisfying all the following criteria shall be deemed to lack reasonable commercial purpose and be taxable under the PRC laws: (i) 75% or more of the equity value of the intermediary enterprise being transferred is derived directly or indirectly from the PRC taxable properties; (ii) at any time during the one year period before the indirect transfer, 90% or more of the asset value of the intermediary enterprise (excluding cash) is comprised directly or indirectly of investments in the PRC, or 90% or more of its income is derived directly or indirectly from the PRC; (iii) the functions performed and risks assumed by the intermediary enterprise and any of its subsidiaries that directly or indirectly hold the PRC taxable properties are limited and are insufficient to prove their economic substance; and (iv) the foreign tax payable on the gains derived from the indirect transfer of the PRC taxable properties is lower than the potential PRC tax on the direct transfer of such assets. Nevertheless, the indirect transfer falling into the scope of the safe harbor under SAT Bulletin 7 may not be subject to PRC tax and such safe harbor includes qualified group restructuring, public market trading and tax treaty exemptions. On October 17, 2017, the SAT promulgated the Announcement of the State Administration of Taxation on Issues Concerning the Withholding of Non-resident Enterprise Income Tax at Source, or SAT Circular 37, which became effective on December 1, 2017 and was revised on June 15, 2018, to completely repeal the second paragraph of Section 8 of SAT Bulletin 7 and the Notice on Strengthening the Management on Enterprise Income Tax for Non-resident Enterprises Equity Transfer, or Circular 698. SAT Circular 37, among other things, simplified procedures of withholding and payment of income tax levied on non-resident enterprises.

Under SAT Bulletin 7, the entities or individuals obligated to pay the transfer price to the transferor shall be the withholding agent and shall withhold the PRC tax from the transfer price. If the withholding agent fails to do so, the transferor shall report to and pay the PRC tax to the PRC tax authorities. In case neither the withholding agent nor the transferor complies with the obligations

18

under SAT Bulletin 7, other than imposing penalties such as late payment interest on the transferors, the tax authority may also hold the withholding agent liable and impose a penalty of 50% to 300% of the unpaid tax on the withholding agent, provided that such penalty imposed on the withholding agent may be reduced or waived if the withholding agent has submitte d the relevant materials in connection with the indirect transfer to the PRC tax authorities in accordance with SAT Bulletin 7.

Since we pursue acquisitions as one of our growth strategies, and have conducted and may conduct acquisitions involving complex corporate structures, the PRC tax authorities may, at their discretion, adjust the capital gains and impose tax return filing obligations on us or request us to submit additional documentation for their review in connection with any of our acquisitions, thus causing us to incur additional acquisition costs.

Restrictions on direct foreign investments in certain business sectors may require that we enter into contractual arrangements with our PRC business partners, which are subject to potential risks and uncertainties.

We anticipate that providing value-added support services to businesses in the telecom and cable sectors will be a significant component of our future business model. We will provide operators engaging in these businesses with services, including equipment installation, system installation and maintenance, technical services and other value-added services, in return for on-going revenue. We anticipate that these value-added support services will play an important role in the growth of our business.

Direct foreign investments are subject to certain restrictions with respect to the operating of telecom and cable sectors. Under the “Telecommunications Regulations” issued by the State Council on September 25, 2000, firstly amended on July 29, 2014 and secondly amended on February 6, 2016, the “Provisions on Administration of Foreign Invested Telecommunications Enterprises” issued by the State Council on December 11, 2001, firstly amended on September 10, 2008 and secondly amended on February 6, 2016, the “Notice of the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology on Removing the Restrictions on Foreign Equity Ratios in Online Data Processing and Transaction Processing (Operating E-commerce) Business” (Gongxinbutong [2015] No.196) issued by the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology on June 19, 2015, and Special Administrative Measures for Access of Foreign Investment (Negative List) (2019 Edition) issued by National Development and Reform Commission (“NDRC”), together with the PRC Ministry of Commerce the shareholding of foreign investors is limited to up to 49% for basic telecom business and up to 50% for almost all value-added telecom business, only e-commerce business, domestic multi-party, communication, store-and-forward and call center (our business not included) allows foreign equity to reach to 100%.

Because of the regulatory restrictions on direct foreign investments in the telecom and cable sectors, we may conduct business through contractual relationships with PRC business partners that are licensed or qualified to operate such businesses, or the Operating Companies. Our PRC subsidiaries may directly or indirectly provide certain technology services to the Operating Companies through an arrangement of technology service agreements and will receive service fees directly or indirectly from the Operating Companies. To ensure the payment of the service fee by the Operating Companies, the shareholders of the Operating Companies may pledge their equity interests in the Operating Companies to our PRC subsidiaries or affiliates. There may also be a call option arrangement so that our PRC subsidiaries may purchase the equity interests in the Operating Companies if permitted by the laws of the PRC.

The contractual arrangements are subject to potential risks and uncertainties and may not be as effective in providing operational control and economic benefits as direct equity ownership. The 2019 Law of Foreign Investment which was issued on March 15, 2019 and became effective on January 1, 2020 and its implementing regulations do not mention concepts including “de facto control” and “controlling through contractual arrangements,” nor do they specify the regulation on controlling through contractual arrangements. However, the 2019 Law of Foreign Investment stipulates that “foreign investment includes foreign investors invested in China through any other methods under laws, administrative regulations, or provisions prescribed by the State Council,” which correspondingly means there are possibilities that State Council may promulgate future laws, administrative regulations or provisions to stipulate contractual arrangements as a way of foreign investment and our contractual arrangements would be regarded as foreign investment. If that is the case, whether our contractual arrangements will be deemed to be in violation of the foreign investment access requirements and how our contractual arrangements will be handled are subject to uncertainties. The PRC tax authorities may scrutinize the contractual arrangements for whether the technology service fee paid by the Operating Companies to our PRC subsidiaries or affiliates will substantially reduce the income tax and business tax payable by the Operating Companies. Additionally, there is uncertainty with respect to the attitude of judicial authorities on the enforceability of the contractual arrangements in the event the Operating Companies or their shareholders breach the contracts. The inability to participate in the telecom, cable and/or media sectors as presently expected through the contractual arrangements or the inability to enforce our rights under such contractual arrangements could result in a negative impact on our business.

PRC regulation of loans to, and direct investment in, PRC entities by offshore holding companies and governmental control of currency conversion may restrict or prevent us from using the offshore capital we raise to make loans to our PRC subsidiaries, or to make additional capital contributions to our PRC subsidiaries.

In utilizing the proceeds of any offshore fund raising, we, as an offshore holding company, are permitted under PRC laws and regulations to provide funding to our PRC subsidiaries, which are treated as foreign-invested enterprises under PRC laws, through

19

loans or capital contributions. However, loans by us to our PRC subsidiaries to finance their activities cannot exceed statutory limits and must be registered with the local counterpart of SAFE and capital contributions to our PRC subsidiaries are subject to the re quirement of making necessary filings in the Foreign Investment Comprehensive Management Information System, and registration with other governmental authorities in China.

SAFE promulgated the Notice of the State Administration of Foreign Exchange on Reforming the Administration of Foreign Exchange Settlement of Capital of Foreign-invested Enterprises, or Circular 19, effective on June 1, 2015, in replacement of the Circular on the Relevant Operating Issues Concerning the Improvement of the Administration of the Payment and Settlement of Foreign Currency Capital of Foreign Invested Enterprises, or SAFE Circular 142, the Notice from the State Administration of Foreign Exchange on Relevant Issues Concerning Strengthening the Administration of Foreign Exchange Businesses, or Circular 59, and the Circular on Further Clarification and Regulation of the Issues Concerning the Administration of Certain Capital Account Foreign Exchange Businesses, or Circular 45. According to Circular 19, the flow and use of the RMB capital converted from foreign currency-denominated registered capital of a foreign-invested company is regulated such that RMB capital may not be used for the issuance of RMB entrusted loans, the repayment of inter-enterprise loans or the repayment of banks loans that have been transferred to a third party. Although Circular 19 allows RMB capital converted from foreign currency-denominated registered capital of a foreign invested enterprise to be used for equity investments within the PRC, it also reiterates the principle that RMB converted from the foreign currency-denominated capital of a foreign-invested company may not be directly or indirectly used for purposes beyond its business scope. Thus, it is unclear whether SAFE will permit such capital to be used for equity investments in the PRC in actual practice. SAFE promulgated the Notice of the State Administration of Foreign Exchange on Reforming and Standardizing the Foreign Exchange Settlement Management Policy of Capital Account, or Circular 16, effective on June 9, 2016, which reiterates some of the rules set forth in Circular 19, but changes the prohibition against using RMB capital converted from foreign currency-denominated registered capital of a foreign-invested company to issue RMB entrusted loans to a prohibition against using such capital to issue loans to non-associated enterprises. Violations of SAFE Circular 19 and Circular 16 could result in administrative penalties. Circular 19 and Circular 16 may significantly limit our ability to transfer any foreign currency we hold to our PRC subsidiaries, which may adversely affect our liquidity and our ability to fund and expand our business in the PRC.

In light of the various requirements imposed by PRC regulations on loans to, and direct investment in, PRC entities by offshore holding companies, we cannot assure you that we will be able to complete the necessary government registrations or obtain the necessary government approvals on a timely basis, if at all, with respect to future loans to our PRC subsidiaries or future capital contributions by us to our PRC subsidiaries. As a result, uncertainties exist as to our ability to provide prompt financial support to our PRC subsidiaries when needed. If we fail to complete such registrations or obtain such approvals, our ability to use foreign currency, including the proceeds we received from this offering, and to capitalize or otherwise fund our PRC operations may be negatively affected, which could materially and adversely affect our liquidity and our ability to fund and expand our business.

PRC regulations relating to offshore investment activities by PRC residents and employee stock options granted by overseas-listed companies may increase our administrative burden. If our shareholders who are PRC residents, or our PRC employees who are granted or exercise stock options, fail to make any required registrations or filings, we may be unable to distribute profits and may become subject to fines and other legal or administrative sanctions under PRC laws.

SAFE promulgated the Circular on Relevant Issues Relating to Domestic Resident’s Investment and Financing and Roundtrip Investment through Special Purpose Vehicles, or SAFE Circular 37, in July 2014 that requires PRC residents or entities to register with SAFE or its local branch in connection with their establishment or control of an offshore entity established for the purpose of overseas investment or financing. In addition, such PRC residents or entities must update their SAFE registrations when the offshore special purpose vehicle undergoes material events relating to any change of basic information (including change of such PRC citizens or residents, name and operation term), increases or decreases in investment amount, transfers or exchanges of shares, or mergers or divisions. According to the Notice on Further Simplify and Improve Administrative Policies Regarding Foreign Direct Investment issued by the SAFE on February 13, 2015, starting from June 1, 2015, all new such registrations (different from make-up registrations) shall be handled by the authorized local banks instead of the local SAFE branches.

SAFE Circular 37 was issued to replace the Notice on Relevant Issues Concerning Foreign Exchange Administration for PRC Residents Engaging in Financing and Roundtrip Investments via Overseas Special Purpose Vehicles, or SAFE Circular 75. If our shareholders who are PRC residents or entities do not complete their registration with the local SAFE branches, our PRC subsidiaries may be prohibited from distributing their profits and proceeds from any reduction in capital, share transfer or liquidation to us, and we may be restricted in our ability to contribute additional capital to our PRC subsidiaries. Moreover, we also face regulatory uncertainties that could restrict our ability to adopt additional share incentive plans for our directors and employees under PRC law. We cannot compel our beneficial owners to comply with SAFE registration requirements . As a result, we cannot assure you that all of our shareholders or beneficial owners who are PRC residents or entities have complied with, and will in the future make or obtain any applicable registrations or approvals required by, SAFE regulations.

On March 28, 2007, SAFE promulgated the Application Procedure of Foreign Exchange Administration for Domestic Individuals Participating in Employee Stock Holding Plan or Stock Option Plan of Overseas Listed Company, or the Stock Option Rule, to regulate foreign exchange procedures for PRC individuals participating in employee stock holding and stock option plans of

20

overseas companies. Under the Stock Option Rule, a PRC domestic individual must comply with various foreign exchange procedures through a domestic agent institution when participating in any employee stock holdi ng plan or stock option plan of an overseas listed company. Certain domestic agent institutions, such as the PRC subsidiaries of an overseas listed company, a labor union of such company that is a legal person or a qualified financial institution, among ot hers things, shall file with SAFE and be responsible for completing relevant foreign exchange procedures on behalf of PRC domestic individuals, such as applying to obtain SAFE approval for exchanging foreign currency in connection with owning stock or stoc k option exercises. Concurrent with the filing of such applications with SAFE, the PRC subsidiary, as a domestic agent, must obtain approval from SAFE to open a special foreign exchange account at a PRC domestic bank to hold the funds in connection with th e stock purchase or option exercise, any returns based on stock sales, any stock dividends issued and any other income or expenditures approved by SAFE. The PRC subsidiary also is required to obtain approval from SAFE to open an overseas special foreign ex change account at an overseas trust bank to hold overseas funds used in connection with any stock purchase. The domestic agent institution is required to make a quarterly filing with SAFE to update SAFE with relevant information, including the exercise of options by employees, the holding of shares by employees and the funds in the special foreign exchange account and the overseas special foreign exchange account.

Under the Stock Option Rule, all proceeds obtained by PRC domestic individuals from sales of stock shall be fully remitted back to China after relevant overseas expenses are deducted. The foreign exchange proceeds from these sales can be converted into RMB or transferred to the individual’s foreign exchange savings account after the proceeds have been remitted back to the special foreign exchange account opened at the PRC domestic bank. If the stock option is exercised in a cashless exercise, the PRC domestic individuals are required to remit the proceeds to the special foreign exchange account. The Stock Option Rule does not provide for specific forms of penalties for noncompliance but provides that SAFE may impose penalties in accordance with the Foreign Exchange Administration Regulation, Implementing Rules for Individual Foreign Exchange Regulation and other related PRC regulations under which the penalties for noncompliance with foreign exchange administration rules include fines against both our company and our implicated employees.

On February 15, 2012, SAFE promulgated the Circular on Certain Foreign Exchange Issues Relating to Domestic Individuals’ Participation in Stock Incentive Plan of Overseas Listed Company, or the New Stock Option Rule. Upon the effectiveness of the New Stock Option Rule on February 15, 2012, the Stock Option Rule became void, although the basic requirements and procedures provided under the Stock Option Rule are kept unchanged in the New Stock Option Rule, i.e., the domestic employees participating in a stock incentive plan of an overseas listed company shall appoint the PRC subsidiary of the overseas listed company or a domestic qualified agent to make the registration of the stock incentive plan with SAFE and handle all foreign exchange-related matters of the stock incentive plan through the special bank account approved by SAFE. The New Stock Option Rule clarifies that the domestic subsidiary of an overseas listed company shall include the limited liability company, partnership and the representative office directly or indirectly established by such overseas listed company in China and the domestic employees shall include the directors, supervisors, senior management and other employees of the domestic subsidiary, including the foreign employees of the domestic subsidiary who continuously reside in China for no less than one year.

Similar to the Stock Option Rule, the New Stock Option Rule requires that the annual allowance with respect to the purchase of foreign exchange in connection with stock holding or stock option exercises shall be subject to the approval of SAFE. The New Stock Option Rule further requires that the material amendments of the stock incentive plan shall be filed with SAFE within three months following the occurrence of the material amendments. The domestic agent shall also make a quarterly update to SAFE to disclose the information with respect to the stock option exercises, the stock holding and foreign exchange matters. If the domestic employees or the domestic agent fails to comply with the requirements of the New Stock Option Rule, SAFE may require a remedy and even impose administrative penalties that SAFE deems appropriate.

We and our PRC employees who have been granted stocks or stock options are subject to the Stock Option Rule and the New Stock Option Rule. In May 2008, UTStarcom (China) Co., Ltd (“UTSC”), our former PRC subsidiary, made a filing with SAFE’s Beijing branch as required by the Stock Option Rule for UTSC’s PRC employees who participate in our employee stock option plans and UTSC obtained approval to open a special foreign exchange account at a PRC domestic bank. Subject to the Stock Option Rule, UTSC submitted material amendments of the stock incentive plan for its PRC employees in June 2011. Along with this submission, UTSC, as the domestic subsidiary of our overseas listed company, submitted on behalf of UTStarcom Telecom Co., Ltd (“HUTS”), the materials for the necessary filings for their PRC employees who participate in our employee stock option plan, which was officially accepted by SAFE’s Beijing branch in December 2011, but the final approval was not issued until March 31, 2012 when the New Stock Option Rule became effective. After the effectiveness of the New Stock Option Rule, we do not need to make a new registration for UTSC, HUTS and UTStarcom (Chongqing) Telecom Co., Ltd (“CUTS”), but as required by SAFE, the application materials will have to be adjusted. Before we submitted the adjusted application material to SAFE, we divested our IPTV equipment business in August 2012, and as a result, UTSC is no longer our subsidiary. In addition, CUTS and UTStarcom (Beijing) Technologies (“UTST”) completed the cancellation of business registration. Therefore, we were required to make adjustments to the filings with SAFE for HUTS. On December 4, 2018, HUTS obtained the relevant approval from SAFE Zhejiang Branch and was allowed to set the foreign exchange special account. In the future, we are also required to comply with other requirements applicable to HUTS which have completed the registration, including a quarterly update to SAFE, the registration of material amendments to our stock incentive plan and the registration for the foreign employees of our PRC subsidiaries when they continuously reside in China for no less than one year.

21

The enforcement of the laws on Employment Contracts and other labor-related regulations in the PRC may adversely affect our business and our results of operations.

On June 29, 2007, the National People’s Congress of China enacted the laws on Employment Contracts, or the Employment Contract Law, which became effective on January 1, 2008, amended on December 28, 2012. The Employment Contract Law established new restrictions and increased costs for employers to dismiss employees, including specific provisions related to fixed- term employment contracts, temporary employment, probation, consultation with the labor union and employee assembly, employment without a contract, dismissal of employees, compensation upon termination and overtime work, and collective bargaining. According to the Employment Contract Law, an employer is obliged to sign a labor contract with an unlimited term with an employee if the employer continues to hire the employee after the expiration of two consecutive fixed-term labor contracts subject to certain conditions or after the employee has worked for the employer for ten consecutive years. The employer also has to pay compensation to an employee if the employer terminates an unlimited-term labor contract. Such compensation is also required when the employer refuses to renew a labor contract that has expired, unless it is the employee who refuses to extend the expired contract or resign. In addition, under the Regulations on Paid Annual Leave for Employees, which became effective on January 1, 2008 and the Implementation Measures of Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security on Paid Annual Leave for Employees of Enterprises, which became effective on September 18, 2008, employees who have served more than one year for an employer are entitled to a paid vacation ranging from 5 to 15 days, depending on their accumulative total length of service. Employers who fail to allow for such vacation time must compensate their employees three times their regular salaries for each vacation day disallowed, unless such employers can provide evidence, such as a copy of a written notice provided to their employees, that suggests the employers made arrangements for their employees to take such annual leaves, but such employees voluntarily waived taking their leaves or such employees waived their right to such vacation days in writing.

In addition, we are required by PRC laws and regulations to pay various statutory employee benefits, including pension insurance, housing fund, medical insurance, work-related injury insurance, unemployment insurance and maternity insurance to designated government agencies for the benefit of our employees. The relevant government agencies may examine whether an employer has made adequate payments to the statutory employee benefits, and those employers who fail to make adequate payments may be subject to late payment fees, fines and/or other penalties. We expect that our labor costs, including wages and employee benefits, will continue to increase. Unless we are able to control our labor costs or pass on these increased labor costs, our financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.

Registered public accounting firms in China, including our independent registered public accounting firm, are not inspected by the U.S. Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, which deprives us and our investors of the benefits of such inspection.

Auditors of companies whose shares are registered with the SEC, and traded publicly in the United States, including our independent registered public accounting firm, must be registered with the U.S. Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (the “PCAOB”) and are required by the laws of the United States to undergo regular inspections by the PCAOB to assess their compliance with the laws of the United States and professional standards applicable to auditors. Our independent registered public accounting firm is located in, and organized under the laws of, the PRC, which is a jurisdiction where the PCAOB, notwithstanding the requirements of U.S. law, is currently unable to conduct inspections without the approval of the Chinese authorities. In May 2013, the PCAOB announced that it had entered into a Memorandum of Understanding on Enforcement Cooperation with the CSRC and the PRC Ministry of Finance, which establishes a cooperative framework between the parties for the production and exchange of audit documents relevant to investigations undertaken by the PCAOB, CSRC or PRC Ministry of Finance in the United States and the PRC, respectively. The PCAOB continues to be in discussions with the CSRC and the PRC Ministry of Finance to permit inspections in the PRC of audit firms registered with the PCAOB and audit Chinese companies that trade on U.S. exchanges.

Inspections of other firms that the PCAOB has conducted outside China have identified deficiencies in those firms’ audit procedures and quality control procedures, which may be addressed as part of the inspection process to improve future audit quality. This lack of PCAOB inspections in China prevents the PCAOB from fully evaluating audits and quality control procedures of our independent registered public accounting firm. As a result, we and investors in our common stock are deprived of the benefits of such PCAOB inspections. The inability of the PCAOB to conduct inspections of auditors in China makes it more difficult to evaluate the effectiveness of our independent registered public accounting firm’s audit procedures or quality control procedures as compared to auditors outside of China that are subject to PCAOB inspections, which could cause investors and potential investors in our stock to lose confidence in the audit procedures and reported financial information and the quality of our audited financial statements.

22

Risks Related to the Performance of Our Ordinary Shares

Our share price is highly volatile. Our shareholders may not be able to resell their ordinary shares at or above the price they initially paid for our shares, or at all.

The trading price of our shares has fluctuated significantly since our initial public offering in March 2000. Our share price could be subject to wide fluctuations in the future in response to many events or factors, including those discussed in the preceding risk factors relating to our operations, as well as:

| • | actual or anticipated fluctuations in operating results, actual or anticipated gross profit as a percentage of net sales, levels of inventory, our actual or anticipated rate of growth and our actual or anticipated earnings per share;

| • | changes in expectations as to future financial performance or changes in financial estimates or buy/sell recommendations of securities analysts;

| • | changes in governmental regulations or policies in Japan, China, India and other countries in which we do business;

| • | our, or a competitor’s, announcement of new products, services or technological innovations;

| • | changes in our senior management;

| • | the operating and stock price performance of other comparable companies;

| • | news and commentary emanating from the media, securities analysts or government bodies in China relating to us and to our industry in general;

| • | fluctuations in the exchange rates between the Renminbi, the Japanese yen, India Rupee and the U.S. dollar;

| • | the operating and share price performance of other comparable companies; and

| • | sales or anticipated sales of additional ordinary shares.

General market conditions and domestic or international macroeconomic factors unrelated to our performance may also affect our share price. For these reasons, investors should not rely on recent trends to predict future share prices or financial results. Furthermore, following periods of volatility in a company’s securities, securities class action litigation against a company is sometimes instituted. We have experienced substantial costs and the diversion of management’s time and resources on this type of litigation and may do so in the future.

Some of our shareholders have significant influence over our management and affairs, which they could exercise against the best interests of our shareholders.

Entities affiliated with Tonghao (Cayman) Limited, or Tonghao, and the Smart Soho International Limited, or Smart Soho, and E-Town International Holding (Hong Kong) Co. Limited, or E-Town beneficially owned approximately 35%, 14%, and 11%, respectively, of our outstanding shares as of March 31, 2020. E-Town also has the right to designate a member of our board of directors. As a result, Tonghao, Smart Soho and E-Town have the ability to influence all matters submitted to our shareholders for approval, as well as our management and affairs. Matters that could require shareholder approval include:

| • | election and removal of directors;

| • | our merger or consolidation with or into another entity; and

| • | sale of all or substantially all of our assets.

This concentration of ownership may delay or prevent a change of control or discourage a potential acquirer from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us, which could decrease the market price of our ordinary shares.

We may need additional capital, and the sale of additional ordinary shares or other equity securities could result in additional dilution to our shareholders.

We believe that our current cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for the foreseeable future. We may, however, require additional cash resources due to changed business conditions or other future developments, including any investments or acquisitions we may decide to pursue. If these resources are insufficient to satisfy our cash requirements, we may seek to sell additional equity or debt securities or obtain a credit facility. The sale of additional equity securities could result in

23

dilution to our shareholders. The incurrence of indebtedness would result in increased debt service obligations and could result in operating and financ ing covenants that would restrict our operations. It is uncertain whether financing will be available in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all.

We are a “foreign private issuer,” and our disclosure obligations differ from those of U.S. domestic reporting companies. As a result, we may not provide you the same information as U.S. domestic reporting companies or we may provide information at different times, which may make it more difficult for you to evaluate our performance and prospects.

Under the Exchange Act, we as a foreign private issuer are subject to reporting obligations that, to some extent, are more lenient and less frequent than those of U.S. domestic reporting companies. For example, we are not required to issue quarterly reports or proxy statements. We are not required to disclose detailed individual executive compensation information. Furthermore, our directors and executive officers are not required to report equity holdings under Section 16 of the Exchange Act and are not subject to the insider short-swing profit disclosure and recovery regime.

As a foreign private issuer, we are also exempt from the requirements of Regulation FD (“Fair Disclosure”) which, generally, are meant to ensure that select groups of investors are not privy to specific information about an issuer before other investors. However, we are still subject to the anti-fraud and anti-manipulation rules of the SEC, such as Rule 10b-5 under the Exchange Act. Since many of the disclosure obligations imposed on us as a foreign private issuer differ from those imposed on U.S. domestic reporting companies, you should not expect to receive the same information about us and at the same time as the information provided by U.S. domestic reporting companies.

We are a Cayman Islands company and, because judicial precedent regarding the rights of shareholders may be more limited under Cayman Islands law than under U.S. law, you may have less protection of your shareholder rights than you would under U.S. law.

Our corporate affairs are governed by our memorandum and articles of association, the Cayman Islands Companies Law and the common law of the Cayman Islands. The rights of shareholders to take action against the directors, the rights of minority shareholders to institute actions and the fiduciary responsibilities of our directors to our shareholders are to a large extent governed by the common law of the Cayman Islands. The common law of the Cayman Islands is derived in part from comparatively limited judicial precedent in the Cayman Islands as well as from English common law, the latter of which has persuasive, but not binding, authority on a court in the Cayman Islands. The rights of our shareholders and the fiduciary responsibilities of our directors under Cayman Islands law may not be as clearly established as they would be under statutes or judicial precedents in the United States. In particular, the Cayman Islands have a different body of securities law than the United States. In addition, Cayman Islands companies may not have standing to initiate a shareholder derivative action before the federal courts of the United States. As a result, our public shareholders may encounter more difficulty in protecting their interests against actions taken by the management, the board of directors or the controlling shareholders of our company than they would as shareholders of a public company incorporated in the United States.

You may have difficulty enforcing judgments obtained against us.

We are a Cayman Islands company, and we conduct a significant portion of our operations in the PRC. Substantially all of our assets are located outside of the United States. In addition, some directors and officers are residents of countries other than the United States and a substantial portion of their assets are located outside of the United States. As a result, it may be difficult for you to bring an action against our directors and officers in the United States. Even if you are successful in bringing an action, it may still be difficult for you to enforce judgments obtained in U.S. courts based on the civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws against us and our officers and directors.

Although there is no statutory enforcement in the Cayman Islands of judgments obtained in the federal or state courts of the United States (and the Cayman Islands are not a party to any treaties for the reciprocal enforcement or recognition of such judgments other than, in certain circumstances, Australian judgments), a judgment obtained in such jurisdiction will be recognized and enforced in the courts of the Cayman Islands at common law, without any re-examination of the merits of the underlying dispute, by an action commenced on the foreign judgment debt in the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands, provided such judgment (a) is given by a foreign court of competent jurisdiction, (b) imposes on the judgment debtor a liability to pay a liquidated sum for which the judgment has been given, (c) is final, (d) is not in respect of taxes, a fine or a penalty; and (e) was not obtained in a manner and is not of a kind the enforcement of which is contrary to natural justice or the public policy of the Cayman Islands.

We have incurred additional costs as a result of being a public company, which could negatively impact our net income and liquidity.

We are a public company listed in the United States and as such, we have incurred and will continue to incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and rules and regulations implemented by the SEC and NASDAQ require significantly heightened corporate governance practices for public companies. As a result, we have incurred additional legal, accounting and financial compliance costs and many of our corporate activities have become time-consuming and costly. If we fail to comply with these rules and regulations, we could become the subject of a governmental enforcement action, investors may lose confidence in us and the market price of our ordinary shares could decline.

24

Our failure to timely file periodic reports with the SEC or satisfy the ongoing NASDAQ listing requirements could result in the delisting of our shares from the NASDAQ, affect the liquidity of our shares and cause us to default on covenants contained in contractual arrangements.

If we are unable to maintain compliance with the conditions for continued listing required by NASDAQ, then our ordinary shares may be subject to delisting from NASDAQ. NASDAQ Listing Rule 5450(a) (1) requires that our shares trade above $1.00 per share. Our shares traded below $1.00 for periods in 2012 and 2013, and on March 15, 2013 we received formal notice from NASDAQ that we were not in compliance with NASDAQ’s Listing Rules. While we returned to full compliance on April 11, 2013, our shares may trade below $1.00 per share again in the future. In addition, we failed to file our annual report on Form 20-F for 2016 on a timely basis, but regained compliance after filing such report in November 2017. If our ordinary shares are delisted from NASDAQ, our ordinary shares may not be eligible to trade on any national securities exchange or the over-the-counter market. If our ordinary shares are no longer traded through a market system, their liquidity may be greatly reduced, which could negatively affect their price. In addition, we may be unable to obtain future equity financing, or use our ordinary shares as consideration for mergers or other business combinations. A delisting from NASDAQ may also have other negative implications, including the potential loss of confidence by suppliers, customers and employees, the loss of institutional investor interest, and fewer business development opportunities and could lead to a default under certain of our contractual arrangements.

We believe that we will be treated as a U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

As discussed more fully under “Item 10. Additional Information-E. Taxation-U.S. Federal Income Taxation,” we have been treating UTStarcom as a U.S. corporation for all purposes of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). As a result, we will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our worldwide income. In addition, if UTStarcom pays dividends to a Non-U.S. Holder, as defined in the discussion under the section “Item 10. Additional Information-E. Taxation-U.S. Federal Income Taxation,” we will be required to withhold U.S. income tax at the rate of 30%, or such lower rate as may be provided in an applicable income tax treaty. Each investor should consult its own tax advisor regarding the U.S. federal income tax position of UTStarcom and the tax consequences of holding our shares.

ITEM 4-INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY

A. History and Development of the Company

UTStarcom, Inc. was originally incorporated in 1991 as a Delaware corporation. In April 2011, we were incorporated as UTStarcom Holdings Corp. as an exempted company under the laws of the Cayman Islands. On June 24, 2011, we effected the Merger to reorganize the corporate structure of UTStarcom, Inc., and its subsidiaries. The Merger resulted in the shares of common stock of UTStarcom, Inc. being converted into the right to receive an equal number of ordinary shares in our capital, which were issued by us in connection with the Merger. Following the Merger, UTStarcom, Inc. became our wholly-owned subsidiary and we became the parent company of UTStarcom, Inc. and its subsidiaries. The transaction was accounted for as a legal re-organization of entities under common control. See “Item 4. Information on the Company-C. Organizational Structure” for a listing of our subsidiaries. We, together with our subsidiaries, continue to conduct our business in substantially the same manner as was conducted by UTStarcom, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

On March 31, 2017, we received a preliminary non-binding proposal letter dated March 31, 2017 from Shah Capital Opportunity Fund LP, Himanshu H. Shah, Mr. Lu and his affiliates, and Tenling Ti, to acquire all of our outstanding shares not currently owned by them in a going private transaction for $2.15 per ordinary share in cash, subject to certain conditions. Our Board of Directors had formed a special committee consisting of two independent and disinterested directors, Sean Shao and Xiaoping Li to consider the proposal.

On October 24, 2017, the special committee of our board of directors received a notice from Shah Capital Opportunity Fund LP, Himanshu H. Shah, Hong Liang Lu and certain of his affiliates and Tenling Ti to withdraw the preliminary non-binding take-private proposal.

Our ordinary shares are traded on NASDAQ under the same ticker symbol “UTSI,” under which UTStarcom, Inc.’s common stock had previously traded. Our registered office in the Cayman Islands is located at the offices of Maples Corporate Services Limited, PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. Our telephone number at this address is +1 (345) 949 8066. Our agent for service of process in the United States is CT Corporation System and its address is 208 LaSalle Ave, Suite 814, Chicago IL 60604, USA. Our principal executive offices are located at 4th Floor, South Wing, 368 Liuhe Road, Binjiang District, Hangzhou, P.R. China. We can be reached by telephone at ++86 571 8192 8888.

B. Business Overview

Our core business is providing next-generation broadband telecommunication network products, solutions and services. As a global telecom infrastructure provider, we focus on delivering innovative carrier-class packet optical, network synchronization and

25

br oadband access (both Wireless and fixed line) products and solutions, coupled with Software Defined Networking (“SDN”) platform, optimized for mobile backhaul, metro aggregation, broadband access and value added services.

Our networking technologies enable access, aggregation and transports of high-speed data, voice and video. The product lines include Packet Transport Network (“PTN”), Packet Aggregation Network (“PAN”), Wireline Broadband Access including Multi-Services Access Network (“MSAN”) and Fiber To The X (“FTTx”), Carrier Wi-Fi solution and Software Defined Network (“SDN”) controller.

In addition to the well-established product lines mentioned above, which we sell to our customers worldwide, UTStarcom is actively involved in new products and solutions developments in several key target areas including mobile backhaul transport for 5G, network synchronization, intelligent networking platforms for retail and other applications. The new products and solutions utilize the experience and knowledge we have accumulated over the years in our key areas of expertise including optical communications, broadband access technologies, as well as hardware and software design.

We support full cycle in-house R&D and manufacturing equipped with advanced design, test and measurement tools. Our manufacturing is focused on production of high quality telecom equipment with comprehensive quality control process certified by LRQA for ISO9001/14001, OHSAS18001, QC080000, which results in very high equipment reliability. As a part of our efforts to support our customers on all stages of network planning, deployment and operation, we provide full range of pre- and post-sale services including turn-key deployments as may be required by our customers.

Packet Optical Products

PTN product line is represented by NetRing Transport Network (“NetRing TN”) Series products that are based on the Multi-Protocol Label Switch Transport Profile (“MPLS-TP”) and Carrier Ethernet (“CE”) technologies, and includes a complete line of network nodes from compact metro access boxes to high-performance core devices. This product line combines packet switch/forwarding, packet optical transport and time/clock synchronization technologies to meet customers’ metro networking requirements through support of wide range of protocols, standards and interfaces including TDM (“SDH/SONET”), ATM, and Ethernet, coupled with highest reliability and carrier-class set of features. It is a highly flexible, reliable, scalable and cost-effective solution designed for efficient use in key applications such as mobile backhaul, multiservice metro aggregation, enterprise Carrier Ethernet services, and broadband access and aggregation. The product line offers a broad feature set, including network-wide time/clock synchronization, carrier class sub 50ms recovery resiliency, guaranteed Quality of Service (“QoS”) and Service Level Agreement (“SLA”) enforcement, end-to-end multi-layer Operation Administration & Maintenance (“OAM”), and a wide range of interfaces. Products are managed via a comprehensive centralized network management system, which allows customers to aggregate the management of large-scale networks up to 50,000 nodes. Large volumes of NetRing TN products have already been deployed worldwide. Due to introduction of NG-PTN and PAN products, most of demand from our customers in 2017-2018 shifted to these new products, resulting in large orders for high bandwidth devices with 100GE TN765, and various PAN products. At the same time, in 2017-2018 we continued seeing significant demand for mature PTN products including TN703 and TN705 from our existing customers, as well as demand for expansions. In 2019 we also shipped PTN products including TN701A, TN705E, TN703 and others to meet network expansion needs from our major customers.

The Next Generation Packet Transport Network (“NG-PTN”) portfolio offers some important improvements including high efficient hardware and software architecture, high port density, high speed 100GE interface, low power consumption and overall capital and operating expense savings. The TN765, higher layer aggregation / core platform of NG-PTN product line aims to help operators enhance profitability by extending capacity, throughput and deployment flexibility of MPLS-TP networks. It offers enhanced throughput of 1Tbps, multiple 100 GE interfaces and a large number of 10GE interfaces for more efficient network deployment. The growing demand for 100GE interface has been driving NG-PTN sales in recent years, including expansion orders for large number of TN765 products.

The Packet Aggregation Network (“PAN”) solution introduced in 2017 is based on technologies similar to PTN, but optimized for high-performance aggregation scenarios. The portfolio includes three products: TN703B (1RU rack-mountable, 8Gbps switching capacity), TN705B (4RU rack-mountable, 40Gbps switching capacity), TN725B (4RU rack-mountable, 80Gbps switching capacity). We shipped over 16,000 units of PAN products in 2017-2018 with follow-up orders in 2019, and we expect to see new deals involving PAN products in 2020-2021.

Network Synchronization

The SyncRing product family was specifically designed for highly accurate time and frequency synchronization over packet switched network based on PTP (IEEE1588v2) and Synchronous Ethernet technologies. The product family includes XGM Series grand master devices and XBC Series boundary clock switches centrally managed by our proven OMC-O NMS network management platform. The SyncRing solution is mainly aimed at mobile network operators due to its ability to meet the stringent synchronization accuracy requirements of LTE/LTE-A and 5G networks, as well as to meet lower TCO targets that are especially critical for the

26

swiftly growing segment of small cell deployments. The SyncRing product is designed for clu ster distributed timing architecture to meet complex requirements of emerging 5G mobile technology.

In addition to existing SyncRing products XGM20 Grand Master (PRTC-A class T-GM) and XBC510 Boundary Clock (T-BC Class A) designed primarily for LTE/LTE-A applications, in 2018 we introduced PRTC-B class T-GM Grand Master product XGM30. Featuring significantly improved accuracy, higher availability, extended management capabilities, the XGM30 enables mobile network operators to cost-effectively meet the stringent time synchronization requirements of LTE/LTE-A and 5G networks. Furthermore, to better address the 4G/5G small cell deployments needs and to complete our cost-effective distributed clustered timing architecture, in 2019 we released 2 new products: SyncRing XBC340 and XBC341 Ethernet switches designed to play the role of highly accurate edge boundary clocks in a PTP IEEE1588v2 network. In addition to their excellent synchronization capabilities, both XBC340 and XBC341 support Power over Ethernet (PoE) output per IEEE 802.3at/af specifications on all of their electrical access ports, providing an excellent choice for efficient 4G/5G small cell deployment providing an “all-in-one” solution to support multiple functions (including synchronization, data forwarding and PoE functions).

In 2017-2018, the SyncRing solution was deployed in the LTE mobile network of one of the largest Mobile network operators (“MNO”) in Japan. It was one of the first commercial deployments of sync-over-packet solution on mobile networks in Japan, featuring large-scale deployment of XBC510 + XGM20. In 2019 we received large expansion orders and shipped SyncRing products to our customer. Following the launch of 5G technology and start of 5G networks rollout, we expect volume shipments of the 5G-ready XGM30 product and new XBC340 and XBC341 Boundary Clocks switches, as well as expansion orders from our customer for mature XGM20 and XBC510 products.

SkyFlux Advanced Networking Platform

The SkyFlux advanced networking platform addresses the needs for service agility, automation and efficiency, and designed to provide an efficient solution for 4G/5G backhaul, high-volume traffic aggregation and provider edge scenarios, data center interconnect and others. The solution is based on the Source Routing technology that implements the paradigm of source routing. It is an excellent match for SDN-based control with centralized PCE enabling service agility and automation sought after by operators today: centralized intelligence with full network view and data analytics capabilities are seamlessly used to define optimal path at the source. Furthermore, this paradigm enables powerful network programming concept to turn networks into a fully programmable environment, enabling easy implementation of sophisticated scenarios such as traffic engineering, services chaining and more.

The SkyFlux advanced networking platform will provide support of high-speed interfaces up to 100GE/200GE/400GE, high port density, wide range of services including L2/L3VPN and EVPN, and of course will support full set of carrier-class features: sub-50ms protection, OAM, QoS, accurate time synchronization, hardware redundancy.

The first product in SkyFlux UAR Series, the SkyFlux UAR500 was announced available for POC in 2018. The product was one of the first SRv6-enabled products ever to pass interoperability testing in EANTC lab (Berlin). The SkyFlux UAR500 was also successfully demonstrated in several live demo events, including public live demo event during MPLS + SDN + NFV World Congress 2018 (Paris), as well as several demonstrations to our customers.

We are currently working on various enhancements of SkyFlux platform and its applications optimized first of all for 5G mobile networks Midhaul/Backhaul use cases that present a challenging set of requirements to the transport network. The SkyFlux enhancements include a number of technologies such as SPN (Slicing Packet Network) technology, Segment Routing MPLS implemented as SR-TP (Segment Routing Transport Profile) for carrier applications, FlexE – a light-weight TDM enhancement of Ethernet offering improved performance, flexibility and control over network resources, and high bandwidth support, all combined with SDN that together enable even greater network flexibility, excellent capacity and scalability, extra low latency, network slicing, and high timing accuracy all of which are essential characteristics of transport networks for 5G mobile technology. We are working with our customers to build the platform best suited for the needs of their applications.

SDN Platform

UTStarcom offers a suite of products based on SDN technology combined in a SOOTM Network (Software-defined Open Packet Optical) solution which answers the needs of telecom operators for the next generation intelligent network, helping them to reduce capital expenditures and operating expenses, while enhancing overall network performance, availability and bandwidth efficiency and improving the customer experience. With SOO network operators gain unprecedented programmability, automation, and network control, which enables them to build highly scalable, flexible networks that readily adapt to changing business needs.

The solution successfully passed Proof of Concept (“PoC”) testing with major Tier-1 operators in Tokyo in 2015. We won few commercial contracts for the development of SDN key function modules. Two of them (Middleware Qx driver and service provisioning tool FMS automation) have successfully passed technical evaluation and field trial, and moved to commercial deployment in 2018. Another two key new function modules are Topology Resource Management (TRM) and Path Calculation Management (PCM). Development of both TRM and PCM modules has been completed and modules were provided to the customer

27

for testing. We also focusing on continuous in-house development and improvements of the fully-functional SDN Controller SOO Station R3.x for control and management of the SkyFlux advanced networking platform.

Carrier Wi-Fi Products

Our Carrier Wi-Fi product line includes a complete carrier-grade solution for a managed wireless access network: Wireless Access Controllers, Network Management System, and Wi-Fi Access Points (“AP”) for carrier and MSO markets and various deployment scenarios. Our Wireless Access Controllers portfolio provides a great scalable solution suited for different customers (“Carrier”, Enterprise) and different deployment scenarios. It includes the hardware-based MSG series of Wireless Access Controllers, and MSC-C cloud-based Wireless Access Controller featuring planning, configuration, control, as well as operation and maintenance functions implemented in the cloud.

We have successfully deployed carrier Wi-Fi solution since 2013. In 2016 we added support of the newest 802.11ac Wave 2 technology to our portfolio of Wireless Access Points implemented in UIA3340, UOA5340D, and other latest products. Growing demand from the India market resulted in the recent deployment of a large Carrier Wi-Fi network in two cities of India. In 2017, we shipped eight units of MSG2000 Wireless Access Controllers and about 10,000 Wireless Access Points for that project. In 2018 we had 2 more large wins including a large-scale rural public Wi-Fi hotspot network and a project for wireless internet connectivity in over 1000 gram panchayats (clusters of villages), which involves sizable amounts of products including Wi-Fi Access Points, Wireless Access Controllers, PoE Switches, as well as follow-up expansion orders in 2019. We expect to see strong demand for wireless broadband products from India and other markets in following years.

Wireline Broadband Access Products

MSAN offers a wide range of services over twisted pair copper and optical fiber including IPTV, High-Speed Internet Access, POTS, VoIP. UTStarcom’s iAN Multimedia Network Edge is a leading MSAN platform with accumulated over 40 million lines installed worldwide. The latest iAN platform-iAN1200 series MSAN portfolio accommodates carrier-grade broadband access, telephony and data service, and supports a range of technologies such as POTS, ADSL/ADSL2/ADSL2+, VDSL2, SHDSL (EFM) which allows service providers to serve highly interactive and bandwidth intensive applications, enabling operators to offer value added “Triple Play” and broadband business services and migration to NGN while maintaining the traditional telephony services. The MSAN B1200 product line includes high (iAN B1205F), medium (iAN B1205E) and low (iAN B1205) capacity devices acting act as a traditional TDM based DLC, IPDSLAM, Media Gateway platform integrated into a single device and supports seamless migration from V5/AN to VoIP/AG and IMS Access.

The MSAN B1200 Series products were widely deployed and expanded since 2015 to 2017, with shipments accumulating to about 1 Million ports. Driven by strong NGN (Next Generation Network) deployment needs from India, we received in 2018 large orders for MSAN products and related installation and integration services, with total volume over 4 Million subscriber ports, followed by expansion orders in 2019. We expect to see continued demand for MSAN products moving forward in 2020 and beyond.

Another integral part of our Wireline Broadband Access portfolio – GPON FTTx solution that combines the simplicity of Ethernet services with high durability of passive optical components, ensuring lower operating expense (OPEX) for service providers. Our carrier-class FTTx solution is represented by a range of OLT and ONT products designed for delivery of high-speed voice, data and video services to residential and business subscribers. We saw a growing demand for FTTx in our key broadband market in India recently that resulted in an order received in 2019 for a very large number of ONT products from our key customer in India.

Intelligent Networking Platforms

28

UTStarcom leverages its cutting-edge information and communication technologies to develop intelligent networking platforms optimized for some target verticals and market segments, such as smart retail and intelligent broadband. UTStarcom’s Smart Retail solution includes centralized cloud-based intelligence and operation, and local hardware-based goBox control gateway in a next generation vending machine, commercial refrigerator or a smart cabinet that enables connectivity to the cloud, and serves as a central point to integrate sensing, payment, security and value-added services like advertising. Although in 2018 we supplied certain quantity of goBox products to our customers in China and fulfilled expansion orders in 2019, the Company has r eassessed this solution as a less promising business and will discontinue this product line in 2020.

MARKETS AND CUSTOMERS

The table below describes net sales by geographic region for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.

|  | Years Ended December 31, |
|  |  |  |  |  | % of net |  |  |  |  |  |  |  | % of net |  |  |  |  |  |  |  | % of net |
|  | 2019 |  |  | Sales |  |  |  | 2018 |  |  | sales |  |  |  | 2017 |  |  | sales |
|  | (in thousands, except percentages) |
Net Sales by Region |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
China |  | $ | 2,439 |  |  |  | 4 | % |  |  | $ | 3,146 |  |  |  | 3 |  | % |  | $ | 2,926 |  |  | 3 | %
India |  |  | 37,206 |  |  |  | 57 | % |  |  |  | 70,106 |  |  |  | 60 |  | % |  |  | 42,352 |  |  | 43 | %
Japan |  |  | 21,761 |  |  |  | 33 | % |  |  |  | 35,504 |  |  |  | 31 |  | % |  |  | 49,185 |  |  | 50 | %
Taiwan |  |  | 3,515 |  |  |  | 5 | % |  |  |  | 6,445 |  |  |  | 6 |  | % |  |  | 3,018 |  |  | 3 | %
Other |  |  | 702 |  |  |  | 1 | % |  |  |  | 743 |  |  |  | 1 |  | % |  |  | 811 |  |  | 1 | %
Total |  | $ | 65,623 |  |  | 100 | % |  |  | $ | 115,944 |  |  | 100 |  | % |  | $ | 98,292 |  |  | 100 | %

Our products and services are used primarily in Asia. In 2019 and 2018, India was the largest market. In 2019, 2018, and 2017, India represented 57%, 60% and 43% of our net sales, respectively. Japan was one of our largest markets, representing 33%, 31% and 50% of our net sales in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Our key target geographical markets for the deployment of our broadband infrastructure products are India, Japan, and other Asia Pacific markets. We believe these geographical markets provide a significant opportunity given their relatively low broadband penetration rates and strong consumer demand for new broadband services. We observe consistently high interest in our products in the India market, and see potential for growth there for many of our product lines including optical transport and aggregation, fixed and wireless broadband access. We expect more upgrade projects and new deployments to expand our market share for broadband Internet network equipment in India.

Our customers, typically telecommunications and cable service providers, enable delivery of wireless, wire line and broadband access services including data, voice, and/or television to their subscribers. They include, but are not limited to, local, regional, national and international telecommunications carriers, including broadband, cable, Internet, wire line and wireless providers. Telecommunications and cable service providers typically require extensive proposal review, product certification, test and evaluation and network design and, in most cases, are associated with long sales cycles. Our customers’ networking requirements are influenced by numerous variables, including their size, the number and types of subscribers that they serve, the relative tele-density (the number of phone lines per 100 persons) of the geography served, their subscriber demand for IP communications and access services in the served geography. A significant portion of our net sales is derived from a Japanese customer, Softbank, which is also one of our former shareholders. In 2019, our net sales to Softbank totaled approximately $13.5 million, representing approximately 21% of our total net sales. In 2018, our net sales to Softbank totaled approximately $31.9 million, representing approximately 28% of our total net sales. We anticipate that our dependence on Softbank will continue for the foreseeable future. See “Item 3. Key Information-D. Risk Factors-Risks Related to Our Business- We rely on a Japanese customer and an Indian customer for a significant portion of our net sales. Any deterioration of our relationship or any interruption to our ongoing collaboration with this customer may significantly harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.” Another significant portion of our net sales is derived from an India customer, Bharat Sanchar Nigam Ltd. (“BSNL”). In 2019, our net sales to BSNL totaled approximately $31.8 million, representing approximately 48% of our total net sales. In the third quarter of 2019, BSNL delayed payment on a large receivable. We have received partial payment at the end of 2019, and every month in 2020 through April 2020. In 2018, our net sales to BSNL totaled approximately $67.0 million, representing approximately 58% of our total net sales. See “Item 3. Key Information-D. Risk Factors-Risks Related to Our Business.”

COMPETITION

We compete in the telecommunications equipment market, providing IP-based core infrastructure products, and services for transporting data, voice and television traffic across IP-based networks. The markets in which we compete are characterized by rapid change, converging technologies, and a migration to IP-based networking and communications solutions that offer relative advantages to our customers and their subscribers. These market factors represent a competitive threat to UTStarcom. We compete with numerous vendors in each product and market category. The overall number of our competitors providing new products and solutions may

29

increase. Also, the composition of competitors may change as we increase our ac tivity in various technology markets. In particular, we have experienced price-focused competition from competitors in Asia, and we anticipate this will continue.

We believe our competitive strengths are derived from three main factors: our ability to introduce and deploy well-developed IP- based technologies and products; our reputation for providing a customer-centric business model; and our ability to solve complex problems. Our competitive disadvantages include our relatively smaller size in terms of revenues, working capital, and financial resources and headcount; our lack of historical sales to many of the largest carriers in well-established markets and our lack of consumer brand recognition in markets.

The broadband infrastructure market is subject to intense competition worldwide from numerous global and regional competitors, including some of the world’s largest companies. These companies leverage pricing, payment terms and their pre-existing customer relationships. Specific competitors in this segment include Cisco, Juniper, Nokia, Alcatel-Lucent, Coriant, CIENA Corporation, ECI Telecom, Huawei Technologies, and ZTE Corporation.

OPERATIONS

Sales, Marketing and Customer Support

We pursue a direct sales and marketing strategy in Japan, India, and South Asia, targeting sales to telecommunications operators and equipment distributors with closely associated customers. We maintain sales and customer support sites in Japan and India. Our customer service operations in Hangzhou and Chengdu China, serve as both a technical resources and liaisons to our product development organization.

Additionally, we maintain our Sales and Marketing presence in the United States, through our subsidiary, Virtual Gateway Labs, Inc. in Silicon Valley, to market and support our products and services in this key target market.

Manufacturing, Assembly and Testing

The manufacturing operations consist of circuit board assembly, final system assembly, software installation and testing. We assemble circuit boards primarily using surface mount technology. Assembled boards are individually tested prior to final assembly and tested again at the system level prior to system shipment. We use internally developed functional and parametric tests for quality management and process control and have developed an internal system to track quality statistics at a serial number level. System final testing and packaging are conducted at our own facilities as well as contracted to third parties.

We currently manufacture our products at our Hangzhou, China facility.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

We believe it is essential to continue to develop and introduce new and enhanced products if we are to maintain our competitive position. While we use competitive analyses and technology trends as factors in our product development plans, the primary input for new products and product enhancements comes from soliciting and analyzing information about service providers’ needs. We have been able to cost-effectively hire highly skilled technical employees from a large pool of qualified candidates in China. We also have a development center in India to take advantage of the talent pool available there, and to support our operations in India. Our R&D centers are ISO 9001-2000 certified.

In the past we have made, and expect to continue to make, significant investments in research and development. For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 our R&D expenses totaled $14.5 million, $12.7 million, and $9.9 million, respectively. The continuous increase in 2019, 2018 and 2017 were primarily due to continuing investment in product development and new technology.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

Our ability to compete depends in part on our proprietary technology. We rely on a combination of patent, copyright trademark and trade secret laws, as well as confidentiality agreements and licensing arrangements, to establish and protect our proprietary rights. In addition, we have, from time to time, chosen to abandon previously filed applications. Patents may not be issued and any patents issued may not cover the scope of the claims sought in the applications. Additionally, issued patents may be found to be invalid or unenforceable in the courts of those countries where we hold or have filed for such patents or patent applications. Our U.S. patents do not afford any intellectual property protection in China or other international jurisdictions. Additionally, patents that we hold in countries other than the United States do not afford any intellectual property protection in the United States. Please refer to the discussion of risks associated with our intellectual property in “Item 3. Key Information-D. Risk Factors-Risks Related to Our Business-We may be unable to adequately protect against the loss or misappropriation of our intellectual property, which could substantially harm our business.”

30

SEASONALITY

Although we experience some seasonality typical of the telecommunications industry, our revenues and earnings have not demonstrated consistent seasonal characteristics. In contrast, our results of operation are generally impacted more significantly by factors such as customer concentration and the timing of revenue recognition.

RAW MATERIALS

We source and purchase components comprising of active and passive electronic parts, mechanical and electrical parts, OEM and third party parts in the open markets from China and overseas. Prices for these component parts typically vary with the global and local supply and demand dynamics as well as raw material price fluctuations. Component part price volatility is also affected by one-off events such as the earthquake in Japan and flooding in Thailand resulting in short-term electronic component and hard drive shortages respectively. See “Item 3. Key Information-D. Risk Factors-Risks Related to Our Business.”

REGULATIONS

Multiple government bodies are involved in regulating and administering affairs in the telecommunications and information technology industries in China, Japan and India, among which the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology (“MIIT”), NDRC, SASAC and State Administration of Press, Publication, Radio, Film and Television (“SAPPRFT”) play the leading roles. These government agencies have broad discretion and authority over all aspects of the telecommunications and information technology industry in China, including but not limited to, setting the telecommunications tariff structure, granting carrier licenses and frequencies, approving equipment and products, granting product licenses, approving of the form and content of transmitted data, specifying technological standards as well as appointing carrier executives, all of which may impact our ability to do business in China. See “Item 3. Key Information-D. Risk Factors-Risks Relating to Conducting Business in China.”

C. Organizational Structure

We are a holding company incorporated in the Cayman Islands.

The following table sets forth our subsidiaries, including their country of incorporation or residence and our ownership interest in such subsidiaries.

|  | Place of |  |  |
|  | Incorporation or |  | Proportion of |
Name |  | Organization |  | Ownership Interest |
UTStarcom, Inc. |  | U.S.A |  | 100 | %
UTStarcom International Products, Inc. |  | U.S.A |  | 100 | %
Issanni Communications, Inc. |  | U.S.A |  | 100 | %
UTStarcom Telecom Co., Ltd. |  | China |  | 100 | %
UTStarcom Hong Kong Ltd. |  | Hong Kong SAR |  | 100 | %
UTStarcom Japan KK |  | Japan |  | 100 | %
UTStarcom, S.A. de C.V. |  | Mexico |  | 100 | %
UTStarcom Taiwan Ltd. |  | Taiwan |  | 100 | %
UTStarcom Network Solutions—Redes de Nova Geraçăo Ltda. |  | Brazil |  | 100 | %
UTStarcom India Telecom Pvt |  | India |  | 100 | %
UTStarcom (Thailand) Limited |  | Thailand |  | 100 | %
MyTV Corporation |  | Cayman Island |  | 100 | %
UTStarcom (Philippines), Inc. |  | Philippines |  | 100 | %
UTStarcom Hong Kong Investment Holding Ltd. |  | Hong Kong SAR |  | 100 | %
Virtual Gateway Labs, Inc. |  | U.S.A |  | 100 | %
Hangzhou USTAR Technologies Ltd. |  | China |  | 100 | %

D. Property, Plant and Equipment

Our principal executive offices are located in Hangzhou, China. Our research and development, manufacturing and back office functions are located at our office facilities in Hangzhou, China.

In July 2016, we entered into a new non-cancellable lease agreement for our office facilities in Hangzhou, China, and later we expanded the lease area with the same landlord. Under the term of these lease agreements, we have leased 16,872 square meters (approximately 181,610 square feet) of gross floor area, through July 31, 2021. In addition, we lease 1,848 square feet of properties in

31

North America. We lease sales and customer support offices in sev eral countries covering Japan, India, and the United States. We believe our facilities are suitable and adequate to meet our current needs.

ITEM 4A-UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 5 OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon and should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements for the periods specified and their related notes included in this Annual Report on Form 20-F, as well as “Item 3. Key Information-A. Selected Financial Data.” This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, including, without limitation, statements regarding our expectations, beliefs, intentions or future strategies that are signified by the words “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “believe,” or similar language. All forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report are based on information available to us on the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to update any such forward-looking statements. In evaluating our business, you should carefully consider the information provided under “Item 3. Key Information-D. Risk Factors.” Actual results could differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements. We caution you that our businesses and financial performance are subject to substantial risks and uncertainties.

A. | Operating Results

OVERVIEW

We are a global telecom infrastructure provider dedicated to developing technology that will serve the rapidly growing demand for bandwidth from cloud-based services, mobile, streaming and other applications. We work with carriers globally, from Asia to the Americas, to meet this demand through a range of innovative broadband packet optical transport and wireless/fixed-line access products and solutions. We focus on delivering innovative carrier-class broadband transport and access products and solutions, optimized for mobile backhaul, metro aggregation, broadband access and Wi-Fi data offloading. Collectively, our range of solutions is designed to expand and modernize telecommunications networks through smooth network system integration, lower operating costs and increased broadband access. We also provide the carriers with increased revenue opportunities by enhancing their subscribers’ user experience. The majority of our business is based in Japan, India, China and other Asian markets.

We differentiate ourselves with products designed to reduce network complexity, integrate high performance capabilities and allow a simple transition to next generation networks. We design our products to facilitate cost-effective and efficient deployment, maintenance and upgrades.

Our customers can easily integrate our products, which are IP-based, with other industry standard hardware and software. Additionally, we believe we can introduce new features and enhancements that can be cost-effectively added to our customers’ existing networks. IP-based devices can be changed or upgraded in modules, saving our customers the expense of replacing their entire system installation. Our strategic priorities are summarized as follows:

| • | Focus primarily on providing a suite of IP-based solutions and broadband products and related services;

| • | Maintain our position in Japan and India while solidifying our presence in selective geographical markets in Asia;

| • | Leverage our strong reputation with telecom carriers and cable operators and our ability to solve complex network problems; and

| • | Improve our financial position by executing announced restructuring initiatives and reducing operating expense levels.

Acquisition

On March 28, 2018, we became an investor of Hangzhou uSTAR Technologies Limited, or (“uSTAR”), a newly established joint venture (“JV”) Company, and invested $1.8 million to acquire 49% of uSTAR’s equity interest and used the equity method to account for this investment.

In December 2018, we invested an additional $1.9 million to purchase the remaining interest of uSTAR from our JV partner. After that transaction, we own 100% equity interest of uSTAR and we consolidate uSTAR from the acquisition date. We assessed the fair value of all the assets and liabilities in uSTAR and concluded there was no Goodwill occurred during the transaction.

During the period between March 2018 to the date we acquired control of uSTAR, we recorded $0.4 million equity loss in connection with uSTAR.

32

Investments

In October 2004, we invested $3.0 million in Series D preferred convertible stock of GCT Semiconductor, Inc., or GCT, which designs, develops and markets integrated circuit products for the wireless communications industry. This investment represents approximately a 0.4% interest in GCT. This investment is accounted for using the cost method. We assess the fair value at every year-end. In 2012 and 2016, we recorded $2.1 million and $0.8 million investment impairment, respectively. As of December 31, 2016, the book value of the investment was zero.

On October 16, 2010, we invested $ 30.0 million in UiTV Media Inc., or (“UiTV”), $10.0 million of which was paid by our common shares that we had the repurchase rights and $20.0 million of which was paid by cash. We recorded this transaction as an acquisition because we then owned 75% interests in UiTV and had effective control. The transactions closed on November 8, 2010. On April 15, 2012, we then exercised our repurchase right, which trigged deconsolidation of UiTV from our consolidated financial statements starting from June 21, 2012 because we lost effective control due to our ownership decreasing from 75% to 49% and we lost one seat on the board of directors. Thereafter we recorded this investment using the equity method. From December 3, 2012 to December 31, 2015, we purchased $35.1 million convertible bonds that bear interest at 6.5% per annum with various maturity dates and subsequently all maturity dates were extended to December 31, 2015. In 2013 and 2014, we recorded a total of $9.6 million and $5.3 million, respectively, in losses for the preferred stock investment to reflect our 49% interest in UiTV losses. After the preferred shares was reduced to zero, we start to record 100% UiTV losses against our convertible bond investment balance until the carrying value of the convertible bond investment balance was reduced to zero. Therefore, in 2014 and 2015, we recorded $3.6 million and $14.0 million, respectively, in losses to reflect 100% of UiTV losses. Additionally, at every year-end, we assess the fair value of the UiTV, and recorded impairment charges of $9.1 million, $2.4 million and $6.0 million in 2013, 2014 and 2015, respectively. The convertible bond investments balance was reduced to zero as of December 31, 2015.

In December 2010, we invested $2.1 million into Aceland Investments Limited (“Aceland”). In the second quarter of 2011, we extended a shareholder loan to Aceland in the amount of $7.1 million with a maturity date of December, 31, 2015. We owned an approximately 35% interest in Aceland and accounted for the investment in Aceland using the equity method. In 2015, we recorded a $1.0 million impairment charge to the Aceland investment. In 2016, we received $6.7 million cash from Aceland as partial repayment of the loan balance and realized a $1.0 million gain of foreign exchange. In 2017 and 2018, we realized a $0.2 million and $0.3 million equity loss, respectively, as a result of the depreciation of the US Dollar deposit. In October 2019, the Board of Aceland approved a resolution to reduce its shares capital and was expected to repurchase our full investment in Aceland within one year. As the result, we classified this investment as a trading security in the short-term investment account in the amount of $2.1 million at December 31, 2019. In March 2020, Aceland repurchased all our investment and we recorded a $0.3 million gain in the other income.

On August 31, 2012, we completed the sale of our IPTV business to UTStarcom Hong Kong Holdings Ltd. which is controlled by our former Chief Executive Officer. On the same day, we purchased a $20.0 million Convertible Bond from UTStarcom Hong Kong Holdings Ltd. which bears interest at 6.5% per annum and matured on August 31, 2017. On April 7, 2015, we entered an agreement with UTStarcom Hong Kong Holdings Ltd. for the conversion of the $20.0 million Convertible Bond. Pursuant to the agreement, UTStarcom Hong Kong Holdings Ltd. paid $10.0 million in cash to us as partial repayment of the principal of the Convertible Bond. The remaining principal and interest of the Convertible Bond were converted to 14% of equity interest of UTStarcom Hong Kong Holdings Ltd. We used the cost method to account for this investment. During 2015, we assessed the fair value of UTStarcom Hong Kong Holdings Ltd, and recorded a $6.5 million impairment charge on this investment. We assessed the fair value of UTStarcom Hong Kong Holdings Ltd, and recorded an impairment of $0, $0.4 million and $0 in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respective. As of December 31, 2019, the book value of this investment was $3.1 million.

In November 2012, we invested $8.0 million in Series B Preferred Stock of AioTV Inc, (“AioTV”), representing a 44% equity interest of AioTV. The Preferred Stock was classified as available-for-sale security as it was not considered to be in-substance common stock due to the redemption feature. In December 2015 and October 2016, we invested in a convertible bond of $0.5 million that matured on March 28, 2017 and of $0.3 million that matured on October 7, 2017, respectively. All convertible bonds bear interest at 10.0% per annum. During 2016, we assessed the fair value of the investment, and recorded a $4.3 million impairment charge relating to this investment. On May 30, 2017, we converted all the existing Preferred Shares of AioTV into common shares of AioTV, and converted $0.5 million convertible bond issued in December 2015 into common shares of AioTV. After this conversion, we deemed that we have significant influence in AioTV and began to use the equity method to account for the investment in AioTV. On the same day, we signed a “Note Purchase Agreement” with AioTV. Pursuant to the agreement, the valuation cap of AioTV was reduced to $0.16 million, and we promised to purchase a $0.8 million convertible promissory note including $0.32 million of existing convertible bond issued in October 2016. As the result of these transactions, we recorded $1.3 million investment impairment in the second quarter of 2017. We invested $0.1 million and $0.38 million in the second and third quarter of 2017, respectively, in the convertible promissory note. In the third quarter of 2017, we recorded $0.1 million in losses for the common stock investment to reflect our 45% share of AioTV’s losses. After the common stock was reduced to zero, we started and will continued to record our 45% share of AioTV’s losses against our convertible promissory note until the carrying value of the convertible promissory note investment balance is reduced to zero. In the third and fourth quarters of 2017, we recorded $0.2 million and $0.2 million respectively in losses to reflect our 45% share of AioTV’s losses. At 2017 year-end, we assessed the fair value of AioTV, and concluded that a $0.4 million impairment charge to this investment was necessary. As of December 31, 2017, the book value of this investment was

33

zero. On December 19, 2018, we entered into the assignment and assumption agreement to transfer the Company’s all equity interests and debt interests in AioTV to a third party for cash consideration of $1 by the buyer. This transaction closed on April 11, 2019.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our financial condition and results of operations are based on certain critical accounting policies and estimates, which include judgments, estimates and assumptions on the part of management. Estimates are based on historical experience, knowledge of economic and market factors and various other assumptions that management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from those estimates. The following summary of critical accounting policies and estimates highlights those areas of significant judgment in the application of our accounting policies that affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Revenue Recognition

Effective January 1, 2018, we recognize revenues in accordance with Accounting Standard Update ASU 2014-09 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASU 2014-09”), as amended. ASU 2014-09 was codified in the Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) as topic 606 (“ASC 606”). The core principle of ASU 2014-09 is that revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of promised products or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to receive in exchange for those products or services. To determine the appropriate amount of revenue to be recognized for arrangements determined to be within the scope of ASU 2014-09, for each customer contract, we performed the following five steps:

| 1. | Identify the contract with a customer;

| 2. | Identify the performance obligations in the contract;

| 3. | Determine the transaction price;

| 4. | Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and

| 5. | Recognize revenue when or as the Company satisfies a performance obligation.

We account for a contract with a customer that is within the scope of ASC 606 when all of the following criteria are met: (i) the arrangement has been approved by the parties and the parties are committed to perform their respective obligations, (ii) each party's rights regarding the goods or services to be transferred can be identified, (iii) the payment terms for the goods or services to be transferred can be identified, (iv) the arrangement has commercial substance and (v) collection of substantially all of the consideration to which the Company will be entitled in exchange for the goods or services that will be transferred to the customer is probable.

Performance obligations promised in a contract are identified based on the services and the products that will be transferred to the customer that are both capable of being distinct, whereby the customer can benefit from the service either on its own or together with other resources that are readily available from third parties or from us, and are distinct in the context of the contract, whereby the transfer of the services and the products is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract. Our performance obligations consist of (i) sales of communication equipment with embedded software, (ii) provision of installation and commission service, and (iii) provision of annual maintenance service. The software component is not considered distinct as the software component is integral to the functionality of the communication equipment.

The transaction price is determined based on the consideration to which we expect to be entitled in exchange for transferring services to the customer. Some sales agreements have performance guarantees covering a certain timeframe. If there is an underperformance event, we may incur liquidation damages as a percentage of the total purchase price. Such performance guarantees represent a form of variable consideration and are estimated at the contact inception at the best estimate and updated at the end of each reporting period as additional performance data becomes available and only to the extent that it is probably that a significant reversal of any revenue will not occur. Variable consideration includes estimates for sales credits, which are based on historical level and specific criteria outlined in the sales contracts, and other factors known at the time. We generally invoice customers for equipment and services upon meeting certain milestones. Customer invoices are generally due within 30 to 90 days after issuance. Our contracts with customers typically do not include significant financing components as the period between the transfer of performance obligations and timing of payment are generally within one year.

We allocate the transaction price based on the estimated standalone selling price. We develop assumptions that require judgment to determine the standalone selling price for each performance obligation identified in the contract. We utilize key assumptions to determine the standalone selling price, which may include other comparable transactions, pricing considered in negotiating the transaction and the estimated costs. Certain variable consideration is allocated specifically to one or more performance obligations in a contract when the terms of the variable consideration relate to the satisfaction of the performance obligation and the resulting amounts allocated to each performance obligation are consistent with the amounts the Company would expect to receive for satisfying each performance obligation.

Revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of promised goods or services at an amount that reflects the

34

consideration that is expected to be received in exchange for those goods or services. For performance obligatio ns, we utilize judgment to assess the nature of combined performance obligation determine whether a performance obligation is satisfied over time or at a point in time.

Revenue from sales of communication equipment is recognized at a point in time, which is generally upon delivery. Revenue from provision of installation and commission service is recognized at a point in time when the service is completed. Revenue from provision of annual maintenance services is recognized over time on a ratable basis over the contract term.

Operating Leases

At the inception of each arrangement, we determine if the arrangement is a lease or contains an embedded lease and review the facts and circumstances of the arrangement to classify lease assets as operating or finance leases under the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases Topic 842 (“ASU 2016-02”).

We lease office space under operating lease agreements with initial lease terms up to five years. We have entered into various non-cancelable operating lease agreements for our offices. The leases have original lease periods expiring between 2019 to 2023 and some of these lease agreements have options to extend the lease terms for an additional period subject to mutual negotiations and agreements with the lessors. We considered all renewal options that were reasonably certain to be exercised and are considered in determining the lease term at the inception of the lease.

We measures lease liabilities based on the present value of the total remaining lease payments. To determine the present value of future minimum lease payments, we used the implicit rate when readily determinable. When the implicit rate is not available, we applies its incremental borrowing rate, which is the estimated rate we would be required to pay for a collateralized borrowing equal to the total lease payments over the term of the lease. We estimates our incremental borrowing rate based on an analysis of publicly traded debt securities of companies with credit and financial profiles similar to our own.

Restructuring Liabilities, Litigation and Other Contingencies

We account for our restructuring plans using the guidance provided in ASC 420 “Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations” and ASC 712 “Compensation-Nonretirement Postemployment Benefits.” We account for litigation and contingencies in accordance with ASC 450, “Contingencies”, which requires that we record an estimated loss from a loss contingency when information available prior to issuance of our financial statements indicates that it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability has been incurred at the date of the financial statements and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense for all share-based payment awards granted is determined based on the grant-date fair value. Stock-based compensation expense for restricted stock awards is measured based on the closing fair market value of our ordinary share on the date of grant. Stock-based compensation expense for stock options is estimated at the grant date based on each option’s fair value as calculated by the Black-Scholes option pricing model, or Black-Scholes model. Stock-based compensation is expensed ratably on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting term of the share-based payment awards. The performance-based restricted stock units are subject to the attainment of goals determined by the Compensation Committee of our board of directors. We record the relevant stock-based compensation for the performance-based restricted stock units based on the probability of meeting the performance conditions.

Determining the appropriate fair value model and calculating the fair value of share-based payment awards require the input of subjective assumptions, including the expected term of the share-based payment awards and stock volatility. We estimate an expected term of options granted based on our historical exercise and cancellation data for vested options. We use historical volatility as management believes it is more representative of future stock price trends than implied volatility due to the relatively small number of actively traded options on our ordinary shares available to determine implied volatility. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of share-based payment awards represent management’s best estimates, but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and compensation expense could be materially different in the future. Because changes in the subjective assumptions can materially affect the estimated value, in management’s opinion, the existing valuation models may not provide an accurate measure of the fair value of our employee stock options. In addition, we are required to estimate the expected forfeiture rate and recognize expense only for those shares expected to vest. If our actual forfeiture rate is materially different from our estimate, the stock-based compensation expense could be significantly different from what we have recorded in the current period.

We account for equity instruments issued to consultants and vendors in exchange for goods and services following the provisions of ASC 505-50, “Equity-Based Payments to Non-Employees” (formerly FASB Staff Positions Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 96-18 and 00-18). The measurement date for the fair value of the equity instruments issued is determined at the earlier of (i) the date at which a commitment for performance by the consultant or vendor is reached or (ii) the date at which the consultant or vendor’s performance is complete. In the case of equity instruments issued to consultants, the fair value of the equity instrument is recognized over the term of the consulting agreement.

35

Product Warranty

We provide a warranty on our equipment for a period generally ranging from one to two years from the time of final acceptance. At times, we have entered into arrangements to provide limited warranty services for periods longer than two years. We provide for the expected cost of product warranties at the time that revenue is recognized based on an assessment of past warranty experience and when specific circumstances dictate. We assess the adequacy of our recorded warranty liability every quarter and make adjustments to the liabilities if necessary. Specific warranty accruals are reversed upon the expiration of the warranty period and are recorded as reduction of cost of sales. From time to time, we may be subject to additional costs related to non-standard warranty claims from our customers. If and when this occurs, we estimate additional accruals based on historical experience, communication with our customers and various assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Such additional warranty accruals are recorded in the period in which the additional costs are identified.

Receivables

Although we evaluate customer credit worthiness prior to a sale, we provide an allowance for doubtful accounts for the estimated loss on trade and notes receivable when collection may no longer be reasonably assured. We assess collectability of receivables based on a number of factors including analysis of creditworthiness, our customer’s historical payment history and current economic conditions, our ability to collect payment and on the length of time an individual receivable balance is outstanding. Our policy for determining the allowance for doubtful accounts includes both specific allowances for balances known to be uncollectible and a formula-based portfolio approach, based on aging of the accounts receivable, as a precursor to a management review of the overall allowance for doubtful accounts. This formula-based approach involves aging of our accounts receivable and applying a percentage based on our historical experience, and results in the allowance being computed based on the aging of the receivables. We evaluate the percentages applied to each category of aged accounts receivable periodically based on actual history of write-offs and collections and refine this formula-based approach accordingly for use in future periods. Receivable balances are written-off when we have sufficient evidence to indicate that they are uncollectible.

Inventories

Inventories consist of product held at our manufacturing facility and warehouses, as well as finished goods at customer sites for which the customer has taken possession, but based on specific contractual terms, title has not yet passed to the customer. We may ship inventory to existing customers that require additional equipment to expand their existing networks prior to the signing of an expansion contract. Our inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market value, based on the FIFO method of accounting. Reserves are based on our assumptions about future market conditions and customer demand, including projected changes in average selling prices resulting from competitive pricing pressures. We continually monitor inventory valuation for potential losses and obsolete inventory at our manufacturing facilities as well as at customer sites. If actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management, additional reserves may be required. If actual market conditions are more favorable than anticipated, inventory previously reserved may be sold to customers, resulting in lower cost of sales and higher income from operations than expected in that period.

Deferred Costs

Deferred costs is the unamortized cost of post-contract customer support over a period of time of certain legacy contracts and we amortize the deferred revenue and related costs of goods sold over the post-contract support period.

Income Taxes

We are subject to income taxes in both the United States and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in evaluating our tax positions and determining the provision for income taxes. During the ordinary course of business, there are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. We recognize the tax benefit (expense) from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. We recognize interest expense and penalties related to income tax matters as part of the provision for income taxes.

We recognize deferred income taxes as the difference between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their financial statement amounts based on enacted tax rates. Management judgment is required in the assessment of the recoverability of our deferred tax assets based on its assessment of projected taxable income. Numerous factors could affect our results of operations in the future. If there is a significant decline in our future operating results, management’s assessment of the recoverability of our deferred tax assets would need to be revised, and any such adjustment to our deferred tax assets would be charged to income in that period. If necessary, we record a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to an amount which management believes is more likely than not to be realized. Changes in estimates of taxable income in the future could result in reversal of the valuation allowances which would be credited to income in the year of reversal.

On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (the “Cares Act”) became law in the United States to provide certain tax incentives with the aim of mitigate the related economic harm for businesses. We are currently evaluating the benefit these tax incentives might have on the consolidated financial statements.

36

Investments

Our investments consist principally of bank notes, debt and equity securities classified as available for sale and cost and equity investment in privately held companies. The investments in equity securities of privately held companies in which we hold less than 20% voting interest and on which we do not have the ability to exercise significant influence are accounted for under ASC 325, “ Investments-Other” using the cost method. Under the cost method, these investments are carried at cost less impairment, if any. The investments in equity securities of privately held companies in which we hold at least 20% but less than 50% voting interests, and on which we have the ability to exercise significant influence are accounted for under ASC 323, “Investments-Equity Method and Joint Ventures” using the equity method. Investments in debt securities that are classified as available for sale are measured at fair value on the balance sheets under ASC 320, Investments-Debt and Equity Securities. Unrealized holding gains and losses for available-for-sale securities (including those classified as current assets) will be excluded from earnings and reported in other comprehensive income until realized except as indicated in the following paragraph.

We recognize an impairment charge when a decline in the fair value of its investments below the cost basis is judged to be other-than-temporary. In making this determination, we review several factors to determine whether the losses are other-than-temporary, including but not limited to: (i) the length of time the investment was in an unrealized loss position, (ii) the extent to which fair value was less than cost, (iii) the financial condition and near term prospects of the issuer, and (iv) our intent and ability to hold the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value. The determination of fair value of the investment involves considering factors such as current economic and market conditions, the operating performance of the companies including current earnings trends and forecasted cash flows, and other company and industry specific information. Investment impairments recorded as other-than-temporary were nil, $0.4 million, and $1.7 million, for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We review our long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If undiscounted expected future cash flows are less than the carrying value of the assets, an impairment loss is recognized based on the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of the assets. Long-lived assets that are to be disposed of by sale are measured at the lower of book value or fair value less cost to sell.

Advances

Advances from customers represent cash received from customers before revenue recognition for the purchase of the Company’s products.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

See Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included under Item 18 of this Annual Report on Form 20-F for a full description of recent accounting pronouncements, including the expected dates of adoption and estimated effects on results of operations and financial condition, which is incorporated herein by reference.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Our reporting segments are as follows:

| • | Equipment-Sales of equipment, including network infrastructure and application products. Network infrastructure products mainly include broadband products. Network application products mainly include wireless infrastructure technologies.

| • | Services-Providing services and support for our equipment products and also the new operational support segment.

The comparison of 2018 and 2017 financials position and results of operations and related discussions was in “Item 5—Results of Operations” included in the annual report for the year ended December 31, 2018 on the form of 20-F, which was not incorporated in this annual report.

37

Net Sales

|  | Years Ended December 31,
|  |  |  |  |  | % of |  |  |  |  |  |  |  | % of |  |
|  |  |  |  |  | net |  |  |  |  |  |  |  | net |  |
Sales by Segment |  | 2019 |  |  | sales |  |  |  | 2018 |  |  | sales |  |
|  | (in thousands, except percentages)
Equipment |  | $ | 43,722 |  |  | 67 | % |  |  | $ | 97,680 |  |  | 84 | % |
Services |  |  | 21,901 |  |  | 33 | % |  |  |  | 18,264 |  |  | 16 | % |
Total |  | $ | 65,623 |  |  | 100 | % |  |  | $ | 115,944 |  |  | 100 | % |
Net Sales by Region |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
China |  | $ | 2,439 |  |  |  | 4 | % |  |  | $ | 3,146 |  |  | 3 | % |
India |  |  | 37,206 |  |  |  | 57 | % |  |  |  | 70,106 |  |  | 60 | % |
Japan |  |  | 21,761 |  |  |  | 33 | % |  |  |  | 35,504 |  |  | 31 | % |
Taiwan |  |  | 3,515 |  |  |  | 5 | % |  |  |  | 6,445 |  |  | 6 | % |
Other |  |  | 702 |  |  |  | 1 | % |  |  | 743 |  |  | 1 | % |
Total |  | $ | 65,623 |  |  | 100 | % |  |  | $ | 115,944 |  |  | 100 | % |

Fiscal 2019 vs. 2018

%

Net sales decreased by 43.4% to $65.6 million for 2019 as compared to $115.9 million for 2018.

Sales from equipment were $43.7 million for 2019, a decrease of $54.0 million compared to $97.7 million for 2018. The decrease was mainly due to the completion of projects in India, which contributed a significant amount of revenue in the prior year period.

Sales from services were $21.9 million for 2019, an increase of $3.6 million compared to $18.3 million during 2018. The increase was primarily contributed from service maintenance revenue from India.

Cost of Sales

|  | Years Ended December 31,
Cost of |  |  |  |  |  | % of |  |  |  |  |  |  | % of |
Sales by |  |  |  |  |  | net |  |  |  |  |  |  | net |
Segment |  | 2019 |  |  | sales |  |  | 2018 |  |  | sales |
| (in thousands, except percentages)
Equipment |  | $ | 29,566 |  |  | 68 | % |  | $ | 72,082 |  |  | 74 | %
Services |  |  | 11,900 |  |  | 54 | % |  |  | 11,594 |  |  | 63 | %
Total |  | $ | 41,466 |  |  | 63 | % |  | $ | 83,676 |  |  | 72 | %

Cost of sales consists primarily of material and labor costs associated with manufacturing, assembly and testing of products, costs associated with installation and customer training, warranty costs, fees to agents, inventory and contract loss provisions and overhead. Cost of sales also includes import taxes and tariffs on components and assemblies.

Fiscal 2019 vs. 2018

Cost of sales was $41.5 million, or 63% of net sales for 2019 compared to $83.7 million, or 72% of net sales, for 2018. The cost of sales percentage in 2019 was a slight lower due to increased percentages of total sales in Japan where the margin was higher.

38

Cost of sales from equipment was $29.6 million, or 68% of net sales, for 2019, compared to $72.1 million, or 74% of net sales for 2018.

Cost of sales from services were $11.9 million, or 54% of net sales, for 2019, compared to $11.6 million, 63% of net sales for 2018.

Gross Profit

|  | Years Ended December 31,
|  |  |  |  |  | Gross |  |  |  |  |  |  |  | Gross |
|  |  |  |  |  | Profit |  |  |  |  |  |  |  | Profit |
Gross profit by Segment |  | 2019 |  |  | % |  |  |  | 2018 |  |  | % |
|  | (in thousands, except percentages)
Equipment |  | $ | 14,156 |  |  |  | 32 |  | % |  | $ | 25,598 |  |  | 26 | %
Services |  |  | 10,001 |  |  |  | 46 |  | % |  |  | 6,670 |  |  | 37 | %
Total |  | $ | 24,157 |  |  |  | 37 |  | % |  | $ | 32,268 |  |  | 28 | %

Our gross profit has been affected by changes in average selling prices, material costs, product mix, the impact of warranty charges and contract loss provisions, as well as inventory reserve. Our gross profit, as a percentage of net sales, varies among our product families. We expect that our overall gross profit, as a percentage of net sales, will fluctuate in the future as a result of shifts in product mix and stages of the product life cycle.

Fiscal 2019 vs. 2018

Gross profit was $24.2 million, or 37% of net sales, for 2019, compared to $32.3 million, or 28% of net sales, for 2018.

Sales of equipment had a gross profit of $14.2 million, with a gross profit margin of 32%, for 2019, as compared to a gross profit of $25.6 million, with a gross profit margin of 26% for 2018. The increase in gross margin in 2019 was due to a higher percentage of total sales from Japan where the margin was higher.

Sales of service earned a gross profit of $10.0 million, or 46% of net sales of Services for 2019, compared to gross profit of $6.7 million, or 37% for 2018. The increase was primarily due to service product mix.

Operating Expenses

The following table summarizes our operating expenses:

|  | Years Ended December 31,
|  |  |  |  |  | % of |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |  | net |  |  |  |  |  |  | % of net |
|  | 2019 |  |  | sales |  |  | 2018 |  |  | sales |
| (in thousands, except percentages)
Selling, general and administrative |  | $ | 15,827 |  |  | 24 | % |  | $ | 15,156 |  |  | 13 | %
Research and development |  |  | 14,467 |  |  | 22 | % |  |  | 12,745 |  |  | 11 | %
Total operating expenses |  | $ | 30,294 |  |  | 46 | % |  | $ | 27,901 |  |  | 24 | %

Selling, general and administrative expenses, or SG&A, include compensation and benefits, professional fees, sales commissions, provision for doubtful accounts receivable and travel and entertainment costs. Research and development, or R&D, expenses consist primarily of compensation and benefits of employees engaged in research, design and development activities, cost of parts for prototypes, related equipment depreciation and third party development expenses. We believe that continued and prudent investment in R&D is critical to our long-term success, and we continue to evaluate appropriate investment levels.

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE

Fiscal 2019 vs. 2018

SG&A expenses were $15.8 million for 2019, an increase of 4.4 %, or $0.7 million, as compared to $15.2 million for 2018. The increase was mainly attributable to a higher account receivable allowance provided during the period for our India customer, partially offset by the decreased expenses from continued tight cost controls.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

39

Fiscal 2019 vs. 2018

R&D expenses were $14.5 million in 2019, an increase of 13.5%, or $1.7 million, compared to $12.7 million in 2018. The increase was due to our continuing investment in 5G technology and product development.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSE

The following table summarizes the stock-based compensation expense in our consolidated statement of operations:

|  | Years Ended December 31,
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |  |
|  | (in thousands)
Cost of net sales |  | $ | 136 |  |  | $ | 66 |  |
Selling, general and administrative |  | 985 |  |  | 901 |  |
Research and development |  | 278 |  |  | 130 |  |
Total |  | $ | 1,399 |  |  | $ | 1,097 |  |

As of December 31, 2019, there was approximately $1.5 million of total unrecognized compensation cost, as measured, related to unvested stock options and restricted stock and restricted stock units. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.69 years.

Fiscal 2019 vs. 2018

Stock-based compensation expense was $1.4 million in 2019, increasing 27.5%, or $0.3 million, compared to $1.1 million in 2018. The increase was primarily due to higher employee participation in 2018 and 2019.

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)

INTEREST INCOME

Fiscal 2019 vs. 2018

Interest income was $1.3 million and $1.7 million for 2019 and 2018, respectively. The decrease in interest income for 2019 was a result of decreasing amount of cash and cash equivalents.

INTEREST EXPENSE

Fiscal 2019 vs. 2018

Interest expense was $0.1 million and $0.1 million for 2019 and 2018, respectively. The change in interest expense for 2019 as compared to 2018 was immaterial.

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE), NET

Fiscal 2019 vs. 2018

Other income, net was $0.9 million for 2019 and primarily consisted of a $3.2 million gain from reversal of an aged account payable balance and a $1.2 million gain from the reversal of FASB Interpretation No. (“FIN”) 45 reserve due to expiration of a statute of limitations, partially offset by a $3.9 million unrealized loss on foreign exchange.

Other expense, net was $0.6 million for 2018 and primarily consisted of a $2.6 million loss on foreign exchange, a $0.5 million gain from reversal of water conservancy fund in China, and a $0.9 million gain on liquidation of subsidiary.

INVESTMENT IMPAIRMENT

Fiscal 2019 vs. 2018

Investment impairment was nil and $0.4 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively. Please see Note 6 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included under Part III, Item 18 of this Annual Report on Form 20-F.

EQUITY GAIN (LOSS)

40

Fiscal 2019 vs. 2018

Equity losses were nil and $0.6 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (BENEFIT)

FASB ASC 740-10 establishes criteria for recognizing or continuing to recognize only more-likely-than-not tax positions, which may result in income tax expense volatility in future periods. While we believe that we have adequately provided for all tax positions, amounts asserted by taxing authorities could be greater than our accrued position. Accordingly, additional provisions on income tax related matters could be recorded in the future as revised estimates are made or the underlying matters are settled or otherwise resolved.

For a full reconciliation of our effective tax rate to the U.S. federal statutory rate of 21% and further explanation of our provision for taxes, see Note 11 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included under Part III, Item 18, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Fiscal 2019 vs. 2018

Income tax benefit was $0.03 million in 2019, decreasing $0.3 million, from $0.4 million of income tax expense in 2018. The decrease in income tax benefit in 2019 as compared with 2018 was primarily due to the income tax benefit of FIN48 reverse release decreased significantly and the income tax expenses of Taiwan increased due to the valuation allowance applied on deferred tax assets. Our effective tax rate was 0.8% in 2019, compared to 7.1% in 2018, primarily due to the fluctuations of income before income taxes between the years.

Net Income (loss)

As a result of the foregoing, net loss was $3.9 million, and net income was $4.8 million and $7.0 million in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Foreign Currency Risk

See “Item 11. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk-Foreign Exchange Rate Risk” for information regarding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on us.

Government Policies

For information regarding governmental economic, fiscal, monetary or political policies or factors that have materially affected, or could materially affect, our operations or our shareholders’ investments, see “Item 3. Key Information-D. Risk Factors-Risks Relating to Conducting Business in China” and “Item 10. Additional Information-E. Taxation.”

B. | Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table sets forth a summary of our cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash as of the dates indicated.

|  | December 31, |  |  | December 31, |  |  |  |  |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |  |  | Change |
| (in thousands) |
Cash and cash equivalents |  | $ | 34,966 |  |  | $ | 57,049 |  |  | $ | (22,083 | )
Restricted cash |  |  | 13,641 |  |  |  | 16,651 |  |  |  | (3,010 | )
Total |  | $ | 48,607 |  |  | $ | 73,700 |  |  | $ | (25,093 | )

The following table sets forth a summary of our cash flows for the periods indicated:

|  | Years Ended December 31,
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |  |
|  | (in thousands)
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities |  | $ | (24,147 | ) |  | $ | (26,106 | ) |
Cash provided by(used in) investing activities(1) |  |  | (507 | ) |  |  | 2,245 |  |
Cash used in financing activities |  |  | (993 | ) |  |  | (2,424 | ) |
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents |  |  | 554 |  |  |  | (701 | ) |
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (1) |  | $ | (25,093 | ) |  | $ | (26,986 | ) |

41

(1) We adopted ASU2016-18 in 2018, and retrospectively adjusted 2017 balances.

Cash and cash equivalents, consisting primarily of bank deposits and money market funds, are recorded at cost which approximates fair value because of the short-term nature of these instruments. As of December 31, 2019, cash and cash equivalents of approximately $3.1 million, $19.3 million and $1.7 million were held by our subsidiaries in China, Japan and the U.S., respectively.

The PRC government imposes currency exchange controls on “non-current accounts” in China. Regulations in China permit foreign owned entities to freely convert the RMB into foreign currency for transactions that fall under the “current account,” which includes trade related receipts and payments. Accordingly, our PRC subsidiaries may use RMB to purchase foreign exchange for settlement of such “current account” transactions without pre- approval. However, pursuant to applicable regulations, foreign-invested enterprises in China may pay dividends only out of their accumulated profits, if any, determined in accordance with PRC accounting standards and regulations. In calculating accumulated profits, foreign investment enterprises in China are required to allocate at least 10% of their accumulated profits each year, if any, to fund certain reserve funds unless these reserves have reached 50% of the registered capital of the enterprises.

Other transactions that involve conversion of RMB into foreign currency are classified as “capital account” transactions; examples of “capital account” transactions include repatriations of investments by or loans to foreign owners, or direct equity investments in a foreign entity by a China domiciled entity. “Capital account” transactions will be examined and registered by banks in China to convert a remittance into a foreign currency, such as U.S. dollars, and transmit the foreign currency outside of China. As a result of these and other restrictions under PRC laws and regulations, our China subsidiaries are restricted in their ability to transfer a portion of their net assets to the parent.

2019 Cash Flows

Net cash used in operating activities during 2019 was $24.1 million. During the year ended December 31, 2019, our operating activities were significantly affected by the following:

| • | Net loss of $3.9 million adjusted by non-cash income items, mainly including $1.2 million gain from reversal of FASB Interpretation No. (“FIN”) 45 reserve due to expiration of the related statute of limitation , $3.2 million gain from recovery of account payable and $0.5 million changes in deferred income taxes, partially offset by non-cash charges, including $0.6 million of depreciation, $1.9 million of lease amortization, $1.4 million of share based compensation, $4.4 million provision for doubtful accounts receivable.

| • | Changes in operating assets and liabilities used net cash of $23.8 million. The cash inflow included $20.2 million from inventory and deferred cost, $0.5 million from income tax payable and $3.2 million from other liabilities, offset by the cash outflow of $21.6 million from account receivable, $3.6 million from prepaid and other assets, $19.9 million from account payable, $0.4 million from customer advances and $2.3 million from deferred revenue.

Net cash used in investing activities during 2019 was $0.5 million, including cash inflows of $0.04 million of proceeds from sale of a short-term investment, partially offset by the cash outflow of $0.5 million for purchase of property, plant and equipment and $0.04 million for purchase of short-term investment.

Net cash used in financing activities during 2019 was $1.0 million, consisted of $1.0 million for repurchases of ordinary shares, $4.6 million for borrowing and repayments of loans and $0.06 million of proceeds from exercise of stock options. See Note 9 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included under Part III, Item 18 of this Annual on Form 20-F for additional discussion.

2018 Cash Flows

Net cash used in operating activities during 2018 was $26.1 million. During the year ended December 31, 2018, our operating activities were significantly affected by the following:

| • | Net income of $4.8 million adjusted by non-cash income items, mainly including $2.5 million in tax provision reversals, $0.02 million gain on disposal of assets, $0.9 million gain on liquidation of a subsidiary, partially offset by non-cash charges, including $0.7 million in changes in deferred income taxes, $0.7 million of depreciation, $0.4 million of investment impairment, $1.1 million in share based compensation, $0.6 million in equity losses from associates, $0.8 million provision for doubtful accounts receivable.

| • | Changes in operating assets and liabilities used net cash of $31.7 million. The cash inflow included $6.6 million from inventory and deferred cost, $5.5 million from prepaids and other assets, $23.2 million from account payable, offset by the cash outflow of $44.8 million from account receivable, $6.0 million from customer advances and $4.9 million from deferred revenue, $10.4 million from other liabilities, $0.9 million from income tax payable.

42

Net cash provided by investing activities during 2018 was $2.2 million, including cash inflows of $3.1 million from proceeds of the short-term investment, partially offset by the cash outflow of $0.2 million purchasing of property, plant and equipment and $0.7 mill ion of acquisition uSTAR (net of cash acquired).

Net cash used in financing activities during 2018 was $2.4 million, consisted of $2.5 million for repurchases of ordinary shares and $0.1 million from proceeds from exercise of stock options. See Note 9 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included under Part III, Item 18 of this Annual Report on Form 20-F for additional discussion.

Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts Receivable increased by $17.1 million to $77.8 million as of December 31, 2019 from $60.7 million as of December 31, 2018. As of December 31, 2019, our allowance for doubtful accounts was $6.5 million on gross receivable of $84.3 million. The significant increase in Accounts Receivable was from India in 2019. We provided a $6.1 million allowance for doubtful accounts for our main customer in India. See “Item 3. Key Information-D. Risk Factors-Risks Related to Our Business.”

Inventories and Deferred Costs

The following table summarizes our inventories and deferred costs:

|  | December 31, |  |  | December 31, |  |  | Increase/ |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |  |  | (Decrease) |
|  | (in thousands) |
Inventories: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Raw materials |  | $ | 2,362 |  |  | $ | 1,665 |  |  | $ | 697 |
Work in process |  |  | 1,285 |  |  |  | 2,992 |  |  |  | (1,707 | )
Finished goods |  |  | 2,495 |  |  |  | 21,731 |  |  |  | (19,236 | )
Total inventories |  | $ | 6,142 |  |  | $ | 26,388 |  |  | $ | (20,246 | )
Short-term deferred costs |  | $ | 513 |  |  | $ | 449 |  |  | $ | 64 |

Inventories consist of product held at our manufacturing facility and warehouses, as well as finished goods at customer sites for which the customer has taken possession, but based on specific contractual terms, title has not yet passed to the customer. Finished goods at customer sites were approximately $0.6 million and $14.4 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

There were no significant inventory write-offs in 2019, 2018 and 2017.

The deferred cost balance is the unamortized cost of post-contract customer support over a period of time of certain legacy contracts and we amortize the deferred revenue and related costs of goods sold over the post-contract support period.

LIQUIDITY

We recorded net loss of $3.9 million and operating loss of $6.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. We recorded net income of $4.8 million and an operating income of $4.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. Our accumulated deficit increased from $1,212.8 million as of December 31, 2018 to $1,216.7 million as of December 31, 2019.

Net cash used in operating activities was $24.1 million in 2019, and net cash used in operating activities were $26.1 million in 2018, respectively. As of December 31, 2019, we had cash and cash equivalents of $35.0 million, of which $3.1 million was held by our subsidiaries in China. The amount of cash available for transfer from the PRC subsidiaries for use by our non-PRC subsidiaries is limited both by the liquidity needs of the subsidiaries in China and by PRC-government mandated limitations including currency exchange controls on transfers of funds outside of China.

We have controlled our operating expenses over years, while R&D expenses increased over that period. Our management believes that the continuing efforts to stream-line our operations will enable our fixed cost base to be better aligned with operations, market demand and projected sales level. If projected sales do not materialize, we will need to take further actions to reduce costs and expenses or explore other cost reduction options. Our management believes that both our PRC and non-PRC operations will have enough liquidity to finance working capital and capital expenditure needs for more than of 12 months subsequent to the date our financial statements are issued. However, we have concentrated our business in Asia, particularly Japan, India and China. Any unforeseen prolonged economic and/or political risk in these markets, outbreak of the health crisis of COVID-19 could affect our customers in making their respective investment decisions and could have a material impact on the foregoing assessment. There can be no assurance that additional financing, if required, will be available on terms satisfactory to us or at all, and if funds are raised in the future through issuance of preference shares or debt, these securities could have rights, privileges or preference senior to those of our ordinary shares and newly issued debt could contain debt covenants that impose restrictions on our operations. Further, any sale of newly issued debt or equity securities could result in additional dilution to our current shareholders.

43

C. | Research and Development, Patents and Licenses

We believe that an integral part of our future success will depend on our ability to develop and enhance our services. Our product development efforts and strategies consist of incorporating new technologies from third parties as well as continuing to develop our own proprietary technology.

We have utilized and will continue to utilize the products and services of third parties to enhance our platform of technologies and services to provide competitive and diverse IP-based network solutions to our users. In addition, we plan to continue to expand our technologies, products and services through products and services developed internally. We will seek to continually improve and enhance our existing services to respond to rapidly evolving competitive and technological conditions. For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, we spent $14.5 million, $12.7 million, and $9.9 million, respectively, on R&D activities. R&D expenses are expensed as incurred.

D. | Trend Information

Although we experience some seasonality typical of the telecommunications industry, such as seasonally weak first quarters, our revenues and earnings have not demonstrated consistent seasonal characteristics.

For a discussion of significant recent trends in our financial condition and results of operations, please see “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects-A. Operating Results” and “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects-B. Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

E. | Off-Balance Sheet Commitments and Arrangements

As of and during the year ended December 31, 2019, we had no off balance sheet arrangements.

F. | Contractual Obligations and Other Commercial Commitments

The following table summarizes our significant contractual obligations as of December 31, 2019:

|  | Payments Due by Period |
|  |  |  |  |  | Less than |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  | More than |
|  | Total |  |  | 1 year |  |  | 1-3 years |  |  | 3-5 years |  |  | 5 years |
| (in thousands) |
Outstanding letters of credit |  | $ | 13,640 |  |  | $ | 10,007 |  |  | $ | 3,083 |  |  | $ | 338 |  |  | $ | 212 |
Purchase commitments |  |  | 48,320 |  |  |  | 45,080 |  |  |  | 2,836 |  |  | 404 |  |  |  | — |
Total |  | $ | 61,960 |  |  | $ | 55,087 |  |  | $ | 5,919 |  |  | $ | 742 |  |  | $ | 212 |

Letters of credit

We issue standby letters of credit primarily to support international sales activities outside of China and in support of purchase commitments. When we submit a bid for a sale, often the potential customer will require that we issue a bid bond or a standby letter of credit to demonstrate our commitment through the bid process. In addition, we may be required to issue standby letters of credit as guarantees for advance customer payments upon contract signing or performance guarantees. The standby letters of credit usually expire six to twelve months from date of issuance without being drawn by the beneficiary thereof. As of December 31, 2019, our outstanding letters of credit approximated $13.6 million. These balances are included in the balance of Short-term restricted cash and Long-term restricted cash.

Purchase commitments

We are obligated to purchase raw materials and work-in-process inventory under various orders from various suppliers, all of which should be fulfilled without adverse consequences material to our operations or financial condition.

Intellectual property

Certain sales contracts include provisions under which customers would be indemnified by us in the event of, among other things, a third-party claim against the customer for intellectual property rights infringement related to our products. There are no limitations on the maximum potential future payments under these guarantees. We have not accrued any amounts in relation to these provisions as no such claims have been made and we believe we have valid enforceable rights to the intellectual property embedded in our products.

44

Uncertain tax positions

As of December 31, 2019, we had $15.5 million of gross unrecognized tax benefits, of which $0.5 million related to tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the annual effective tax rate. The remaining $15.0 million gross unrecognized tax benefits, if recognized, would affect certain deferred tax assets and federal tax benefit of state income tax.

G. | Safe Harbor

This Annual Report on Form 20-F contains forward-looking statements regarding future events and our future results that are subject to the safe harbors created under the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Forward-looking statements are based on current expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections about us, our future performance and the industries in which we operate, the potential impact of COVID-19 as well as on our management’s assumptions and beliefs. Such statements relate to, among other things:

| • | our business expectations regarding contract awards and telecom carriers;

| • | our plan to expand our market position in IP-based and broadband products;

| • | our expectations regarding the growth rates and telecom capital expenditure budgets of certain geographic regions;

| • | our anticipation regarding the growth of China’s gross domestic product;

| • | our plan to grow in certain geographic regions; our expectations regarding growth in certain segments, uncertainties in obtaining future contracts in India; our intention to make significant investment in research and development, or R&D;

| • | our anticipation regarding our new products on the cable market;

| • | our expected financial results;

| • | our expectations about our efforts to streamline our operations, new accounting pronouncements, liquidity and access to credit facilities and cash in our China subsidiary; sufficiency of liquidity and our ability to obtain funding or sell additional securities;

| • | our relationships with suppliers, vendors and clients; our expectation regarding the current economic environment;

| • | our expectation regarding the impact of our strategy and the PRC government’s policies on our financial results;

| • | changes in our board of directors and management;

| • | our expectations regarding litigation and the impact of legal proceedings and claims;

| • | our expectations that quarterly operating results will fluctuate from quarter to quarter; our expectations regarding competition and our ability to compete successfully in the markets for our products; our expectations regarding industry trends;

| • | our expectations that average selling prices of our products will continue to be subject to significant pricing pressures; our expectations regarding future growth based on market acceptance of our products; our expectations regarding revenue and gross margin; our expectations regarding the growth in business and operations;

| • | our expectations regarding our multinational operations; our ability to attract and retain highly skilled employees;

| • | our plans regarding the effect of foreign exchange rates; our expectations regarding acquisitions and investments;

| • | our continued efforts relating to the protections of our intellectual property, including claims of patent infringement;

| • | our expectations regarding future impairment review of our goodwill, intangible assets, and other long-lived assets;

| • | our expectations regarding costs of complying with environmental, health and safety laws; our expectations regarding defects in our products;

| • | our expectations regarding the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting;

45

| • | our estimations regarding stock-based compensation;

| • | our plans regarding cash dividends; and our expectations regarding our facilities and the sufficiency of our facilities.

Statements that contain words like “expects,” “anticipates,” “may,” “will,” “targets,” “projects,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “seeks,” “estimates,” or variations of such words and similar expressions are also forward-looking statements.

Readers are cautioned that these forward-looking statements are only predictions and are subject to risks and uncertainties related to, among other things, our ability to execute on our business plan and implement certain restructuring actions, China’s control of currency exchanges, ongoing litigation, our ability to introduce and deploy IP-based technologies and products, our ability to satisfy certain security and supply chain standards in India, impact of economic and/or political risks in Asia on our customers’ investment decisions, the number of competitors and the composition of competitors, additional warranty expense and inventory reserves, availability of future financing, our ability to manage our resources and other items discussed in Part I, “Item 3. Key Information-D. Risk Factors” of this Annual Report on Form 20-F. Therefore, actual results may differ materially and adversely from those expressed in any forward-looking statements. We do not guarantee future results, and actual results, developments and business decisions may differ from those contemplated by the forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to update these forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances occurring after the date of this Form 20-F.

ITEM 6-DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES

A. | Directors and Senior Management

The following table sets forth information about our directors and executive officers as of the date of this annual report. The business address of all of our directors and executive officers is 4th Floor, South Wing, 368 Liuhe Road, Binjiang District, Hangzhou, P.R. China.

Name |  | Age |  | Position
Tim Ti |  | 55 |  | Chief Executive Officer and Board Director (on sick leave)
Zhaochen Huang |  | 57 |  | Senior Vice President of Sales and Business Development for Japan and Korea / Acting Chief Executive Officer
Eric Lam |  | 70 |  | Vice President, Finance
Steven Chen |  | 47 |  | Senior Vice President, Product Development
Lingrong Lu |  | 47 |  | Vice President of Optical Network Systems R&D
Yongqing Yan |  | 55 |  | Chairman of Board of Directors
Wendong Zhang |  | 43 |  | Independent Director
Jintong Lin |  | 74 |  | Independent Director
Sean Shao |  | 63 |  | Independent Director

Biographical Information

Tenling Ti has served as our Chief Executive Officer since January 11, 2016 and now is taking a temporary medical leave of absence as of March 11, 2020. Mr. Ti is also the CEO and Board member of Hangzhou uSTAR Technologies Limited, a JV under UTStarcom Telecom Co., Ltd, as of March 28, 2018 and he previously served as the CEO of Virtual Gateway Labs, Inc., a subsidiary of UTStarcom. Prior to that, Mr. Ti served various roles at UTStarcom, including Senior Vice-President of Advanced Network Architecture Technologies, Senior Vice-President of Research & Development, and General Manager of the Broadband Business Unit. Before joining UTStarcom, Mr. Ti was the Director of Application & Marketing of Advanced Communication Devices Corporation, which was acquired by UTStarcom in 2001. He received a Master of Science degree in Computer Engineering from Santa Clara University in 1993.

46

Dr. Zhaochen Huang has served as our Acting Chief Executive Officer since March 11, 2020. Dr. Huang brings more than twenty-five years of business and management expertise to the Company. He previously served as Chief Operating Officer, Vice-President of Global Operations of UTStarcom and General Manager of UTStarcom India. Before joining UTStarcom, Dr. Huang served various positions at Soliton Syst ems, K.K. including General Manager of Soliton Systems USA and VP of Research and Development of Soliton Systems Shanghai. Prior to that, Dr. Huang served at SECOM Co., LTD. and Nanjing Institute of Solid Device. He received a degree of Doctor of Engineeri ng in Electrical and Electronics from Tokyo Institute of Technology.

Eric Lam is Vice President of Finance responsible for overseeing UTStarcom’s global finance and accounting function since October, 2016 and will resign from the Company effective on May 31, 2020. During his previous tenure with UTStarcom, he has held various senior financial management positions supporting sales and global supply chain operations. Prior to rejoining UTStarcom, Eric served as a special advisor to Shanghai Phicomm Communications. His professional career includes senior financial and operational management positions with The Gillette Company, Hewlett Packet Corporation, China Light and Power and other multinationals, as well as, start-up companies. Eric has multi-faceted global and international experience spanning the high technology, semi-conductor, energy, consumer products and defense industries. Eric was educated in the United States, earning a bachelor’s degree from Tufts University and a master’s in business administration degree from Columbia Business School.

Steven Chen has more than twenty years of experience in telecom area. Mr. Chen currently serves as Senior Vice President of Product & Technology and has lead the function since May 2017. Previously he served various management roles in product management, marketing and R&D. Before joining UTStarcom in 2003, Mr. Chen served as leader of product marketing and technical at Hangzhou ECI Telecommunication Co. Ltd. He received an MBA degree from Zhejiang University in 2009 and a Bachelor of System Engineering from Xiamen University in 1995.

Lingrong Lu has twenty years of telecommunication industry experience. She had worked in UTStarcom for twelve years since 2002, taking various management role in R&D and product management in ONS, NGN and IPTV product lines; and she rejoined the company in September 2016, managing Optical Network System Research & Development Department. Prior to rejoining UTStarcom, Lingrong served in Huawei Technologies, Carrier BG. In her early working experience (1999-2002), she had worked in Nokia (ex. Lucent Technologies) in Singapore GTS and Shenzhen R&D center. Lingrong graduated from Zhejiang University in 1993 with Bachelor of Engineering, major in Electrical Engineering; and received Doctor’s Degree from same university in 2014.

Yongqing Yan serves as our chairman of the board since September 2019. He also serves as a director and general manager of Tongding Interconnection Information Co., Ltd. since 2018. Mr. Yan brings over 30 years of experience in communication and information technology encompassing the engineering, research and development management of communication equipment, sales and marketing management of large-scale communication enterprises, as well as strategic analysis and development of the telecommunications and internet industries. Mr. Yan holds a doctorate degree in Communication and Information Systems from Southeast University.

Wendong Zhang has served as the director since November, 2017. Ms. Zhang received an MBA degree from the Graduate University of Chinese Academy of Sciences. She earned a Bachelor degree in Economics at Minzu University of China. Ms. Zhang is experienced in the areas of investment and financial management, strategic management and organization restructuring. Since 2018, she has been the deputy general manager of Beijing E-town International Investment & Development Co., Ltd., as well as to the leaders of its subsidiaries. Before that, she had various management roles at Beijing E-town, Orient Cultural Asset Management Co., Ltd. and Sheng Andi Investment Management Consulting Co., Ltd.

Jintong Lin serves as the director since September 2019. He also serves as an independent director of Tongding Interconnection Information Co., Ltd. since 2017. Additionally, Mr. Lin is an independent director of Comba Telelcom Systems Holding Co., Ltd. and a director of Jiangsu Zhongtian Science and Technology Co., Ltd. Mr. Lin is currently a consulting professor at Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications (BUPT). From 1993 through 2011, he served in a variety of positions at BUPT, including Professor, Vice-President, and President. From 1990 to 1993, Mr. Lin was a researcher at King's College London. Before that, he was a visiting scholar and doctoral student at University of Southampton. Mr. Lin graduated from the Department of Physics, Peking University in 1969, he earned a master degree in Optical Communication from BUPT in 1981 as well as a doctorate degree in Optoelectronics from University of Southampton in the United Kingdom.

Sean Shao currently serves as independent director and chairman of the audit committee of: Luckin Coffee Inc. since May 2019; 21Vianet Group, Inc. since August 2015; UTStarcom Holdings Corp. since October 2012 and China Biologic Products, Inc. since July 2008. He served as the chief financial officer and a Board member of Trina Solar Limited from 2006 to 2008 and from 2015 to 2017, respectively. In addition, Mr. Shao served from 2004 to 2006 as the chief financial officer of ChinaEdu Corporation and of Watchdata Technologies Ltd. Prior to that, Mr. Shao worked at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA Ltd. for approximately a decade. Mr. Shao received his master’s degree in health care administration from the University of California at Los Angeles in 1988 and his bachelor’s degree in art from East China Normal University in 1982. Mr. Shao is a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

47

Relationships among Directors or Executive Officers; Right to Nominate Directors

There are no family relationships among any of our directors or executive officers. There are also no arrangements or understandings with any person pursuant to which any of our directors or executive officers were selected, except with respect to the selection of the director nominee designated by BEIID. See “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees-C. Board Practices.”

B. | Compensation

Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers

In 2019, we paid an aggregate of $1,877,945 in cash compensation and granted 53,165 restricted shares under our 2017 Plan to our directors and executive officers. In 2018, we paid an aggregate of $2,483,310 in cash compensation and granted 374,984 restricted shares under our 2017 Plan to our directors and executive officers.

Equity Incentive Plan

On November 4, 2016, our board of directors approved our 2017 Equity Incentive Plan, or the 2017 Plan. The 2017 Plan provides for the grant of the following types of incentive awards: (i) stock options, (ii) stock appreciation rights, (iii) restricted stock, (iv) restricted stock units, (v) performance shares and performance units, and (vi) other stock or cash awards. Those who are eligible for awards under the 2017 Plan include employees, directors and consultants who provide services to us and our affiliates.

The 2006 Equity incentive plan expired on December 31, 2016, and as of December 31, 2019, 1,590,693 ordinary shares available for grant under this plan were transferred to the 2017 equity incentive plan.

As of December 31, 2019, 1,345,623 shares underlying options and restricted stock awards and units were outstanding.

The following table summarizes significant ranges of outstanding and exercisable stock options as of December 31, 2019:

|  |  |  |  |  |  | Weighted |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  | Number of shares |  |  | Average |  | Weighted |  |  | Number of shares |  |  | Weighted |
Range of |  |  | Outstanding |  |  | Remaining |  | Average |  |  | Exercisable |  |  | Average |
Exercise Prices |  |  | as of 12/31/2019 |  |  | Contractual Term |  | Exercise Price |  |  | as of 12/31/2019 |  |  | Exercise Price |
$ | 2.24 |  |  | $ | 2.24 |  |  |  | 181,450 |  |  | 3.08 |  | $ | 2.24 |  |  |  | 114,800 |  |  | $ | 2.24 |

As of December 31, 2019, we had total unvested restricted stock awards of approximately 1.15 million shares, with a weighted average grant date fair value of $2.89.

C. | Board Practices

Our board of directors currently consists of five directors. We believe that most of the non-executive members of our board of directors are an “independent directors” as that term is used in the NASDAQ corporate governance rules.

No shareholder has the contractual right to designate persons to be elected to our board of directors except BEIID. In accordance with the Stockholders Rights Agreement we entered into as of February 1, 2010 with BEIID, Ms. Wendong Zhang has been appointed to our Board as the nominee of BEIID and as a Class II Director to serve on each committee of our board of directors. Notwithstanding the forgoing, our amended and restated memorandum and articles of association provide that directors will be elected upon a resolution passed at a duly convened shareholders meeting by holders of a majority of our outstanding shares being entitled to vote in person or by proxy at such meeting, to hold office until the expiration of their respective terms. There is no minimum shareholding or age limit requirement for qualification to serve as a member of our board of directors.

We have a staggered board that is divided into three classes, designated as Class I, consisting of two directors, Class II, consisting of one director, and Class III, consisting of two directors, with no more than one class eligible for reelection at any annual shareholder meeting, or AGM. The terms of our Class I and Class II directors and Class III will expire on the date of our next AGM. The division of our board of directors into three classes with staggered three-year terms may delay or prevent a change of our management or a change in control. For information regarding when each of our current directors became a member of our board of directors, please see “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees-A. Directors and Senior Management.”

Board Committees and Related Functions

The principal standing committees of the board of directors are the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. We have adopted a charter for each of these committees. Each committee’s members and functions are described below.

48

Audit Committee

Our Audit Committee consists of Sean Shao, Jintong Lin and Wendong Zhang, each of whom meets the independence standards of NASDAQ and the SEC. Sean Shao is the Chairman of our Audit Committee. Members of our Audit Committee meet the criteria for “independence” set forth in rule 10A-3(b)(1) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the listing standards of the NASDAQ Stock Market; have not participated in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of UTStarcom or any of its current subsidiaries at any time during the past three years; and are able to read and understand fundamental financial statements, including a company’s balance sheets, income statements, statement of shareholder’s equity and statements of cash flow. Mr. Shao has been determined by the board of directors to qualify as an “audit committee financial expert” under applicable SEC and NASDAQ rules. The Audit Committee oversees our accounting and financial reporting processes and the audits of the financial statements of our Company. The Audit Committee, among other duties and responsibilities:

| • | reviews and approves the annual appointment of our independent registered public accounting firm;

| • | discusses and reviews in advance the scope and fees of the annual audit;

| • | reviews the results of the audit with the independent registered public accounting firm and discusses the foregoing with our management;

| • | reviews and approves non-audit services of the independent registered public accounting firm;

| • | reviews compliance with our existing major accounting and financial reporting policies;

| • | review the quality, adequacy and effectiveness of the internal controls and any significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in internal controls;

| • | reviews and approves all related party transactions that would require disclosure pursuant to the rules of the SEC and the policies and procedures related to such transactions; and

| • | provides oversight and monitoring of our management and their activities with respect to our financial reporting process.

Compensation Committee

Our Compensation Committee consists of Sean Shao, Wendong Zhang and Jintong Lin. Sean Shao is the Chairman of our Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee, among other duties and responsibilities:

| • | approves and oversees the total compensation package for our executives, including their base salaries, incentives, deferred compensation, equity-based compensation, benefits and perquisites;

| • | reviews and approves corporate goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer, or the CEO, evaluate CEO performance, and determine CEO compensation based on this evaluation, (iii) review the CEO’s performance evaluation of all executive officers and approve pay decisions, (iv) review periodically and make recommendations to the board of directors regarding any equity or long-term compensation plans; and

| • | administer these plans.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

Our Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee consists of Jintong Lin, Wendong Zhang and Sean Shao, each of whom meets the independence standards of NASDAQ and the SEC. Jintong Lin is the Chairman of our Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee’s responsibilities include the selection of director nominees for the Board and the development and annual review of our governance principles. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, among other duties and responsibilities:

| • | assists the Board by actively identifying individuals qualified to become Board members;

| • | recommends director nominees to the board of directors for election at the next annual meeting of shareholders;

| • | recommends chairs and members of each committee to the board of directors;

| • | monitors significant developments in the law and practice of corporate governance and of the duties and responsibilities of directors of public companies;

| • | leads the board of directors in its annual performance self-evaluation, including establishing criteria to be used in connection with such evaluation;

49

| • | reviews Board compensation and recommends to the board of directors any changes in Board compensation;

| • | oversees compliance with our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics; and

| • | develops and recommends to the Board and administers our corporate governance guidelines.

Duties of Directors

In summary, our directors and officers owe the following fiduciary duties under Cayman Islands law:

| • | duty to act in good faith in what the directors believe to be in the best interests of our company as a whole;

| • | duty to exercise powers for the purposes for which those powers were conferred and not for a collateral purpose;

| • | directors should not properly fetter the exercise of future discretion;

| • | duty to exercise powers fairly as between different sections of shareholders;

| • | duty not to put themselves in a position in which there is a conflict between their duty to our company and their personal interests; and

| • | duty to exercise independent judgment.

In addition to the above, directors also owe a duty of care which is not fiduciary in nature. This duty has been defined as a requirement to act as “a reasonably diligent person” having both:

| • | the general knowledge, skill and experience that may reasonably be expected of a person carrying out the same functions as are carried out by that director in relation to our company; and

| • | the general knowledge skill and experience which that director has.

As set out above, directors have a duty not to put themselves in a position of conflict and this includes a duty not to engage in self-dealing, or to otherwise benefit as a result of their position. However, in some instances what would otherwise be a breach of this duty can be forgiven and/or authorized in advance by the shareholders provided that there is full disclosure by the directors. This can be done by way of permission granted in the memorandum and articles of association or alternatively by shareholder approval at general meetings.

Shareholder Suits

Our Cayman Islands counsel is not aware of any reported class action having been brought in a Cayman Islands court. Derivative actions have been brought in the Cayman Islands courts, and the Cayman Islands courts have confirmed the availability for such actions. In most cases, we will be the proper plaintiff in any claim based on a breach of duty owed to us, and a claim against (for example) our officers or directors usually may not be brought by a shareholder. However, based on English authorities, which would in all likelihood be of persuasive authority and be applied by a court in the Cayman Islands, exceptions to the foregoing principle apply in circumstances in which:

| • | a company is acting, or proposing to act, illegally or beyond the scope of its authority;

| • | the act complained of, although not beyond the scope of the authority, could be effected if duly authorized by more than the number of votes which have actually been obtained; or

| • | those who control our company are perpetrating a “fraud on the minority.”

Our shareholder may have a direct right of action against us where the individual rights of that shareholder have been infringed or are about to be infringed.

Indemnification Agreements

We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our directors and executive officers that generally require that we indemnify and hold an indemnitee harmless to the fullest extent permitted by law for liabilities arising out of the indemnitee’s current or past association with us, any of our subsidiaries or another entity where he or she is or was serving at our request as a director or officer or in a similar capacity that involves services with respect to any employee benefit plan.

50

D. | Employees

As of December 31, 2019, we had approximately 478 full-time employees worldwide. From time to time, we also employ part-time employees and hire contractors. Our employees are not represented by any collective bargaining agreement and we have never experienced a work stoppage. We believe that we have good employee relations. During 2018 and 2017, we adopted a series of restructuring initiatives targeted at retaining to profitability, as a result of which, we reduced our headcount from 481 in 2017 to 461 in 2018. However, during 2019, the headcount was 478, due mainly to investments in business development

The following table sets forth information regarding our staff as of December 31, 2019:

Manufacturing and supply chain |  | 138
Research and development |  | 197
Marketing, sales and support |  | 85
Administration and other support |  | 58
Total |  | 478

E. | Share Ownership

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to beneficial ownership of our ordinary shares as of March 31, 2020 by:

| • | Each current director;

| • | Each current executive officer;

| • | All of our current directors and executive officers as a group; and

| • | Each person who is known to us to beneficially own more than 5% of our ordinary shares.

The percentage of shares beneficially owned and votes held by each listed person is based upon 35,925,703 ordinary shares outstanding as of March 31, 2020 together with options that are exercisable within 60 days from March 31, 2020 and shares issuable upon vesting of restricted shares within 60 days from March 31, 2020 for each shareholder. Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC.

|  | Shares |  |  | Percent of |  |
|  | Beneficially |  |  | Total |  |
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner(1) |  | Owned (2) |  |  | Outstanding (2) |  |
Directors and Executive Officers |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Tim Ti |  | * |  |  | * |  |
Zhaochen Huang |  | * |  |  | * |  |
Eric Lam |  | * |  |  | * |  |
Xiaofeng Chen |  | * |  |  | * |  |
Lingrong Lu |  | * |  |  | * |  |
Yongqing Yan |  | * |  |  | * |  |
Wendong Zhang |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |
Sean Shao |  | * |  |  | * |  |
Jintong Lin |  | * |  |  | * |  | %
All current directors and executive officers as a group |  | 744,465 |  |  | 2.07 |  | %
Principal Shareholders |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Tonghao (Cayman) Limited |  |  | 12,700,000 |  |  |  | 35.35 |  | %
The Smart Soho International Limited(3) |  |  | 5,000,000 |  |  |  | 13.92 |  | %
E-Town International Holding (Hong Kong) Co. Limited(4) |  |  | 3,787,878 |  |  |  | 10.54 |  | %
Talent Transmission, Ltd.(3) |  |  | 2,718,758 |  |  |  | 7.57 |  | %

* | Less than 1%

(1) | Unless otherwise indicated, the address for all beneficial owners is c/o 4th Floor, South Wing, 368 Liuhe Road, Binjiang District, Hangzhou, P.R. China.

51

(2) | The percentage of beneficial ownership was calculated based on the total number of our ordinary shares outstanding as of March 31, 2020. Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and generally includes voting power or investment power with r espect to securities. Shares subject to options which are exercisable within 60 days of March 31, 2020 and shares underlying restricted share units that will vest within 60 days of March 31, 2020 are deemed to be outstanding and to be beneficially owned by the person holding such options or restricted share units for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of such person, but are not deemed to be outstanding and to be beneficially owned for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person. The number of shares beneficially owned has been adjusted to reflect our one-for-three reverse splits effected on March 21, 2013.

(3) | Shares information was from the latest available 13D on SEC website.

(4) | Information based on Schedule 13D, Amendment No. 1, jointly filed with the SEC on October 1, 2010 by E-Town and BEIID. As the parent company of E-Town (Hong Kong), BEIID has the power to direct the vote of the 11,363,636 (or 3,787,878 after reverse share split) shares and the disposition of the shares of 11,363,636 (or 3,787,878 after reverse share split) held by E-Town. The address of the principal business office of BEIID and E-Town is 23th-25th Floor, Tower A, Yicheng Fortune Center No. 22, Ronghua Middle Road, Beijing Economic-Technological Development Area , Beijing, PRC.

None of the shareholders known by us to beneficially own 5% or more of our outstanding shares as of March 31, 2020 have voting rights that are different from the voting rights of our other shareholders.

To our knowledge, except as disclosed above, we are not owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by another corporation, by any foreign government or by any other natural or legal person or persons, severally or jointly.

To our knowledge, there are no arrangements the operation of which may at a subsequent date result in us undergoing a change in control.

As of March 31, 2020, our directors and executive officers held options to purchase an aggregate of 181,450 ordinary shares under our existing equity incentive plans. The per share exercise prices of these options held by our directors and executive officers were $2.24 and the expiration date of such options was on January 29, 2023. In addition, as of Mar 31, 2020, our directors and executive officers held 36,272 restricted shares, 175,788 restricted share units and 383,955 performance stock units issuable upon vesting.

ITEM 7-MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A. | Major Shareholders

Please refer to “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees-E. Share Ownership.”

B. | Related Party Transactions

On September 3, 2019, Tonghao Cayman acquired an additional 9,200,000 Ordinary Shares from the Company’s former shareholders and became the largest shareholder of the Company. Tongding Interconnection Information Co., Ltd. (“TDI”) is the parent company of the Tonghao Cayman. During 2019, we had sales transactions with TDI at the amount of $49 thousand.

C. | Interests of Experts and Counsel

Not Applicable.

ITEM 8-FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A. | Consolidated Statements and Other Financial Information

See “Item 18. Financial Statements” for our audited consolidated financial statements filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 20-F.

Legal Proceedings

We are currently not a party to any material legal or administrative proceedings, and we are not aware of threatened material legal or administrative proceedings against us. We may from time to time become a party to various legal or administrative proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business.

52

Dividend Policy

To date, we have not paid any cash dividends on our ordinary shares. We currently anticipate that we will retain any available funds to finance the growth and operation of our business and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Certain present or future agreements may limit or prevent the payment of dividends on our ordinary shares. Additionally, our cash held in countries outside the United States may be subject to certain control limitations or repatriation requirements, limiting our ability to use this cash to pay dividends. Please refer to the discussion in “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects-B. Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

B. | Significant Changes

We have not experienced any significant changes since the date of our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 20-F.

ITEM 9-THE OFFER AND LISTING

A. | Offer and Listing Details

The following table sets forth the highest and lowest sale prices per share of our ordinary shares following the Merger and of UTStarcom, Inc.’s common stock prior to the Merger, as reported on NASDAQ for the periods indicated. The sale prices per share set forth below have been adjusted to reflect our one-for-three reverse share split effected on March 21, 2013.

|  | High |  |  | Low |
Annual highs and lows |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
2015 |  | $ | 3.06 |  |  | $ | 1.60 |
2016 |  | $ | 2.49 |  |  | $ | 1.66 |
2017 |  | $ | 6.51 |  |  | $ | 1.69 |
2018 |  | $ | 6.50 |  |  | $ | 2.59 |
2019 |  | $ | 4.11 |  |  | $ | 2.43 |
Quarterly highs and lows |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Second Quarter 2018 |  | $ | 5.16 |  |  | $ | 3.96 |
Third Quarter 2018 |  | $ | 4.14 |  |  | $ | 3.35 |
Fourth Quarter 2018 |  | $ | 3.98 |  |  | $ | 2.59 |
First Quarter 2019 |  | $ | 4.11 |  |  | $ | 2.70 |
Second Quarter 2019 |  | $ | 3.67 |  |  | $ | 3.02 |
Third Quarter 2019 |  | $ | 3.19 |  |  | $ | 2.43 |
Fourth Quarter 2019 |  | $ | 3.05 |  |  | $ | 2.57 |
First Quarter 2020 |  | $ | 2.95 |  |  | $ | 1.56 |
Monthly highs and lows |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
September 2019 |  | $ | 3.09 |  |  | $ | 2.43 |
October 2019 |  | $ | 3.04 |  |  | $ | 2.85 |
November 2019 |  | $ | 3.05 |  |  | $ | 2.57 |
December 2019 |  | $ | 3.01 |  |  | $ | 2.78 |
January 2020 |  | $ | 2.95 |  |  | $ | 2.68 |
February 2020 |  | $ | 2.79 |  |  | $ | 2.28 |
March 2020 |  | $ | 2.55 |  |  | $ | 1.56 |

B. | Plan of Distribution

Not Applicable.

C. | Markets

Our ordinary shares are traded on NASDAQ under the ticker symbol “UTSI,” under which UTStarcom, Inc.’s common stock has traded since its initial public offering on March 2, 2000.

D. | Selling Shareholders

Not Applicable.

53

E. | Dilution

Not Applicable.

F. | Expenses of the Issue

Not Applicable.

ITEM 10-ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

A. | Share Capital

Not Applicable.

B. | Memorandum and Articles of Association

Our amended and restated memorandum and articles of association, as amended, are filed herein with this Annual Report on 20-F as Exhibit 1.1.

C. | Material Contracts

We have not entered into any material contracts other than in the ordinary course of business and other than those described in “Item 4. Information on the Company” or elsewhere in this Annual Report on 20-F.

D. | Exchange Controls

Currency exchange control and government restrictions on dividends may impact our ability to transfer funds outside of the China and India

A significant portion of our business is conducted in China where the currency is the RMB and in India where the currency is the INR. Regulations in China and India permit foreign owned entities to freely convert the RMB or INR into foreign currency for transactions that fall under the “current account,” which includes trade related receipts and payments. Accordingly, our PRC or Indian subsidiaries may use RMB or INR to purchase foreign exchange for settlement of such “current account” transactions without pre-approval. However, pursuant to applicable regulations in China, foreign-invested enterprises in China may pay dividends only out of their accumulated profits, if any, determined in accordance with PRC accounting standards and regulations. In calculating accumulated profits, foreign investment enterprises in China are required to allocate at least 10% of their realized profits each year, if any, to fund certain reserves, until these reserves have reached 50% of the registered capital of the enterprises.

Transactions other than those that fall under the “current account” and that involve conversion of RMB or INR into foreign currency are classified as “capital account” transactions; examples of “capital account” transaction include repatriations of investment by or loans to foreign owners, or direct equity investments in a foreign entity by a China domiciled entity. In China, “capital account” transactions will be examined and registered by banks or State Administration of Foreign Exchange (“SAFE”) in China to convert a remittance into a foreign currency, such as U.S. dollars, and transmit the foreign currency outside of China. In India, “capital account” transactions will be examined and approved by the Reserve Bank of India (“RBI”) to convert INR into a foreign currency, such as U.S. dollars, and transmit the foreign currency outside of India.

The foreign exchange control system in China or India could be changed at any time and any such change may affect the ability of us or our subsidiaries in China or India to repatriate capital or profits, if any, outside China or India. Furthermore, SAFE, RBI or other governmental authorities have a significant degree of administrative discretion in implementing the laws and regulations and has used this discretion to limit convertibility of “current account” payments out of China or India. Whether as a result of a deterioration in the PRC or India balance of payments, a shift in the PRC or Indian macroeconomic prospects or any number of other reasons, China or India could impose additional restrictions on capital remittances abroad. As a result of these and other restrictions under the laws and regulations of the PRC or India, our PRC or India subsidiaries are restricted in their ability to transfer a portion of their net assets to the parent. We have no assurance that the relevant PRC or Indian governmental authorities in the future will not limit further or eliminate the ability of our PRC or Indian subsidiaries to purchase foreign currencies and transfer such funds to us to meet our liquidity or other business needs. Any inability to access funds in China or India, if and when needed for use by us outside of China or India, could have a material and adverse effect on our liquidity and our business.

54

E. | Taxation

The following summary of the material Cayman Islands, People’s Republic of China and United States federal income tax consequences of an investment in our ordinary shares is based upon laws and relevant interpretations thereof in effect as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 20-F, all of which are subject to change. This summary does not address all possible tax consequences relating to an investment in our ordinary shares, such as the tax consequences under state, local and other tax laws.

Cayman Islands Taxation

The Cayman Islands Government (or any other taxing authority in the Cayman Islands) currently does not levy taxes on individuals or corporations based upon profits, income, gains or appreciation, and there is no taxation in the Cayman Islands in the nature of inheritance tax or estate duty. There are no other taxes that are likely to have a material impact on us that may be levied by the Government of the Cayman Islands except for stamp duty which may be applicable on instruments executed in, or brought within the jurisdiction of the Cayman Islands. No stamp duties or other similar taxes or charges are payable under the laws of the Cayman Islands in respect of the execution or delivery of any of the documents relating the proposed merger or the performance or enforcement of any of them, unless they are executed in or thereafter brought within the jurisdiction of the Cayman Islands for enforcement purposes or otherwise. There are no exchange control regulations or currency restrictions in the Cayman Islands.

People’s Republic of China Taxation

The New EIT Law, and the implementation regulations for the New EIT Law issued by the PRC State Council, became effective as of January 1, 2008. The New EIT Law provides that enterprises established outside of China whose “de facto management bodies” are located in China are considered “resident enterprises” and are generally subject to the uniform 25% corporate income tax rate as to their worldwide income. Under the implementation regulations for the New EIT Law issued by the PRC State Council, a “de facto management body” is defined as a body that has material and overall management and control over the manufacturing and business operations, personnel and human resources, finances and treasury, and acquisition and disposition of properties and other assets of an enterprise. In April 2009, the SAT released Circular 82. Under Circular 82, a foreign enterprise “controlled by a PRC enterprise or a PRC enterprise group” will be considered as a resident enterprise if all of the following conditions are satisfied: (i) the senior management personnel responsible for its daily operations and the place where the senior management departments discharge their responsibilities are located primarily in the PRC; (ii) its finance and human resources related decisions are made by or are subject to the approval of institutions or personnel located in the PRC; (iii) its major assets, books and records, company seals and minutes of its board of directors and shareholder meetings are located or kept in the PRC; and (iv) senior management personnel or 50% or more of the members of its board of directors with voting power of the enterprise reside in the PRC.

On September 1, 2011, the SAT issued Circular 45, to further prescribe the rules concerning the recognition, administration and taxation of a foreign enterprise “controlled by a PRC enterprise or PRC enterprise group.” Currently we are not recognized as a PRC resident enterprise, but there is a risk that we may be recognized by the PRC tax authorities as a PRC resident enterprise. Pursuant to Circular 45, if we are recognized as a PRC resident enterprise, our worldwide income may be subject to enterprise income tax in China at a rate of 25%, and we would be required to file provisional enterprise income tax returns quarterly and complete an annual settlement before May 31 of each year for the preceding year at the in-charge tax bureau. Further, we would be obliged to withhold the enterprise income tax when we distribute dividends to non-resident enterprise holders of our ordinary shares, and the individual income tax when we distribute dividends to non-resident individual holders of our ordinary shares. Under the New EIT Law and implementation regulations issued by the State Council, PRC income tax at the rate of 10% is applicable to dividends payable to investors that are “non-resident enterprises,” which do not have an establishment or place of business in the PRC, or which have such establishment or place of business but the relevant income is not effectively connected with the establishment or place of business, and PRC income tax at the rate of 20% is applicable to dividends payable to the investors that are “non-resident individuals,” subject to the provision of any applicable agreement for the avoidance of double taxation and to the extent such dividends have their sources within the PRC.

Circular 45 further clarifies that the capital gains derived by the non-resident enterprises from the alienation of shares of the foreign-incorporated resident enterprise are considered as China-sourced income. Under the New EIT Law and implementation regulations issued by the PRC State Council, non-resident enterprise holders of our ordinary shares may be subject to enterprise income tax in China at a rate of 10% on the capital gains derived from the transfer of our ordinary shares. Non-resident individual holders of our ordinary shares may be subject to PRC income tax at a rate of 20% on the capital gains derived from the transfer of our ordinary shares to the extent such capital gains are considered as China-sourced income.

For a discussion of the PRC tax consequences of an investment in our ordinary shares, see “Item 3. Key Information-D. Risk Factors-Risks Relating to Conducting Business in China-Under the Enterprise Income Tax Law, or the EIT Law”, we may be classified as a “resident enterprise” of the PRC, which could result in unfavorable tax consequences to us and to non-PRC shareholders.

55

U.S. Federal Income Taxation

The following discussion describes material U.S. federal income tax consequences to U.S. Holders and Non-U.S. Holders (each as defined below) of an investment in our ordinary shares. This discussion applies only to investors that hold the ordinary shares as capital assets and, in the case of U.S. Holders, that have the U.S. dollar as their functional currency. This discussion is based on the tax laws of the United States, including the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, U.S. Treasury regulations in effect, or, in some cases, proposed, as of the date of this Annual Report, as well as judicial and administrative interpretations thereof available on or before such date. All of the foregoing authorities are subject to change, which change could apply retroactively and could affect the tax consequences described below.

The following discussion does not deal with the tax consequences to any particular investor or to persons in special tax situations, including, without limitation:

| • | banks and certain other financial institutions;

| • | dealers in securities or currencies;

| • | insurance companies, regulated investment companies and real estate investment trusts;

| • | brokers and/or dealers;

| • | traders that elect the mark-to-market method of accounting;

| • | tax-exempt entities;

| • | expatriates or entities subject to the U.S. anti-inversion rules;

| • | persons liable for alternative minimum tax;

| • | persons holding ordinary shares as part of a straddle, hedging, constructive sale, conversion transaction or integrated transaction;

| • | persons holding ordinary shares through a bank, financial institution or other entity, or a branch thereof, located, organized or resident outside the United States;

| • | persons who acquired ordinary shares through the exercise of an employee stock option or otherwise as compensation;

| • | persons that actually or constructively own 10% or more of our voting stock; or

| • | persons holding ordinary shares through partnerships or other pass-through entities.

(YOU SHOULD CONSULT YOUR OWN TAX ADVISORS ABOUT THE APPLICATION OF THE U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX RULES TO THEIR PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES AS WELL AS ANY TAX CONSEQUENCES TO THEM OF THE PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP AND DISPOSITION OF ORDINARY SHARES ARISING UNDER THE FEDERAL ESTATE OR GIFT TAX LAWS OR THE LAWS OF ANY STATE, LOCAL OR NON-U.S. JURISDICTION AND UNDER ANY APPLICABLE TAX TREATY.)

If a partnership (including any entity treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes) holds ordinary shares, the tax treatment of a partner in such partnership will depend on the status of the partner and the activities of the partner and the partnership. If you are a partnership holding ordinary shares, or a partner in such a partnership, you should consult your own tax advisors.

Treatment of the UTStarcom as a U.S. Corporation for U.S. Federal Income Tax Purposes

Although UTStarcom is organized as a Cayman Islands corporation, we have been treating UTStarcom as a U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section 7874 of the Code as a result of the Merger. As such, UTStarcom generally is treated as subject to U.S. federal income tax as if it were organized under the laws of the United States or a state thereof. Because we generally treat UTStarcom as a U.S. corporation for all purposes under the Code, we do not intend to treat UTStarcom as a “passive foreign investment company,” as such rules apply only to non-U.S. corporations for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

The remainder of this discussion assumes that UTStarcom is treated as a U.S. corporation for all U.S. federal income tax purposes.

56

Tax Consequences of the Ownership and Disposition of Ordinary Shares to U.S. Holders

The discussion below of the U.S. federal income tax consequences to “U.S. Holders” will apply to you if you are the beneficial owner of ordinary shares and you are, for U.S. federal income tax purposes:

| • | a citizen or resident of the United States;

| • | a corporation (or other entity taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes) organized under the laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia or otherwise treated as such under applicable U.S. tax law;

| • | an estate whose income is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source; or

| • | a trust that (1) is subject to the supervision of a court within the United States and the control of one or more U.S. persons or (2) has a valid election in effect under applicable U.S. Treasury regulations to be treated as a U.S. person.

Distributions. UTStarcom does not currently anticipate paying distributions on its ordinary shares. In the event that distributions are paid, however, the gross amount of such distributions will be included in the gross income of a U.S. Holder as dividend income on the date of receipt to the extent that the distribution is paid out of current or accumulated earnings and profits, as determined under U.S. federal income tax principles. Such dividends will be eligible for the dividends-received deduction allowed to corporations in respect of dividends received from other U.S. corporations. Dividends received by non-corporate U.S. holders, including individuals, may be subject to reduced rates of taxation under current law. A U.S. holder may be eligible to claim a foreign tax credit with respect to any PRC withholding tax imposed on dividends paid by us. However, the foreign tax credit rules are complex, and their application in connection with Section 7874 of the Code in the presence of the Agreement Between the Government of the United States of America and the Government of the People’s Republic of China for the Avoidance of Double Taxation and the Prevention of Tax Evasion with Respect to Taxes on Income, or the U.S.-PRC Tax Treaty, are not entirely clear at this time. U.S. Holders should consult their own tax advisors with respect to any benefits they may be entitled to under the foreign tax credit rules and the U.S.-PRC Tax Treaty.

To the extent that dividends paid on our ordinary shares exceed current and accumulated earnings and profits, the distributions will be treated first as a tax-free return of tax basis on our ordinary shares, and to the extent that the amount of the distribution exceeds tax basis, the excess will be treated as capital gain.

Sale or Other Disposition. U.S. Holders of our ordinary shares will recognize taxable gain or loss on any sale, exchange, or other taxable disposition of ordinary shares equal to the difference between the amount realized for the ordinary shares and the U.S. Holder’s tax basis in those ordinary shares. This gain or loss generally will be capital gain or loss. Non-corporate U.S. Holders, including individuals, may be eligible for reduced tax rates if the ordinary shares have been held for more than one year. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations. A U.S. Holder may be eligible to claim a foreign tax credit with respect to any PRC withholding tax imposed on gain from the sale or other disposition of our ordinary shares. However, the foreign tax credit rules are complex, and their application in connection with Section 7874 of the Code in the presence of the U.S.-PRC Tax Treaty are not entirely clear at this time. U.S. Holders should consult their own tax advisors with respect to any benefits they may be entitled to under the foreign tax credit rules and the U.S.-PRC Tax Treaty.

Medicare Surtax. Certain U.S. Holders who are individuals, trusts or estates are required to pay a 3.8% tax on, among other things, dividends on and capital gains from the sale or other disposition of shares of stock. U.S. holders should consult their own advisors regarding the effect, if any, of this legislation on their ownership and disposition of our ordinary shares.

Tax Consequences of the Ownership and Disposition of Ordinary Shares to Non-U.S. Holders

The discussion below of the U.S. federal income tax consequences to “Non-U.S. Holders” will apply to you if you are the beneficial owner of ordinary shares and you are, for U.S. federal income tax purposes:

| • | a non-resident alien individual;

| • | a foreign corporation; or

| • | a foreign trust.

Special rules, not discussed here, may apply to certain Non-U.S. Holders, such as:

| • | certain former citizens or residents of the United States;

57

| • | co ntrolled foreign corporations;

| • | passive foreign investment companies;

| • | corporations that accumulate earnings to avoid U.S. federal income tax;

| • | investors in pass-through entities that are subject to special treatment under the Code.

Further, this discussion assumes that no item of income or gain recognized by any Non-U.S. Holder with respect to the ordinary shares is effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business within the United States.

Distributions. UTStarcom does not currently anticipate paying distributions on its ordinary shares. In the event that distributions are paid, however, such distributions will constitute dividends for U.S. tax purposes to the extent paid out of current or accumulated earnings and profits, as determined under U.S. federal income tax principles. To the extent that dividends paid on UTStarcom ordinary shares exceed current and accumulated earnings and profits, the distributions will be treated first as a tax-free return of tax basis on the ordinary shares, and to the extent that the amount of the distribution exceeds tax basis, the excess will be treated as capital gain. Any dividends paid to a Non-U.S. Holder by UTStarcom are treated as income derived from sources within the United States and generally will be subject to U.S. federal income tax withholding at a rate of 30% of the gross amount of the dividends, or at a lower rate provided by an applicable income tax treaty if Non-U.S. Holders provide proper certification of eligibility for the lower rate (usually on IRS Form W-8BEN or W-8BEN-E).

If Non-U.S. Holders are eligible for a reduced rate of U.S. withholding tax pursuant to an applicable income tax treaty, such Non-U.S. Holders may obtain a refund of any excess amounts withheld by timely filing an appropriate claim for refund with the IRS.

Sale or Other Disposition. Any gain realized upon the sale or other disposition of UTStarcom ordinary shares generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax unless:

| • | the holder is an individual who is present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable year of the disposition, and certain other conditions are met; or

| • | UTStarcom is or has been a “U.S. real property holding corporation,” or USRPHC, for U.S. federal income tax purposes at any time during the shorter of the five-year period ending on the date of disposition or the period during which such Non-U.S. Holder has held the ordinary shares.

Non-U.S. Holders whose gain is described in the first bullet point above will be subject to a flat 30% U.S. federal income tax rate on the gain derived from the sale, which may be offset by U.S.-source capital losses, even though such Non-U.S. Holders are not considered to be residents of the United States. A corporation will be a USRPHC if the fair market value of its U.S. real property interests equals or exceeds 50% of the aggregate value of its real property interests (U.S. and non-U.S.) and its assets used or held for use in a trade or business. Because we do not currently own significant U.S. real property, we believe, but our special United States counsel has not independently verified, that we are not currently and will not become a USRPHC. However, because the determination of whether we are a USRPHC depends on the fair market value of our U.S. real property relative to the fair market value of our other business assets, there can be no assurance that we will not become a USRPHC in the future. Even if we become a USRPHC, however, as long as our ordinary shares are regularly traded on an established securities market, such ordinary shares will be treated as U.S. real property interests only if you actually or constructively hold more than five percent of such regularly traded ordinary shares at any time during the applicable period that is specified in the Code.

Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

Payments of dividends or of proceeds on the disposition of stock made to a holder of UTStarcom ordinary shares may be subject to information reporting and backup withholding at a current rate of 24% for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017, and before January 1, 2026 unless such holder provides a correct taxpayer identification number on IRS Form W-9 (or other appropriate withholding form) or otherwise establishes an exemption from backup withholding, for example by properly certifying your non-U.S. status on a Form W-8BEN, W-8BEN-E or another appropriate version of IRS Form W-8. Payments of dividends to holders generally must be reported annually to the IRS, along with the name and address of the holder and the amount of tax withheld, if any. A similar report is sent to the holder. Pursuant to applicable income tax treaties or other agreements, the IRS may make these reports available to tax authorities in the holder’s country of residence.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax; rather, the U.S. income tax liability of persons subject to backup withholding will be reduced by the amount of tax withheld. If withholding results in an overpayment of taxes, a refund or credit may generally be obtained from the IRS, provided that the required information is furnished to the IRS in a timely manner.

58

Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act

Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, commonly known as “FATCA,” generally impose a U.S. federal withholding tax of 30% on dividends and the gross proceeds of a disposition of our ordinary shares paid to a “foreign financial institution” (as specially defined under these rules) unless such institution enters into an agreement with the U.S. government to withhold on certain payments and to collect and provide to the U.S. tax authorities substantial information regarding U.S. account holders of such institution (which includes certain equity and debt holders of such institution, as well as certain account holders that are foreign entities with U.S. owners). FACTA also generally imposes a U.S. federal withholding tax of 30% on dividends and the gross proceeds of a disposition of our ordinary shares paid to a non-financial foreign entity unless such entity provides the withholding agent with a certification identifying the direct and indirect U.S. owners of the entity. Under certain circumstances, a Non-U.S. Holder might be eligible for refunds or credits of such taxes. This legislation generally will apply to payments of gross proceeds only if made on or after January 1, 2017. An intergovernmental agreement between the United States and an applicable foreign country may modify these requirements. Prospective investors are encouraged to consult with their own tax advisors regarding the possible implications of FATCA on their investment in our ordinary shares.

F. | Dividends and Paying Agents

Not Applicable.

G. | Statement by Experts

Not Applicable.

H. | Documents on Display

The documents concerning our Company referred to in this document and required to be made available to the public are available at the offices of UTStarcom Holdings Corp. at Fourth Floor, South Wing, 368 Liuhe Road, Binjiang District, Hangzhou, P.R. China.

In addition, we previously filed with the SEC our registration statement on Form F-4 (Registration No. 333-173828, as amended) and prospectus under the Securities Act, with respect to our ordinary shares.

We are subject to the periodic reporting and other informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. Under the Exchange Act, we are required to file reports and other information with the SEC. Specifically, we are required to file annually a Form 20-F no later than four months after the close of each fiscal year, which is December 31. Copies of reports and other information, when so filed, may be inspected without charge and may be obtained at prescribed rates at the public reference facilities maintained by the Securities and Exchange Commission at 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain information regarding the Washington, D.C. Public Reference Room by calling the Commission at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also maintains a web site at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding registrants that make electronic filings with the SEC using its EDGAR system. As a foreign private issuer, we are exempt from the rules under the Exchange Act prescribing the furnishing and content of quarterly reports and proxy statements, and officers, directors and principal shareholders are exempt from the reporting and short-swing profit recovery provisions contained in Section 16 of the Exchange Act.

I. | Subsidiary Information

See “Item 4. Information on the Company- C. Organizational Structure” for information about our subsidiaries.

ITEM 11-QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to the impact of interest rate changes, changes in foreign currency exchange rates and changes in the stock market.

Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our investment portfolio. The fair value of our investment portfolio would not be significantly affected by either a 10% increase or decrease in interest rates due mainly to the short term nature of most of our investment portfolio. However, our interest income can be sensitive to changes in the general level of U.S. and China interest rates since the majority of our funds are invested in instruments with maturities of less than one year. In a declining interest rate environment, as short term investments mature, reinvestment occurs at less favorable market rates. Given the short term nature of certain investments, anticipated declining interest rates will negatively impact our investment income.

59

We maintain an investment portfolio of various holdings, types and maturities. We do not use derivative financial instruments. We place our cash investments in instruments that meet high credit qu ality standards, as specified in our investment policy guidelines. Our policy is to limit the risk of principal loss and to ensure the safety of invested funds by generally attempting to limit market risk. Our cash and cash equivalents are not subject to s ignificant interest rate risk due to the short maturities of these instruments. As of December 31, 2018, the carrying value of our cash and cash equivalents approximated fair value. As of December 31, 2019, approximately $3.1 million, $19.3 million and $1.7 million were held by subsidiaries in China, Japan and US.

The table below represents carrying amounts and related weighted-average interest rates of our investment portfolio at December 31, 2019 and 2018:

|  | December 31, |  |
|  | 2019 |  |  |  | 2018 |  |
|  | (in thousands) |  |
Cash and cash equivalents |  | $ | 34,966 |  |  |  | $ | 57,049 |  |
Average interest rate |  | 2.54 | % |  |  | 2.23 | % |
Restricted cash short-term |  | $ | 10,007 |  |  |  | $ | 8,827 |  |
Average interest rate |  | 3.07 | % |  |  | 2.61 | % |
Short-term investments |  | $ | 2,095 |  |  |  |  | — |  |
Average interest rate |  |  | — | % |  |  |  | — | % |
Restricted cash long-term |  | $ | 3,634 |  |  |  | $ | 7,824 |  |
Average interest rate |  | 3.94 | % |  |  | 3.15 | % |
Total investment securities |  | $ | 50,702 |  |  |  | $ | 73,700 |  |
Average interest rate |  |  | 2.64 | % |  |  | 2.37 | % |

Equity Investment Risk

We have invested in several privately-held companies as well as investment funds which invest primarily in privately held companies, many of which can still be considered in the start-up or development stages. These investments are inherently risky, as the market for the technologies or products they have under development is typically in the early stages and may never materialize.

Foreign Exchange Rate Risk

As a multinational company, we conduct our business in a wide variety of currencies and are therefore subject to market risk for changes in foreign exchange rates. We expect to continue to expand our business globally and, as such, expect that an increasing proportion of our business may be denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars. As a result, fluctuations in foreign currencies may have a material impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

In 2019, the majority of our foreign-currency denominated sales have been made in Japan, denominated in Japanese yen. The balance of our cash and cash equivalents held in Japanese Yen was $6.6 million at December 31, 2019. Historically, the exchange rate between Japanese Yen and U.S. dollar has been volatile. Additionally, the majority of our expenses are denominated in RMB. Due to China’s currency exchange control regulations, we are limited in our ability to convert and repatriate RMB, as well as in our ability to engage in foreign currency hedging activities in China. The balance of our cash and cash equivalents held in RMB was $2.5 million at December 31, 2019. Since China unpegged the RMB from the U.S. dollar in July 2005 through December 31, 2019, the RMB has appreciated by approximately 15.9% versus the U.S. dollar. We also made significant sales in Indian rupees in 2018.

We may manage foreign currency exposures using forward and option contracts to hedge and thus minimize exposure to the risk of the eventual net cash inflows and outflows resulting from foreign currency denominated transactions with customers, suppliers, and non-U.S. subsidiaries; however, we are not currently hedging any such transactions. As our foreign currency balances are not currently hedged, any significant revaluation of our foreign currency exposures may materially and adversely affect our business, results of operation and financial condition. We do not enter into foreign exchange forward or option contracts for trading purposes.

ITEM 12-DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY SECURITIES

A. | Debt Securities

Not Applicable.

B. | Warrants and Rights

Not Applicable.

60

C. | Other Securities

Not Applicable.

D. | American Depositary Shares

Not Applicable.

61

PART II

ITEM 13-DEFAULTS, DIVIDEND ARREARAGES AND DELINQUENCIES

Not Applicable.

ITEM 14-MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS AND USE OF PROCEEDS

See “Item 10. Additional Information” for a description of the rights of securities holders, which remain unchanged.

ITEM 15-CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and our VP Finance, has performed an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined under Rules 13a 15(e) and 15d 15(e) promulgated under the Exchange Act as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, our management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2019, our disclosure controls and procedures were ineffective because of the material weakness described below under “Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.” We continue to undertaken remedial steps to address the material weaknesses in our disclosure controls and procedures as set forth below under “Management’s Plan for Remediation of Material Weaknesses.”

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rule 13a 15(f) under the Exchange Act, for our Company. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP and includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of a company’s assets, (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and that a company’s receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of a company’s management and directors, and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of a company’s assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Internal control over financial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving financial reporting objectives because of its inherent limitations. Internal control over financial reporting is a process that involves human diligence and compliance and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting from human failures. Internal control over financial reporting also can be circumvented by collusion or improper override. Because of such limitations, there is a risk that material misstatements may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis by internal control over financial reporting. However, these inherent limitations are known features of the financial reporting process, and it is possible to design into the process safeguards to reduce, though not eliminate, this risk.

As required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 and related rules promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission, our management, including our chief executive officer and VP Finance, assessed the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 using the criteria set forth in the report “Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013)” published by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of a company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. As a result of management’s evaluation of our internal control over financial reporting, the following material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting was identified as of December 31, 2019.

(i) The Company did not have sufficient resources with an appropriate level of knowledge and experience in U.S. GAAP to properly account for complex accounting issues under U.S. GAAP. Complex issues such as investment accounting, impairment assessment and loss contract reserve may not be accounted for properly in the future.

The material weakness described above may result in misstatement of the Company’s consolidated financial statements that would result in a material misstatement to the Company’s quarterly or annual consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or detected. As a result of the material weakness, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was ineffective as of December 31, 2019.

62

Management’s Plan for Remediation of Material Weakness es

Our management has been engaged in, and continues to be engaged in making necessary changes and improvements to the overall design of its control environment to address the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting and the ineffectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures described above.

(i) To remediate the material weakness described above with respect to controls over complex transactions, we have and plan to continue to (1) retain additional accounting personnel with appropriate knowledge and experience; (2) provide more comprehensive training on U.S. GAAP to our accounting team and other relevant personnel; (3) conduct peer financial statements review and validation within finance team for items that are complex in nature; and (4) continue to engage an external consultant to review the accounting of our complex transactions. We plan to continue to assess our standardized processes to further enhance the effectiveness of our financial review, including the analysis and monitoring of financial information in a consistent and thorough manner.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management has evaluated, with the participation of our chief executive officer and VP Finance whether any changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our last fiscal year have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. Based on the evaluation we conducted, management has concluded that, other than controls implemented for the remediation of the material weakness in internal control over financial reporting identified in 2016 as disclosed above, no such changes occurred during the period covered by this annual report on Form 20-F.

Attestation Report of the Independent Public Accounting Firm

This annual report on Form 20-F does not include an attestation report of our independent public accounting firm because we are neither an accelerated filer nor a large accelerated filer, as such terms are defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act.

ITEM 16A-AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

Our board of directors has determined that Mr. Sean Shao qualifies as an Audit Committee Financial Expert as defined by the applicable rules of the SEC and that Mr. Shao is “independent” as that term is defined in NASDAQ Marketplace Rule 5605(c)(2)(A). Please refer to “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees-A. Directors and Senior Management-Biographical Information” for a brief biographical listing of Mr. Shao’s relevant experience.

ITEM 16B-CODE OF ETHICS

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, or Code of Ethics that applies to all employees including our principal executive officers. The Code of Ethics is designed to promote: (i) honest and ethical conduct, including the ethical handling of actual or apparent conflicts of interest between personal and professional relationships, (ii) full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable disclosure in reports and documents that we are required to file to the SEC and in other public communications, (iii) compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations, (iv) the prompt internal reporting of violations of the Code of Ethics to an appropriate person or entity, and (v) accountability for adherence to the Code of Ethics.

As a supplement to the Code of Ethics, we have also adopted a Code of Ethics for Chief Executive Officer and Senior Financial Officers, or Code of Ethics for Financial Officers, which is designed to highlight the legal and ethical obligations of the Chief Executive Officer and financial officers. The Code of Ethics for Financial Officers imposes upon applicable officers certain additional internal reporting requirements for acts committed in violation of the Code of Ethics and/or the securities laws.

Copies of the Code of Ethics and the Code of Ethics for Financial Officers are available on our website at http://www.utstar.com. Any amendment or waiver of the Code of Ethics or Code of Ethics for Financial Officers pertaining to a member of our Board or one of our executive officers will be disclosed on our website at http://www.utstar.com. Information contained in our website is not incorporated by reference into this Form 20-F and you should not consider information on our website to be part of this Form 20-F.

63

ITEM 16C-PRINCIPAL ACCOU NTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Disclosure of Fees Charged by Independent Accountants

The aggregate fees billed for professional accounting services by Grant Thornton for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

|  | Years Ended |
|  | December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |
|  | (in thousands) |
Audit fees(1) |  | $ | 557 |  |  | $ | 540 |
Audit-related fees(2) |  | 30 |  |  | 8 |
Tax fees(3) |  | — |  |  | — |
All other fees(4) |  | 51 |  |  | 57 |
Total |  | $ | 638 |  |  | $ | 605 |

(1)Audit fees are fees for professional services rendered for the integrated audit of our consolidated financial statements, for review of interim consolidated financial information included in quarterly reports or earnings releases, and for services that are normally provided by Grant Thornton in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements in 2018 and 2019.

(2)Audit-related fees represent aggregate fees paid or accrued for professional services rendered for accounting consultations and other procedures performed with respect to certain UTStarcom acquisition and divestiture efforts.

(3)Tax fees are fees for tax services related to tax compliance, tax planning and tax advice.

(4)All other fees are fees for an online accounting research tool and out of pocket expenses.

The Audit Committee has determined that the provision to us by independent registered public accounting firms of non-audit services as listed above is compatible with independent registered public accounting firms maintaining its independence.

Audit Committee Pre-approval Policies and Procedures

Our Audit Committee has adopted procedures which set forth the manner in which the committee will review and approve all audit and non-audit services to be provided by an independent registered public accounting firm before that firm is retained for such services. The pre-approval procedures are as follows:

| • | Any audit or non-audit service to be provided to us by the independent accountant must be submitted to the Audit Committee for review and approval, with a description of the services to be performed and the fees to be charged.

| • | The Audit Committee in its sole discretion then approves or disapproves the proposed services and documents such approval, if given, through written resolutions or in the minutes of meetings, as the case may be.

ITEM 16D-EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LISTING STANDARDS FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES

Not Applicable.

64

ITEM 16E-PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS

On November 12, 2014, our board of directors approved a share repurchase program of up to $40 million of our outstanding shares over the next 24 months, and subsequently extended to November 2018 approved by our board of directors. On November 4, 2018, our board of directors approved for extension of the repurchase plan to November 2019. In September 2019, the Board has approved to extend two additional years. During the repurchase program period, we will maintain flexibility to turn the program to an accelerated repurchase program and/or a cash tender offer, and we are not obligated to make repurchases at any specific time or situation. Our board of directors will review the share repurchase program periodically and may authorize adjustment of its terms and size accordingly. We plan to fund any share repurchases made under this program from our available cash balance. Purchases under the program are as follows:

|  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  | Total number of |  |  | Maximum |
|  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  | shares (or units) |  |  | approximate dollar |
|  | Total Number of |  |  |  |  |  | purchased as part of |  |  | value that may yet |
|  | shares (or Units) |  |  | Average price paid |  |  | publicly announced |  |  | be purchased under |
Period |  | purchased |  |  | per share (or unit) |  |  | plans or programs |  |  | the Plans |
December 2014 |  |  | 166,421 |  |  | $ | 2.63 |  |  |  | 166,421 |  |  | $ | 39,561,613 |
January 2015 |  |  | 207,272 |  |  | $ | 2.90 |  |  |  | 373,693 |  |  | $ | 38,960,627 |
February 2015 |  |  | 191,685 |  |  | $ | 2.75 |  |  |  | 565,378 |  |  | $ | 38,434,451 |
March 2015 |  |  | 150,038 |  |  | $ | 2.68 |  |  |  | 715,416 |  |  | $ | 38,032,006 |
April 2015 |  |  | 142,696 |  |  | $ | 2.65 |  |  |  | 858,112 |  |  | $ | 37,654,473 |
May 2015 |  |  | 27,443 |  |  | $ | 2.17 |  |  |  | 885,555 |  |  | $ | 37,594,886 |
June 2015 |  |  | 328,703 |  |  | $ | 2.01 |  |  |  | 1,214,258 |  |  | $ | 36,935,426 |
July 2015 |  |  | 156,320 |  |  | $ | 1.91 |  |  |  | 1,370,578 |  |  | $ | 36,636,344 |
August 2015 |  |  | 145,975 |  |  | $ | 1.95 |  |  |  | 1,516,553 |  |  | $ | 36,352,399 |
September 2015 |  |  | 103,300 |  |  | $ | 2.02 |  |  |  | 1,619,853 |  |  | $ | 36,143,984 |
October 2015 |  |  | 55,500 |  |  | $ | 2.22 |  |  |  | 1,675,353 |  |  | $ | 36,020,775 |
November 2015 |  |  | 21,370 |  |  | $ | 2.20 |  |  |  | 1,696,723 |  |  | $ | 35,973,850 |
December 2015 |  |  | 33,000 |  |  | $ | 2.20 |  |  |  | 1,729,723 |  |  | $ | 35,901,220 |
January 2016 |  |  | 165,392 |  |  | $ | 2.20 |  |  |  | 1,895,115 |  |  | $ | 35,538,178 |
February 2016 |  |  | 80,660 |  |  | $ | 2.12 |  |  |  | 1,975,775 |  |  | $ | 35,367,443 |
March 2016 |  |  | 176,386 |  |  | $ | 2.01 |  |  |  | 2,152,161 |  |  | $ | 35,012,890 |
April 2016 |  |  | 505,593 |  |  | $ | 1.80 |  |  |  | 2,657,754 |  |  | $ | 34,102,109 |
May 2016 |  |  | 390,648 |  |  | $ | 2.02 |  |  |  | 3,048,402 |  |  | $ | 33,313,145 |
June 2016 |  |  | 146,542 |  |  | $ | 1.99 |  |  |  | 3,195,944 |  |  | $ | 33,021,480 |
July 2016 |  |  | 76,210 |  |  | $ | 1.93 |  |  |  | 3,271,154 |  |  | $ | 32,874,525 |
August 2016 |  |  | 239,104 |  |  | $ | 2.05 |  |  |  | 3,510,258 |  |  | $ | 32,384,860 |
September 2016 |  |  | 36,500 |  |  | $ | 2.16 |  |  |  | 3,546,758 |  |  | $ | 32,306,056 |
October 2016 |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 3,546,758 |  |  | $ | 32,306,056 |
November 2016 |  |  | 112,200 |  |  | $ | 1.98 |  |  |  | 3,658,958 |  |  | $ | 32,083,499 |
December 2016 |  |  | 125,420 |  |  | $ | 1.98 |  |  |  | 3,784,378 |  |  | $ | 31,835,274 |
January 2017 |  |  | 12,380 |  |  | $ | 1.99 |  |  |  | 3,796,758 |  |  | $ | 31,810,649 |
February 2017 |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 3,796,758 |  |  | $ | 31,810,649 |
March 2017 |  |  | 60,359 |  |  | $ | 1.89 |  |  |  | 3,857,117 |  |  | $ | 31,696,485 |
April 2017 |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 3,857,117 |  |  | $ | 31,696,485 |
May 2017 |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 3,857,117 |  |  | $ | 31,696,485 |
June 2017 |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 3,857,117 |  |  | $ | 31,696,485 |
July 2017 |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 3,857,117 |  |  | $ | 31,696,485 |
August 2017 |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 3,857,117 |  |  | $ | 31,696,485 |
September 2017 |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 3,857,117 |  |  | $ | 31,696,485 |
October 2017 |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 3,857,117 |  |  | $ | 31,696,485 |
November 2017 |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 3,857,117 |  |  | $ | 31,696,485 |
December 2017 |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 3,857,117 |  |  | $ | 31,696,485 |
January 2018 |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 3,857,117 |  |  | $ | 31,696,485 |
February 2018 |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 3,857,117 |  |  | $ | 31,696,485 |
March 2018 |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 3,857,117 |  |  | $ | 31,696,485 |
April 2018 |  |  | 76,940 |  |  | $ | 4.91 |  |  |  | 3,934,057 |  |  | $ | 31,318,604 |
May 2018 |  |  | 66,660 |  |  | $ | 4.90 |  |  |  | 4,000,717 |  |  | $ | 30,992,244 |
June 2018 |  |  | 99,742 |  |  | $ | 4.31 |  |  |  | 4,100,459 |  |  | $ | 30,561,925 |
July 2018 |  |  | 77,661 |  |  | $ | 3.98 |  |  |  | 4,178,120 |  |  | $ | 30,252,886 |
August 2018 |  |  | 91,763 |  |  | $ | 3.73 |  |  |  | 4,269,883 |  |  | $ | 29,910,383 |
September 2018 |  |  | 60,802 |  |  | $ | 3.83 |  |  |  | 4,330,685 |  |  | $ | 29,677,303 |
October 2018 |  |  | 74,391 |  |  | $ | 3.90 |  |  |  | 4,405,076 |  |  | $ | 29,387,290 |
November 2018 |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 4,405,076 |  |  | $ | 29,387,290 |
December 2018 |  |  | 75,806 |  |  | $ | 2.85 |  |  |  | 4,480,882 |  |  | $ | 29,171,485 |
January 2019 |  |  | 60,942 |  |  | $ | 3.14 |  |  |  | 4,541,824 |  |  | $ | 28,980,292 |
February 2019 |  |  | 4,875 |  |  | $ | 3.46 |  |  |  | 4,546,699 |  |  | $ | 28,963,424 |
March 2019 |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 4,546,699 |  |  | $ | 28,963,424 |
April 2019 |  |  | 56,772 |  |  | $ | 3.39 |  |  |  | 4,603,471 |  |  | $ | 28,770,717 |

65

May 2019 |  |  | 77,420 |  |  | $ | 3.28 |  |  |  | 4,680,891 |  |  | $ | 28,516,626 |
June 2019 |  |  | 62,461 |  |  | $ | 3.13 |  |  |  | 4,743,352 |  |  | $ | 28,321,171 |
July 2019 |  |  | 28,559 |  |  | $ | 3.10 |  |  |  | 4,771,911 |  |  | $ | 28,232,705 |
August 2019 |  |  | 37,827 |  |  | $ | 2.92 |  |  |  | 4,809,738 |  |  | $ | 28,232,702 |
September 2019 |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 4,809,738 |  |  | $ | 28,232,702 |
October 2019 |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 4,809,738 |  |  | $ | 28,232,702 |
November 2019 |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 4,809,738 |  |  | $ | 28,232,702 |
December 2019 |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 4,809,738 |  |  | $ | 28,232,702 |
January 2020 |  |  | 700 |  |  | $ | 2.78 |  |  |  | 4,810,438 |  |  | $ | 28,230,756 |
February 2020 |  |  | 17,827 |  |  | $ | 2.65 |  |  |  | 4,828,265 |  |  | $ | 28,183,547 |
March 2020 |  |  | 21,467 |  |  | $ | 2.40 |  |  |  | 4,849,732 |  |  | $ | 28,131,985 |

ITEM 16F-CHANGE IN REGISTRANT’S CERTIFYING ACCOUNTANT

Not Applicable

ITEM 16G-CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

We are incorporated in the Cayman Islands and our corporate governance practices are governed by applicable Cayman Islands law as well as our memorandum and articles of association. In addition, because our ordinary shares are listed on NASDAQ, we are subject to NASDAQ’s corporate governance requirements.

NASDAQ Marketplace Rule 5620(a) requires each issuer to hold an annual meeting of shareholders no later than one year after the end of the issuer’s fiscal year end. However, NASDAQ Marketplace Rule 5615(a)(3) permits a foreign private issuer like us to follow home country practices in lieu of certain requirements of Rule 5600, provided that such foreign private issuer discloses in its annual report filed with the SEC each requirement of Rule 5600 that it does not follow and describes the home country practice followed in lieu of such requirement. We follow home country practice with respect to annual meetings and did not hold an annual shareholder meeting in 2019. Our Cayman Islands counsel has provided a letter to NASDAQ certifying that under Cayman Islands law, we are not required to hold annual shareholder meetings. We may, however, hold annual shareholder meetings in the future if there are significant issues that require shareholders’ approvals.

ITEM 16H-MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE

Not Applicable.

PART III

ITEM 17-FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have elected to provide financial statements pursuant to Item 18.

ITEM 18-FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements of UTStarcom Holdings Corp. and its subsidiaries are included at the end of this Annual Report.

66

ITEM 19-E XHIBITS

Exhibit Number |  | Description |  | Form |  | Incorporated by Reference From Exhibit Number |  | Date Filed
1.1 |  | Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association. |  | 20-F |  | 1.1 |  | 4/26/2013
2.1 |  | Description of share capital of the Registrant (incorporated herein by reference to (i) the sections titled “Description of Capital Stock” in the Registrant’s registration statement on Form S-1(File No. 333-93069), as amended, including any form of prospectus contained therein pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act of 1933 and |  | S-1 |  | — |  | Initially filed on, 12/20/1999
|  | (ii) the Registrant’s registration statement on Form 8-A (File No. 000-29661) |  | Form 8-A |  | — |  | 2/23/2000
4.1 |  | Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form F-4 (File No. 333-173828) filed with the SEC on May 2, 2011 |  | F-4 |  | 10.1 |  | 5/02/2011
4.2 |  | Stockholder Rights Agreement, made as of February 1, 2010, by and between UTStarcom, Inc. and Beijing E-town International Investment and Development Co., Ltd. |  | 8-K |  | 4.1 |  | 2/4/2010
4.3 |  | 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, as adopted on July 21, 2006. |  | S-8/A |  | 4.1 |  | 3/10/2020
4.4 |  | 2017 Equity Incentive Plan, as adopted on January 1, 2017. |  | S-8/A |  | 4.1 |  | 3/10/2020
4.5 |  | Form of Stock Option Award Agreement for use under 2017 Equity Incentive Plan. |  | 20-F |  | 4.5 |  | 4/17/2019
4.6 |  | Form of Stock Option Agreement for Directors and Officers for use under the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan. |  | 20-F |  | 4.6 |  | 4/17/2019
4.7 |  | Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock for use under the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan. |  | 20-F |  | 4.7 |  | 4/17/2019
4.8 |  | Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Units for use under the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan. |  | 20-F |  | 4.8 |  | 4/17/2019
4.9 |  | Form of Notice of Grant of Performance Shares for use under the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan. |  | 20-F |  | 4.9 |  | 4/17/2019
4.10 |  | Form of Notice of Grant of Performance Units for use under the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan. |  | 20-F |  | 4.10 |  | 4/17/2019
4.11 |  | UTStarcom, Inc. Amended and Restated Executive Involuntary Termination Severance Pay Plan. |  | 10-Q |  | 10.2 |  | 5/8/2009
4.12 |  | Letter dated November 13, 2017 from GHP Horwath, P.C. |  | 20-F |  | 4.14 |  | 11/14/2017
4.13 |  | Letter dated November 14, 2017 from Crowe Horwath LLP |  | 20-F |  | 4.15 |  | 11/14/2017
8.1 |  | Subsidiaries of UTStarcom Holdings Corp. |  | Filed herewith |  | — |  | —
12.1 |  | Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. |  | Filed herewith |  | — |  | —
12.2 |  | Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. |  | Filed herewith |  | — |  | —
13.1 |  | Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. |  | Filed herewith |  | — |  | —
13.2 |  | Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. |  | Filed herewith |  | — |  | —
15.1 |  | Consent of Grant Thornton |  | Filed herewith |  |  |  |
101.INS |  | XBRL Instance Document |  | Filed herewith |  |  |  |
101.SCH |  | XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document |  | Filed herewith |  |  |  |
101.CAL |  | XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document |  | Filed herewith |  |  |  |
101.DEF |  | XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document |  | Filed herewith |  |  |  |
101.LAB |  | XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document |  | Filed herewith |  |  |  |
101.PRE |  | XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document |  | Filed herewith |  |  |  |

67

SIGNAT URES

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F and that it has duly caused and authorized the undersigned to sign this annual report on its behalf.

| UTSTARCOM HOLDINGS CORP.
Date: April 29, 2020 | By: | /s/ Zhaochen Huang
|  | Name: | Zhaochen Huang
|  | Title: | Acting Chief Executive Officer

68

UTSTARCOM HOLDINGS CORP.

|  | Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm |  | F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2019 and 2018 |  | F-3
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 |  | F-4
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 |  | F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 |  | F-6
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements |  | F-7
Schedule I-Condensed Financial Information of Registrant |  | F-32
Schedule II-Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves |  | F-35

F-1

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGIST ERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders

UTStarcom Holdings Corp.

Opinion on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of UTStarcom Holdings Corp. (a Cayman Islands corporation) and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes and schedules (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Change in accounting principle

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed its method of accounting for leases in 2019 due to the adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (Topic 842), Leases.

Basis for opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ GRANT THORNTON

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2017.

Shanghai, China

April 29, 2020

F-2

UTSTARCOM HOLDINGS CORP.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except per share data)

|  | December 31, |  |  | December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |
ASSETS |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Current assets: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Cash and cash equivalents |  | $ | 34,966 |  |  | $ | 57,049 |
Short-term investments |  |  | 2,095 |  |  |  | — |
Accounts receivable, net of allowances for doubtful accounts of $6,506 and $2,124 in 2019 and 2018, respectively |  |  | 77,831 |  |  |  | 60,666 |
Inventories |  |  | 6,142 |  |  |  | 26,388 |
Deferred costs |  |  | 513 |  |  |  | 449 |
Prepaid and other current assets |  |  | 5,524 |  |  |  | 6,776 |
Short-term restricted cash |  |  | 10,007 |  |  |  | 8,827 |
Total current assets |  |  | 137,078 |  |  |  | 160,155 |
Property, plant and equipment, net |  |  | 1,092 |  |  |  | 1,258 |
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net |  |  | 2,860 |  |  |  | — |
Long-term investments |  |  | 3,129 |  |  |  | 5,224 |
Long-term deferred tax assets |  |  | 2,772 |  |  |  | 2,307 |
Long-term restricted cash |  |  | 3,634 |  |  |  | 7,824 |
Other long-term assets |  |  | 738 |  |  |  | 667 |
Total assets |  |  | 151,303 |  |  |  | 177,435 |
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Current liabilities: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Accounts payable |  |  | 30,875 |  |  |  | 50,757 |
Income taxes payable |  |  | 7,480 |  |  |  | 6,996 |
Customer advances |  |  | 160 |  |  |  | 561 |
Deferred revenue |  |  | 1,320 |  |  |  | 968 |
Operating lease liabilities, current |  |  | 1,595 |  |  |  | — |
Employee payroll and compensation payable |  |  | 2,855 |  |  |  | 5,224 |
Other current liabilities |  |  | 4,748 |  |  |  | 5,287 |
Total current liabilities |  |  | 49,033 |  |  |  | 69,793 |
Long-term deferred revenue |  |  | 369 |  |  |  | 2,979 |
Operating lease liabilities, non-current |  |  | 1,364 |  |  |  | — |
Other long-term liabilities |  |  | 1,349 |  |  |  | 2,497 |
Total liabilities |  |  | 52,115 |  |  |  | 75,269 |
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8) |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Shareholders’ equity: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Ordinary shares: $0.00375 par value; 250,000 authorized shares; 40,335 and 39,799 shares issued at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively; 35,525 and 35,318 shares outstanding at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively |  | 123 |  |  | 123 |
Additional paid-in capital |  |  | 1,265,615 |  |  |  | 1,264,160 |
Treasury stock, at cost: 4,810 and 4,481 shares at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively |  |  | (11,948 | ) |  |  | (10,899 | )
Accumulated deficit |  |  | (1,216,703 | ) |  |  | (1,212,790 | )
Accumulated other comprehensive income |  |  | 62,101 |  |  |  | 61,572 |
Shareholders’ equity |  |  | 99,188 |  |  |  | 102,166 |
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity |  | $ | 151,303 |  |  | $ | 177,435 |

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

F-3

UTSTARCOM HOLDINGS CORP.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPERHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(In thousands, except per share data)

|  | Years ended December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |  |  | 2017 |
Net sales(1) |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Products |  | $ | 43,722 |  |  | $ | 97,680 |  |  | $ | 77,283 |
Services |  |  | 21,901 |  |  |  | 18,264 |  |  |  | 21,009 |
|  |  | 65,623 |  |  |  | 115,944 |  |  |  | 98,292 |
Cost of net sales |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Products |  |  | 29,566 |  |  |  | 72,082 |  |  |  | 50,636 |
Services |  |  | 11,900 |  |  |  | 11,594 |  |  |  | 14,510 |
|  |  | 41,466 |  |  |  | 83,676 |  |  |  | 65,146 |
Gross profit |  |  | 24,157 |  |  |  | 32,268 |  |  |  | 33,146 |
Operating expenses: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Selling, general and administrative(2) |  |  | 15,827 |  |  |  | 15,156 |  |  |  | 16,777 |
Research and development |  |  | 14,467 |  |  |  | 12,745 |  |  |  | 9,853 |
Total operating expenses |  |  | 30,294 |  |  |  | 27,901 |  |  |  | 26,630 |
Operating income (loss) |  |  | (6,137 | ) |  |  | 4,367 |  |  |  | 6,516 |
Interest income |  |  | 1,337 |  |  |  | 1,749 |  |  |  | 1,177 |
Interest expense |  |  | (16 | ) |  |  | (47 | ) |  |  | (48 | )
Other income (expense), net |  |  | 872 |  |  |  | (644 | ) |  |  | 2,976 |
Equity loss of associates |  |  | — |  |  |  | (613 | ) |  |  | (687 | )
Investment impairment |  |  | — |  |  |  | (370 | ) |  |  | (1,690 | )
Income before income taxes |  |  | (3,944 | ) |  |  | 4,442 |  |  |  | 8,244 |
Income tax benefit (expense) |  |  | 31 |  |  |  | 378 |  |  |  | (1,263 | )
Net income (loss) |  | $ | (3,913 | ) |  | $ | 4,820 |  |  | $ | 6,981 |
Net income (loss) per share Basic |  | $ | (0.11 | ) |  | $ | 0.14 |  |  | $ | 0.20 |
Net income (loss) per share Diluted |  | $ | (0.11 | ) |  | $ | 0.13 |  |  | $ | 0.19 |
Weighted average shares outstanding-Basic |  |  | 35,556 |  |  |  | 35,642 |  |  |  | 35,467 |
Weighted average shares outstanding-Diluted |  |  | 35,556 |  |  |  | 36,319 |  |  |  | 36,176 |
Net income (loss) |  |  | (3,913 | ) |  |  | 4,820 |  |  |  | 6,981 |
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Net change in cumulative translation adjustment |  |  | 529 |  |  |  | (839 | ) |  |  | 409 |
Comprehensive income (loss) |  | $ | (3,384) |  |  | $ | 3,981 |  |  | $ | 7,390 |

(1) | The revenue recognized in the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 that was included in deferred revenue (including current and non-current) and customer advances as of the beginning of each respective period were $2.8 million, $4.0 million and $2.7 million, respectively.

(2) | Allowances for doubtful accounts of $4.4 million, $0.8 million and reversal $0.06 million were recognized in the selling expenses in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

F-4

UTSTARCOM HOLDINGS CORP.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In thousands, except share data)

|  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  | Accumulated |  |  |  |  |
|  | Ordinary Shares |  |  | Additional |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  | Other |  |  | Total |
|  | Shares |  |  |  |  |  | Paid-in |  |  | Treasury |  |  | (Accumulated |  |  | Comprehensive |  |  | Stockholders’ |
|  | outstanding |  |  | Amount |  |  | Capital |  |  | Stock |  |  | Deficit) |  |  | Income |  |  | Equity |
|  | (In thousands, except number of shares) |
Balance at December 31, 2016 |  |  | 35,224,553 |  |  | $ | 122 |  |  | $ | 1,262,005 |  |  | $ | (8,234 | ) |  | $ | (1,233,154 | ) |  | $ | 62,002 |  |  | $ | 82,741 |
Repurchase of ordinary shares |  |  | (72,739 | ) |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  | (140 | ) |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  | (140 | )
Restricted stock issued and restricted stock units released |  |  | 302,886 |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 866 |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 866 |
Ordinary shares issued upon option exercise |  |  | 51,666 |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 135 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  | 135 |
Net income |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 6,981 |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 6,981 |
Other comprehensive income: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Foreign currency translation |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 2,112 |  |  |  | 2,112 |
Recognition due to closure of the subsidiaries |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | (1,703 | ) |  |  | (1,703 | )
Balance at December 31, 2017 |  |  | 35,506,366 |  |  | $ | 122 |  |  | $ | 1,263,006 |  |  | $ | (8,374 | ) |  | $ | (1,226,173 | ) |  | $ | 62,411 |  |  | $ | 90,992 |
Repurchase of ordinary shares |  |  | (623,765 | ) |  | — |  |  | — |  |  |  | (2,525 | ) |  | — |  |  | — |  |  |  | (2,525 | )
Restricted stock issued and restricted stock units released |  |  | 399,991 |  |  | — |  |  | 1,097 |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 1,097 |
Ordinary shares issued upon option exercise |  |  | 35,150 |  |  | 1 |  |  | 79 |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 80 |
Cumulative effect of change in revenue recognition accounting principle |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 8,563 |  |  |  | — |  |  | 8,563 |
Acquisition of non-controlling interests |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | (22 | ) |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | (22 | )
Net income |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 4,820 |  |  | — |  |  | 4,820 |
Other comprehensive loss: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Foreign currency translation |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  | (839) |  |  | (839) |
Balance at December 31, 2018 |  |  | 35,317,742 |  |  |  | 123 |  |  |  | 1,264,160 |  |  |  | (10,899 | ) |  |  | (1,212,790 | ) |  |  | 61,572 |  |  |  | 102,166 |
Ordinary shares issued upon option exercise |  |  | 25,000 |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 56 |  |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  |  | 56 |
Restricted stock issued and restricted stock units released |  |  | 510,438 |  |  | — |  |  | 1,399 |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 1,399 |
Repurchase of ordinary shares |  |  | (328,856 | ) |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  | (1,049) |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | (1,049) |
Net loss |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | (3,913) |  |  | — |  |  | (3,913) |
Other comprehensive income: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Foreign currency translation |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  | 529 |  |  | 529 |
Balance at December 31, 2019 |  |  | 35,524,324 |  |  |  | 123 |  |  |  | 1,265,615 |  |  |  | (11,948 | ) |  |  | (1,216,703 | ) |  |  | 62,101 |  |  |  | 99,188 |

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

F-5

UTSTARCOM HOLDINGS CORP.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

|  | Years ended December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |  |  | 2017 |
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Net income (loss) |  | $ | (3,913 | ) |  | $ | 4,820 |  |  | $ | 6,981 |
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Depreciation |  |  | 644 |  |  |  | 702 |  |  |  | 628 |
Lease amortization |  |  | 1,946 |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |
Net loss (gain) on disposal of assets |  |  | 5 |  |  |  | (21 | ) |  |  | — |
Gain on cumulative translation adjustment recognition from liquidation of subsidiaries |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | (1,703 | )
Gain on liquidation of a subsidiary |  |  | — |  |  |  | (909 | ) |  |  | — |
Reversal of FIN 45 & FIN 48 due to expiration of statute of limitations |  |  | (1,182 | ) |  |  | (2,462 | ) |  |  | (1,409 | )
Equity loss of associates |  |  | — |  |  |  | 613 |  |  |  | 687 |
Investment impairment |  |  | — |  |  |  | 370 |  |  |  | 1,690 |
Gain on reversal of accounts payable |  |  | (3,161 | ) |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |
Stock-based compensation expense |  |  | 1,399 |  |  |  | 1,097 |  |  |  | 866 |
Provision for doubtful accounts receivable |  |  | 4,396 |  |  |  | 812 |  |  |  | 4 |
Deferred income taxes |  |  | (465 | ) |  |  | 705 |  |  |  | (1,092 | )
Changes in operating assets and liabilities |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Accounts receivable |  |  | (21,561 | ) |  |  | (44,815 | ) |  |  | 1,413 |
Inventories and deferred costs |  |  | 20,182 |  |  |  | 6,565 |  |  |  | 1,212 |
Prepaid and other assets |  |  | (3,625 | ) |  |  | 5,540 |  |  |  | (7,280 | )
Accounts payable |  |  | (19,882 | ) |  |  | 23,193 |  |  |  | 5,183 |
Income taxes payable |  |  | 506 |  |  |  | (929 | ) |  |  | (26 | )
Customer advances |  |  | (401 | ) |  |  | (6,044 | ) |  |  | (7,218 | )
Deferred revenue |  |  | (2,259 | ) |  |  | (4,930 | ) |  |  | (3,172 | )
Other liabilities |  |  | 3,224 |  |  |  | (10,413 | ) |  |  | 7,074 |
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities |  |  | (24,147 | ) |  |  | (26,106 | ) |  |  | 3,838 |
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Purchase of property, plant and equipment |  |  | (507 | ) |  |  | (225 | ) |  |  | (732 | )
Acquisition of uSTAR, net of cash acquired |  |  | — |  |  |  | (673 | ) |  |  | — |
Purchase of short-term investments |  |  | (41 | ) |  |  | — |  |  |  | (3,164 | )
Purchase of investments |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | (481 | )
Proceeds from sale of investments |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 500 |
Proceeds from sale of short-term investments |  |  | 41 |  |  |  | 3,143 |  |  |  | — |
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (1) |  |  | (507 | ) |  |  | 2,245 |  |  |  | (3,877 | )
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Proceeds from exercise of stock options |  |  | 56 |  |  |  | 101 |  |  |  | 113 |
Proceeds from short-term borrowing |  |  | 4,625 |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |
Repayment of short-term borrowing |  |  | (4,625 | ) |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |
Repurchase of ordinary shares |  |  | (1,049 | ) |  |  | (2,525 | ) |  |  | (140 | )
Net cash used in financing activities |  |  | (993 | ) |  |  | (2,424 | ) |  |  | (27 | )
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents |  |  | 554 |  |  |  | (701 | ) |  |  | 2,112 |
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (1) |  |  | (25,093 | ) |  |  | (26,986 | ) |  |  | 2,046 |
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year (1) |  |  | 73,700 |  |  |  | 100,686 |  |  |  | 98,640 |
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year (1) |  | $ | 48,607 |  |  | $ | 73,700 |  |  | $ | 100,686 |
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Cash paid: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Interest paid |  |  | 16 |  |  |  | 47 |  |  |  | 48 |
Income taxes paid |  |  | 1,400 |  |  |  | 1,221 |  |  |  | 2,012 |

(1) | The Company adopted ASU 2016-18 in 2018 and adjusted the 2017 balances retrospectively.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

F-6

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1-BASIS OF PRESENTATION, LIQUIDITY

UTStarcom Holdings Corp., a Cayman Islands corporation incorporated in 2011 and its wholly owned subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”), is a global telecom infrastructure provider dedicated to developing technology that will serve the rapidly growing demand for bandwidth from mobile, streaming and other applications. The Company works with carriers from Asia to the Americas, to meet this demand through a range of innovative broadband packet optical transport and wireless/fixed-line access products and solutions.

UTStarcom Inc. was founded in 1991 and started trading on NASDAQ in 2000. On June 24, 2011, the stockholders of UTStarcom Inc. approved the proposed merger (the “Merger”), to reorganize UTStarcom, Inc. as a Cayman Islands company. Pursuant to the approval of the shareholders, UTSI Mergeco Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of UTStarcom Holdings Corp., merged with and into the existing public company, UTStarcom, Inc., which is incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware. As a result of the reorganization, UTStarcom Holdings Corp. became the parent company of UTStarcom, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

Also pursuant to the Merger, the Company issued an equal number of ordinary shares in exchange for the common stock of UTStarcom, Inc. The Company’s business is conducted in substantially the same manner as was conducted by UTStarcom, Inc. The transaction was accounted for as a legal re-organization of entities under common control. The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly- and majority-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income for each of the three years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 have been prepared by the Company is in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“US GAAP”).

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented on the basis that the Company is a going concern. The going concern assumption contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business and considers the Company’s current financial status, business operation, market strategy, and products development in the twelve months following the issuance date of these financial statements. The Company has concluded there was no substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The Company incurred net loss of $3.9 million and earned net income of $4.8 million and $7.0 million during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had an accumulated deficit of $1,216.7 million and $1,212.8 million, respectively. The Company used net cash from operations of $24.1 million and $26.1 million, and generated net cash inflow from operation of $3.8 million during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $35.0 million and $57.0 million, of which $3.1 million and $8.9 million, respectively, were held by subsidiaries in China. China imposes currency exchange controls on certain transfers of cash to and from China. The Company’s China subsidiaries are subject to pre-approval from the State Administration of Foreign Exchange (“SAFE”) for non-domestic financing. Additionally, the amount of cash available for transfer from the China subsidiaries for use by the Company’s non-China subsidiaries is also limited both by the liquidity needs of the subsidiaries in China and the restriction on foreign currency exchange by Chinese-government mandated limitations including currency exchange controls on certain transfers of funds outside of China. The Company’s China subsidiaries have no accumulated profit as of December 31, 2019 determined in accordance with Chinese accounting standards that can be paid as dividends. In 2019, 2018 and 2017, the Company’s China subsidiaries did not pay dividends.

NOTE 2-SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of Estimates:

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant judgment and estimates are used for revenue recognition, allowances for doubtful accounts and sales returns, tax valuation allowances, inventory write-down, impairment of property, plant and equipment, deferred costs, accrued product warranty costs, provisions for contract losses, investment impairments, going concern assessment, stock-based compensation expense, and loss contingencies among others. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.

F-7

Cash and Cash Equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid instruments with maturities of three months or less when acquired. Approximately 4.9%, or $1.7 million and 10.6% or $6.0 million of cash and cash equivalents were held by the Company’s subsidiaries in the United States as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The remainder was held by the other UTStarcom entities throughout the world. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, approximately 9.0%, or $3.1 million and 15.7% or $8.9 million, of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents were held by its subsidiaries in China, respectively. China imposes currency exchange controls on transfers of funds outside of China.

Restricted Cash:

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had short-term restricted cash of $10.0 million, and long-term restricted cash of $3.6 million. As of December 31, 2018, the Company had short-term restricted cash of $8.8 million, and had long-term restricted cash of $7.8 million. These amounts primarily collateralize the Company’s issuances of performance bonds, warranty bonds, and standby and commercial letters of credit.

Investments:

The Company’s investments consist principally of debt and equity securities classified as “available for sale,” and cost and equity method investments in privately held companies. The investments in equity securities of privately held companies in which the Company does not have the ability to exercise significant influence are accounted for under ASC 325, “Investments-Other” using the cost method. Under the cost method, these investments are carried at cost less impairment, if any. The investments in equity securities of privately held companies in which the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence, but does not own a majority equity interest or otherwise control are accounted for under ASC 323, “ Investments-Equity Method and Joint Ventures ” using the equity method. Investments in debt securities classified as available for sale are measured at fair value on the balance sheets under ASC 320, “Investments-Debt and Equity Securities.” Unrealized holding gains and losses for available-for-sale securities (including those classified as current assets) are excluded from earnings and reported in other comprehensive income until realized except as indicated in the following paragraph.

The Company recognizes an impairment charge when a decline in the fair value of its investments below the cost basis is judged to be other-than-temporary. The Company reviews several factors to determine whether the losses are other-than-temporary, including but not limited to: (i) the length of time the investment was in an unrealized loss position, (ii) the extent to which fair value was less than cost, (iii) the financial condition and near term prospects of the issuer, and (iv) the Company’s intent and ability to hold the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value. The determination of fair value of the investment involves considering factors such as current economic and market conditions, the operating performance of the companies including current earnings trends and forecasted cash flows, and other company and industry specific information. Investment impairments recorded as other-than-temporary were nil, $0.4 million, and $1.7million, for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Revenue Recognition:

Effective January 1, 2018, The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with ASC 606. The core principle of ASC 606 is that revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of promised products or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to receive in exchange for those products or services. To determine the appropriate amount of revenue to be recognized for arrangements determined to be within the scope of ASC 606, for each customer contract, we performed the following five steps:

| 1. | Identify the contract with a customer;

| 2. | Identify the performance obligations in the contract;

| 3. | Determine the transaction price;

| 4. | Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and

| 5. | Recognize revenue when or as the Company satisfies a performance obligation.

The Company accounts for a contract with a customer that is within the scope of ASC 606 when all of the following criteria are met: (i) the arrangement has been approved by the parties and the parties are committed to perform their respective obligations, (ii) each party's rights regarding the goods or services to be transferred can be identified, (iii) the payment terms for the goods or services to be transferred can be identified, (iv) the arrangement has commercial substance and (v) collection of substantially all of the consideration to which the Company will be entitled in exchange for the goods or services that will be transferred to the customer is probable.

F-8

Performance obligations promised in a contract are identified based on the services and the products that will be transferred to the customer that are both capable of being distinct, whereby the customer can benefit from the service either on its own or together with other resources that are readily available from third parties or from us, and are distinct in the context of the contract, whereby the transfer of the services and the products is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract. Our performance obligations consist of (i) sales of communication equipment with embedded software, (ii) provision of installation and commission service, and (iii) provision of annual maintenance service. The software component is not considered distinct as the software component is integral to the functionality of the communication equipment.

The transaction price is determined based on the consideration to which we expect to be entitled in exchange for transferring services to the customer. Some sales agreements have performance guarantees covering a certain timeframe. If there is an underperformance event, the Company may incur liquidation damages as a percentage of the total purchase price. Such performance guarantees represent a form of variable consideration and are estimated at the contact inception at the best estimate and updated at the end of each reporting period as additional performance data becomes available and only to the extent that it is probably that a significant reversal of any revenue will not occur. Variable consideration includes estimates for sales credits, which are based on historical level and specific criteria outlined in the sales contracts, and other factors known at the time. The Company generally invoices customers for equipment and services upon meeting certain milestones. Customer invoices are generally due within 30 to 90 days after issuance. The Company’s contracts with customers typically do not include significant financing components as the period between the transfer of performance obligations and timing of payment are generally within one year.

The Company allocates the transaction price based on the estimated standalone selling price. The Company develops assumptions that require judgment to determine the standalone selling price for each performance obligation identified in the contract. The Company utilizes key assumptions to determine the standalone selling price, which may include other comparable transactions, pricing considered in negotiating the transaction and the estimated costs. Certain variable consideration is allocated specifically to one or more performance obligations in a contract when the terms of the variable consideration relate to the satisfaction of the performance obligation and the resulting amounts allocated to each performance obligation are consistent with the amounts the Company would expect to receive for satisfying each performance obligation.

Revenue recognized when a customer obtains control of promised goods or services at an amount that reflects the consideration that is expected to be received in exchange for those goods or services. The Company utilizes judgment to assess the nature of the combined performance obligation determine whether a performance obligation is satisfied over time or at a point in time.

Revenue from sales of communication equipment is recognized at a point in time, which is generally upon delivery. Revenue from provision of installation and commission service is recognized at a point in time when the service is completed. Revenue from provision of annual maintenance services is recognized over time on a ratable basis over the contract term.

Revenue recognition prior to January 1, 2018:

The Company recognized revenue when title and risk of loss have transferred, persuasive evidence of arrangement exists, the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. Certain of the Company's product offerings contain multiple deliverables including hardware with embedded software, back office hosting services, unspecified software upgrades and enhancements related to the software embedded in these products through service contracts, which are considered separate units of accounting. For products under these arrangements, the software and non-software components function together to deliver the tangible product’s essential functionality.

The Company allocated revenue to each element in these multiple-element arrangements based upon the relative selling prices of each deliverable. In applying the relative selling price method, the Company determined the selling price for each deliverable using vendor specific objective evidence (VSOE), if it exists, or third-party evidence (TPE) of selling price. If neither VSOE nor TPE of selling price existed for a deliverable, the best estimate of selling price (BESP) was then used for that element. BESP represents the price at which the Company would transact a sale if the element were sold on a standalone basis. The Company determined BESP for an element by considering multiple factors including, but not limited to, the Company's go-to-market strategy, pricing practices, internal costs, gross margin, market conditions and geographies. Revenue allocated to each element was then recognized when the other revenue recognition criteria were met for that element.

Product Warranty:

The Company provides a warranty on its equipment and terminal sales for periods generally ranging from one to two years from the time of final acceptance. At times, the Company has entered into arrangements to provide limited warranty services for periods longer than two years. The Company provides for the expected cost of product warranties at the time that revenue is recognized based on an assessment of past warranty experience and when specific circumstances dictate. The Company assesses the adequacy of its recorded warranty liability every quarter and makes adjustments to the liabilities if necessary. From time to time, the Company may be subject to additional costs related to non-standard warranty claims from its customers. If and when this occurs, the Company estimates additional accruals based on historical experience, communication with its customers and various assumptions

F-9

that the Company believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. Such additional warranty accruals are recorded in the period in which the additional costs are identified. Specific warranty accruals are reversed upon the expiration of the warranty period and are recorded as reduction of cost of sales.

Receivables:

Although the Company evaluates customer credit worthiness prior to a sale, the Company provides an allowance for doubtful accounts for the estimated loss on trade receivables when collection may no longer be reasonably assured. The Company assesses collectability of receivables based on a number of factors including analysis of creditworthiness, the Company’s historical collection history and current economic conditions, its ability to collect payment, and on the length of time an individual receivable balance is outstanding. The Company’s policy for determining the allowance for doubtful accounts includes both specific allowances for balances known to be doubtful of recovery and a formula-based portfolio approach based on aging of the accounts receivable, as a part of management’s review of the overall allowance for doubtful accounts. This formula-based approach involves aging of the Company’s accounts receivable and applying a percentage based on the Company’s historical experience. The Company evaluates the percentages applied to each category of aged accounts receivable periodically based on actual history of write-offs and collections and refines this formula-based approach accordingly for use in future periods. Receivable balances are written-off when the Company has sufficient evidence to prove that they are uncollectible.

Inventories:

Inventories consist of product held at the Company’s manufacturing facility and warehouses, as well as finished goods at customer sites for which the customer has taken possession, but based on specific contractual terms, title has not yet passed to the customer. The Company may ship inventory to existing customers that require additional equipment to expand their existing networks prior to the signing of an expansion contract. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market value, based on the first-in-first-out (“FIFO”) method of accounting. Reserve are based on assumptions about future market conditions and customer demand, including projected changes in average selling prices resulting from competitive pricing pressures. The Company continually monitors inventory valuation for potential losses and obsolete inventory at its manufacturing facilities as well as at customer sites. If actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management, additional reserves may be required. If actual market conditions are more favorable than anticipated, the previously reserved inventory may be sold to customers, resulting in lower cost of sales and higher income from operations than expected in that period.

Deferred Costs:

Deferred cost balances are the unamortized cost of post-contract customer support over a period of time of certain legacy contracts. The Company amortizes the deferred revenue and related costs of goods sold over the post-contract support period.

Property, Plant and Equipment:

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost and are stated net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated useful lives or the term of the lease. When assets are disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed and the resulting gains or losses are included in results of operations. The Company generally depreciates its property, plant and equipment over the following periods:

|  | Years
Equipment and furniture |  | 5
Computers and software |  | 2 – 3
Automobiles |  | 5
Leasehold improvements |  | Lesser of the lease term or estimated useful life

Depreciation expense was $0.6 million, $0.7 million, and $0.6 million, for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets:

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If undiscounted expected future cash flows are less than the carrying value of the assets, an impairment loss is recognized based on the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of the assets. Long-lived assets that are to be sold are measured at the lower of book value or fair value less cost to sell.

F-10

Advances:

Advances from customers represent cash received from customers before revenue recognition for the purchase of the Company’s products.

Advertising Costs:

The Company expenses all advertising costs as incurred. Payment to customers for marketing development costs are accounted for as incurred as a reduction of the revenue associated with customers. For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, advertising costs totaled $0.1 million, $0.1 million, and $0.1 million, respectively.

Operating Leases:

At the inception of each arrangement, the Company determine if the arrangement is a lease or contains an embedded lease and review the facts and circumstances of the arrangement to classify lease assets as operating or finance leases under Topic 842.

The Company leases office space under operating lease agreements with initial lease terms up to five years. The Company has entered into various non-cancelable operating lease agreements for its office space. These leases have original lease periods expiring between 2019 to 2023 and some of these lease agreements have options to extend the lease terms for an additional period subject to mutual negotiations and agreements with the lessor. The Company considered all renewal options that were reasonably certain to be exercised and are considered in determining the lease term at the inception of the lease.

The Company measures lease liabilities based on the present value of the total remaining lease payments. To determine the present value of future minimum lease payments, we used the implicit rate when readily determinable. When the implicit rate is not available, the Company applies its incremental borrowing rate, which is the estimated rate the Company would be required to pay for a collateralized borrowing equal to the total lease payments over the term of the lease. The Company estimates its incremental borrowing rate based on an analysis of publicly traded debt securities of companies with credit and financial profiles similar to its own.

Treasury Stock:

Treasury stock is recorded at cost and represents shares repurchased by the Company.

Stock-Based Compensation:

Stock-based compensation expense for all share-based payment awards granted to employees is determined based on the grant-date fair value. Stock-based compensation expense for restricted stock awards is measured based on the closing fair market value of the Company’s ordinary shares on the date of grant. Stock-based compensation expense for stock options is estimated at the grant date based on each option’s fair value as calculated by the Black-Scholes model. Stock-based compensation is expensed ratably on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting term of the share-based payment awards. The performance-based restricted stock units are subject to the attainment of goals determined by the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors. The Company records the relevant stock-based compensation for the performance-based restricted stock units based on the probability of meeting the performance conditions.

F-11

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (“AOCI”):

AOCI consisted of foreign currency translation adjustments. The changes in AOCI, including the amounts reclassified to income, were as follows:

|  | Foreign currency |
|  | translation and |
|  | unrealized gains |
|  | (losses), net |
|  | of tax |
|  | (in thousands) |
Balance at December 31, 2017 |  | $ | 62,411 |
Unrecognized loss on foreign currency translation |  |  | (839 | )
Balance at December 31, 2018 |  | $ | 61,572 |
Unrecognized gain on foreign currency translation |  |  | 529 |
Balance at December 31, 2019 |  | $ | 62,101 |

Income Taxes:

The Company is subject to income taxes in both the United States and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in evaluating our tax positions and determining the provision for income taxes. During the ordinary course of business, there are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Company recognizes the tax benefit (expense) from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The Company recognizes interest expense and penalties related to income tax matters as part of the provision for income taxes.

The Company recognizes deferred income taxes as the difference between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their financial statement amounts based on enacted tax rates. Management judgment is required in the assessment of the recoverability of our deferred tax assets based on its assessment of projected taxable income. Numerous factors could affect our results of operations in the future. If there is a significant decline in our future operating results, management’s assessment of the recoverability of our deferred tax assets would need to be revised, and any such adjustment to our deferred tax assets would be charged to income in that period. If necessary, The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to an amount which management believes is more likely than not to be realized. Changes in estimates of taxable income in the future could result in reversal of the valuation allowances which would be credited to income in the year of reversal.

Financial Instruments:

Financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, short and long-term investments, notes receivable, accounts receivable and payable and accrued liabilities. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, bank notes, accounts receivable and payable, notes receivable, and accrued liabilities approximate their fair values because of the short-term nature of those instruments. The fair value of long-term investments in debt and equity securities is determined based on quoted market prices or available information about investees.

Foreign Currency Translation:

The Company’s operations are conducted through international subsidiaries where the local currency is the functional currency and the financial statements of those subsidiaries are translated from their respective functional currencies into U.S. Dollars which is the functional currency of the Company. All foreign currency assets and liabilities are translated at the period-end exchange rate and all revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate for the period. The effects of translating the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries into U.S. Dollars are reported as a cumulative translation adjustment, a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income in shareholders’ equity.

The foreign currency translation gain (loss) related to the remeasurement of transactions denominated in other than the functional currency is included in other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). In connection with this remeasurement process, the Company recorded a $ 3.9 million and $2.6 million loss, and gain of $0.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Earnings per Share:

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) available to shareholders by the weighted average number of the Company’s ordinary shares outstanding, as applicable, during the period, which excludes unvested restricted stock.

F-12

Diluted earnings per share reflects the amou nt of net income (loss) available to each ordinary share outstanding during the period plus number of additional shares that would have been outstanding if potentially dilutive securities had been issued. The Company’s potentially dilutive ordinary shares include outstanding stock options, unvested restricted stock, restricted stock units and performance-based units. The following table summarizes the total potential ordinary shares that were excluded from the diluted per share calculation, because their ef fect was anti-dilutive.

|  | Years ended December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |  |  | 2017 |
|  | (in thousands) |
Anti-dilutive stock options and awards/units outstanding |  |  | 1,335 |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |
Total(1) |  |  | 1,335 |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |

(1) | Calculated using the treasury stock method, which assumes proceeds are used to reduce the dilutive effect of outstanding stock awards. Assumed proceeds include the unrecognized deferred compensation of share awards, and assumed tax proceeds from excess stock-based compensation deductions.

For the year ended December 31, 2018, 1.5 million potential ordinary shares were dilutive. After the dilution, the diluted earnings per share during the years ended December 31, 2018 were as follows.

|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |
|  | (in thousands, except per |
|  | shares amounts) |
Net income (loss) |  | $ | (3,913 | ) |  | $ | 4,820 |
Weighted average shares outstanding—Diluted |  |  | 35,556 |  |  |  | 36,319 |
Net income (loss) per shares—Diluted |  | $ | (0.11 | ) |  | $ | 0.13 |

Recent Adopted Accounting Standards

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“ASU 2016-02”), as amended, which generally requires lessees to recognize operating and financing lease liabilities and corresponding right-of-use assets on the balance sheet and to provide enhanced disclosures surrounding the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leasing arrangements.

The Company adopted the new standard effective January 1, 2019 and used the modified retrospective transition approach, without adjusting the comparative periods presented. The Company elected the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance, which allows to carryforward our historical lease classification, and initial direct costs for any leases that exist prior to adoption of the new standard.

Upon adoption, the Company recognized an operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets of $2.4 million and total operating lease liabilities (including current and non-current) $2.3 million for operating leases. The cumulative effect of the changes made to our consolidated January 1, 2019 balance sheet for the adoption of ASU No. 2016-02 was as follows:

Reclassification |  | Balance at December 31, 2018 |  |  | Adjustment Due to Topic 842 |  |  | Balance at January 1, 2019 |
Assets |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net |  | $ | — |  |  | $ | 2,410 |  |  | $ | 2,410 |
Prepaid |  |  | 6,776 |  |  |  | (83 | ) |  |  | 6,693 |
Liabilities |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Operating lease liabilities, current |  |  | — |  |  |  | (898 | ) |  |  | (898 | )
Operating lease liabilities, non-current |  | $ | — |  |  | $ | (1,429 | ) |  | $ | (1,429 | )

Recent Accounting Pronouncements:

In January 2020, FASB issued ASU 2020-01, “Investments—Equity Securities (Topic 321), Investments—Equity Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 323), and Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815). ASU 2020-01 clarifies that a company should consider observable transactions that require it to apply or discontinue the equity method of accounting under Topic 323 when applying the measurement alternative in Topic 321. The amendments are effective for public business entities for fiscal years beginning after Dec. 15, 2020, and interim periods within those fiscal years, and for all other entities, for fiscal years beginning after Dec. 15, 2021, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is in the process of evaluating the financial impact to the Company.

F-13

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, “Income tax (Topic 740) Simplifying accounting for income taxes”. The amendments in this Update simplify the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740. The amendments also improve consistent application of and simplify GAAP for other areas of Topic 740 by clarifying and amending existing guidance. For public business entities, the amendments in this Update are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2020. The Company is in the process of evaluating the financial impact to the Company.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326), Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Statements. ASU 2016-13 requires a financial asset (or group of financial assets) measured at amortized cost basis to be presented at the net amount expected to be collected. The allowance for credit losses is a valuation account that is deducted from the amortized cost basis of the financial asset(s) to present the net carrying value at the amount expected to be collected on the financial asset. This ASU affects entities holding financial assets and net investment in leases that are not accounted for at fair value through net income. The amendments affect loans, debt securities, trade receivables, net investments in leases, off balance sheet credit exposures, reinsurance receivables, and any other financial assets not excluded from the scope that have the contractual rights to receive cash. For public business entities, the amendments in this update are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those fiscal years. All entities may adopt the amendments in this update through a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is effective (that is, a modified-retrospective approach). In April 25, 2019, ASU 2016-13 was updated with ASU 2019-04, which clarifies certain aspects of accounting for credit losses, hedging activities, and financial instruments. ASU 2019-04 provides certain alternatives for the measurement of the allowance for credit losses (ACL) on accrued interest receivable (AIR). These measurement alternatives include (1) measuring an ACL on AIR separately, (2) electing to provide separate disclosure of the AIR component of amortized cost as a practical expedient, and (3) making accounting policy elections to simplify certain aspects of the presentation and measurement of such AIR. For entities that have adopted ASU 2016-13, the amendments in ASU 2019-04 related to ASU 2016-13 are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods therein. An entity may early adopt ASU 2019-04 in any interim period after its issuance if the entity has adopted ASU 2016-13. The Company will adopt ASU 2019-04 for the year ended December 31, 2020, including interim periods therein and is in the process of evaluating the financial impact to the Company.

NOTE 3-ACQUISITION

On March 28, 2018, the Company became an investor of uSTAR, a JV Company by investing $1.8 million to acquire 49% of uSTAR’s equity interest. The Company used the equity method to account for this investment.

In December 2018, the Company invested an additional $1.9 million to purchase the remaining shares of uSTAR from its JV partner. After that transaction, the Company owned 100% equity interest of uSTAR and we consolidated uSTAR from the acquisition date. The Company assessed the fair value of all the assets and liabilities in uSTAR and concluded there was no Goodwill acquired during the transaction. Below is the purchase price allocation schedule as of the acquisition date:

Assets | Fair Value
(In thousands)
Net working capital | $ | 3,597
Long-term assets |  | 66
Total net assets |  | 3,663
Purchase price (51% of equity) | $ | 1,868

During the period between March 2018 to the date we acquired control of uSTAR , the Company recorded $0.4 million equity loss in connection with uSTAR.

NOTE 4-COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Total Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 consisted of the following:

|  | Years ended December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |  |  | 2017 |
|  | (in thousands) |
Net income (loss) |  | $ | (3,913 | ) |  | $ | 4,820 |  |  | $ | 6,981 |
Other comprehensive income (loss) |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Net Change in Foreign currency translation |  |  | 529 |  |  |  | (839 | ) |  |  | 409 |
Total comprehensive income (loss) |  |  | (3,384 | ) |  |  | 3,981 |  |  |  | 7,390 |

F-14

NOTE 5-BALANCE SHEET DETAILS

The following tables provide details of selected balance sheet items:

|  | December 31, |  |  | December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |
|  | (in thousands) |
Inventories: |  |  |  |  |  |
Raw materials |  | $ | 2,362 |  |  | $ | 1,665 |
Work in process |  |  | 1,285 |  |  |  | 2,992 |
Finished goods(1) |  |  | 2,495 |  |  |  | 21,731 |
Total Inventory |  | $ | 6,142 |  |  | $ | 26,388 |

(1) | Includes finished goods at customer sites of approximately $0.6 million and $14.4 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, for which the customer has taken possession, but based on specific contractual terms, title has not yet passed to the customer and for which revenue has not yet been recognized.

|  | December 31, |  |  | December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |
|  | (in thousands) |
Prepaid and other current assets |  |  |  |  |  |
Prepaid taxes(1) |  | $ | 2,340 |  |  | $ | 3,468 |
Advance to suppliers |  |  | 4 |  |  |  | 982 |
Other receivable |  |  | 1,361 |  |  |  | 794 |
Other(2) |  |  | 1,819 |  |  |  | 1,532 |
Total Prepaid and other current assets |  | $ | 5,524 |  |  | $ | 6,776 |

(1) | Includes $0.8 million prepaid consumption tax, $0.7 million prepaid of value added tax, $0.5 million duty recoverable and $0.2 million goods and service tax.

(2) | Includes $1.0 million interest receivable, $0.4 million prepaid of software and license.

|  | December 31, |  |  | December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |
|  | (in thousands) |
Property, plant and equipment, net: |  |  |  |  |  |
Leasehold improvements |  | $ | 1,799 |  |  | $ | 1,893 |
Automobiles |  |  | 319 |  |  |  | 323 |
Computer and Software |  |  | 4,764 |  |  |  | 4,878 |
Equipment and Furniture |  |  | 22,521 |  |  |  | 23,556 |
Total |  |  | 29,403 |  |  |  | 30,650 |
Less: accumulated depreciation |  |  | (28,311 | ) |  |  | (29,392 | )
Total Property, plant and equipment, net |  | $ | 1,092 |  |  | $ | 1,258 |

During the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, the Company wrote-off fully depreciated property, plant and equipment of $0.1 million with accumulated depreciation of $0.1 million, $3.3 million with accumulated depreciation of $3.3 million, and $0.6 million with accumulated depreciation of $0.6 million, respectively.

|  | December 31, |  |  | December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |
|  | (in thousands) |
Other current liabilities: |  |  |  |  |  |
Accrued contract costs |  | $ | 140 |  |  | $ | 353 |
Warranty costs |  |  | 90 |  |  |  | 91 |
Accrued professional fees |  |  | 1,074 |  |  |  | 602 |
Accrued other taxes |  |  | 1,063 |  |  |  | 1,087 |
Other |  |  | 2,381 |  |  |  | 3,154 |
Total other current liabilities |  | $ | 4,748 |  |  | $ | 5,287 |

F-15

|  | December 31, |  |  | December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |
|  | (in thousands) |
Other long-term liabilities |  |  |  |  |  |
Non-current income tax payable |  | $ | 1,349 |  |  | $ | 1,327 |
Other long-term liabilities |  |  | — |  |  |  | 1,170 |
Total other long-term liabilities |  | $ | 1,349 |  |  | $ | 2,497 |

NOTE 6-CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND SHORT AND LONG TERM INVESTMENTS

Cash and cash equivalents, consisting primarily of bank deposits and money market funds, are recorded at cost which approximates fair value because of the short-term nature of these instruments.

Short-term investments consist of available-for-sale securities and held to maturity investments with original maturities longer than three months and less than twelve months when acquired. Long-term investments consist of cost and equity method investments in privately held companies.

The Company recognizes an impairment charge when a decline in the fair value of its investments below the cost basis is judged to be other-than-temporary. In making this determination, the Company reviews several factors to determine whether the losses are other-than-temporary, including but not limited to: (i) the length of time the investment was in an unrealized loss position, (ii) the extent to which fair value was less than cost, (iii) the financial condition and near term prospects of the issuer, and (iv) the Company’s intent and ability to hold the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value.

The following table shows the break-down of the Company’s total short-term investment and long-term investments as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018:

|  | Accounting |  | December 31, |  |  | December 31, |
|  | Method |  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |
|  |  |  | (in thousands) |
UTStarcom Hong Kong Holdings Ltd |  | Cost |  | $ | 3,129 |  |  | $ | 3,129 |
GCT Semiconductor, Inc. |  | Cost |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |
Total Investments using Cost Method |  |  |  |  | 3,129 |  |  |  | 3,129 |
Aceland |  | Equity |  |  | — |  |  |  | 2,095 |
UiTV |  | Equity |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |
AioTV |  | Equity |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |
Total Investments using Equity Method |  |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 2,095 |
Aceland |  | AFS |  |  | 2,095 |  |  |  | — |
Total Investments using Trading Method |  |  |  |  | 2,095 |  |  |  | — |
Total Investments |  |  |  | $ | 5,224 |  |  | $ | 5,224 |

GCT Semiconductor

In October 2004, the Company invested $3.0 million in Series D preferred convertible stock of GCT Semiconductor, Inc., or GCT, which designs, develops and markets integrated circuit products for the wireless communications industry. This investment represents approximately a 0.4% interest in GCT. The Company assesses the fair value every year-end. In 2012 and 2016, the Company recorded $2.1 million and $0.8 million investment impairment, respectively. As of December 31, 2016, the book value of the investment was zero.

UiTV Media Inc. or UiTV

On October 16, 2010, the Company invested $ 30.0 million in UiTV Media Inc., or (“UiTV”), $10.0 million of which was paid by the Company’s common shares that it had the repurchase rights and $20.0 million of which was paid by cash. The Company recorded this transaction as an acquisition because the Company owned 75% interest of UiTV and had effective control. The transactions closed on November 8, 2010. On April 15, 2012, the Company exercised its repurchase right, and this trigged deconsolidation of UiTV from the Company’s consolidated financial statements starting from June 21, 2012 as the Company lost the effective contol due to reduced ownership from 75% to 49% and loss of a board of directors seat. As the result, the Company accounted for this investment using the equity method. From December 3, 2012 to December 31, 2015, the Company purchased $35.1 million convertible bonds that bear interest at 6.5% per annum with various maturity dates, and subsequently all maturity dates were extended to December 31, 2015. In 2013 and 2014, the Company recorded a total of $9.6 million and $5.3 million, respectively, in losses for the preferred stock investment to reflect 49% interest in UiTV losses. After the value of the preferred shares was reduced to

F-16

zero, the Company started to record 100% of UiTV losses against our convertible bond investment balance until the carrying value of the convertible bond investment balance was reduced to zero. Therefore, in 2014 and 2015, the Company recorded $3.6 million and $14.0 million in losses to reflect 100% of UiTV losses. At every year-end, the Company assessed the fair value of the UiTV, and recorded impairment charges of $9.1 million, $2.4 million and $6.0 million in 2013, 2014 and 2015, respectively. The convertible bond investments balance was reduced to zero as of December 31, 2015.

UTStarcom Hong Kong Holdings Ltd.,

On August 31, 2012, the Company completed the sale of our IPTV business to UTStarcom Hong Kong Holdings Ltd. to its former Chief Executive Officer. On the same day, the Company purchased a $20.0 million Convertible Bond from UTStarcom Hong Kong Holdings Ltd. which bears interest at 6.5% per annum and matured on August 31, 2017. On April 7, 2015, the Company entered an agreement with UTStarcom Hong Kong Holdings Ltd. for the conversion of the $20.0 million Convertible Bond. Pursuant to the agreement, UTStarcom Hong Kong Holdings Ltd. paid $10.0 million in cash as partial repayment of the principal of the Convertible Bond. The remaining principal and interest of the Convertible Bond were converted to 14% of equity interest of UTStarcom Hong Kong Holdings Ltd. The Company used the cost method to account for this investment. The Company assesses the fair value every year-end. In 2015, the Company recorded $6.5 million investment impairment. During 2018 and 2019, the Company assessed the fair value of UTStarcom Hong Kong Holdings Ltd, and recorded a $0.4 million and nil impairment charge. As of December 31, 2019, the recorded value of this investment was $3.1 million.

Aceland Investment Limited

In December 2010, the Company invested $2.1 million into Aceland Investments Limited (“Aceland”). In the second quarter of 2011, the Company extended a shareholder loan to Aceland in the amount of $7.1 million with a maturity date of December, 31, 2015. The Company owned an approximately 35% interest in Aceland and accounted for the investment in Aceland using the equity method. In 2015, the Company recorded a $1.0 million impairment charge on the Aceland investment. In 2016, the Company received $6.7 million cash from Aceland as partial repayment of the loan balance and the Company realized a $1.0 million gain of foreign exchange. In 2017 and 2018, the Company realized a $0.2 million and $0.3 million equity loss as a result of the depreciation of the US Dollar deposit, respectively. As of December 31, 2018, the book value of the investment was $2.1 million. In October 2019, the Board of Aceland approved a resolution to reduce its shares capital and was expected to repurchase our full investment in Aceland within one year. As the result, the Company classified this investment as a trading security in the short-term investment account in the amount of $2.1 million at December 31, 2019. In March 2020, Aceland repurchased all of the Company’s investment and the Company recorded a $0.3 million gain in the other income.

AioTV Inc.

In November 2012, the Company invested $8.0 million in Series B Preferred Stocks of AioTV, at $0.320937 per share. The Preferred Stock was classified as available-for-sale security as it was not considered to be in-substance common stock due to the redemption feature. The Company owned a 45% equity interest in AioTV as of December 31, 2017. To estimate its fair value in 2016, the Company used the option-pricing method and Ross and Rubinstein Binomial Model (“Binomial-Model”), which is based on the fair value of invested capital evaluated by an income approach. The significant inputs for the valuation model included the following:

|  | Year Ended |
|  | December 31, |
|  | 2016 |
Total fair value of invested Capital as at valuation date (in thousands) |  | 900 |
Risk free rate of interest |  | 0.80 | %
Dividend yield |  | 0.00 | %
Expiration date |  | November 14, 2017 |
Volatility |  | 41 | %

The fair value of the invested capital has been determined using income approach including a discounted cash flow model and unobservable inputs including assumptions of projected revenue, expenses, capital spending, other costs and a discount rate of 50% by using the weighted average cost of capital method in 2016.

Risk free rate of interest adopted for the valuation was estimated based on the US Sovereign Strips Curve plus default risk spread between US and China.

Dividend yield was assumed to be 0.00% considering that AioTV plans to retain profit for corporate expansion and hence have no plan to distribute dividends in the near future.

Expiration date is the expected date of illiquidity event estimated by management.

F-17

The expected equity volatility was esti mated based on the annualized standard deviation of the daily stock price return of comparable companies for the period before the valuation date and with a similar time span as to expiration.

Based on the above assessment of the preferred stock, the Company concluded the fair value was less than the book value of the preferred stock as of December 31, 2016, which will not recover in foreseeable future, thus for the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company recorded a $4.3 million in impairment charges in investment impairments.

On December 7, 2015, the Company invested $0.5 million in a convertible bond of AioTV. The convertible bond bears interest at 10.0% per annum and matured on May 7, 2016 which was subsequently extended to March 28, 2017. The Company converted the bond to 2,269,856 common shares at the conversion price of $0.253790596 per share on May 30, 2017. In the fourth quarter of 2016, the Company invested an additional $0.3 million in convertible bonds issued by AioTV. The convertible bond bears interest at 10% per annum and matured on October 6, 2017. The convertible bonds are classified as an AFS security and are subject to fair value accounting. During 2016, and in connection with the fair value analysis of the investment capital, the Company assessed the fair value of these convertible bonds and concluded that there was no impairment.

As of December 31, 2016, the carrying amount on the investment of AioTV was $1.7 million, including $0.9 million preferred shares and $0.8 million convertible bonds.

On May 30, 2017, the Company converted all the existing 25,527,008 Series B Preferred Shares of AioTV into 25,527,008 common shares of AioTV at a conversion price of $0.320937 per share, and converted $576,068 of the principal amount and the accrued and unpaid interests of the $0.5 million convertible debenture issued on December 7, 2015 into 2,269,856 common shares of AioTV at a conversion price of $0.253790596 per share. After this conversion, the Company deemed to have significant influence in AioTV and began to use the equity method to account for the investment in AioTV.

On May 30, 2017, the Company signed a “Note Purchase Agreement” with AioTV. Pursuant to the agreement, the valuation cap of AioTV was reduced to $0.16 million, and the Company promised to purchase $0.8 million convertible promissory note including $0.32 million existing convertible bond issued in October 2016. As the result, the Company recorded $1.3 million investment impairment in the second quarter of 2017. We invested $0.1 million and $0.38 million in the second and third quarter of 2017,respectively, in a convertible promissory note. In the third quarter of 2017, the Company recorded $0.1 million in losses to reflect its 45% share of AioTV’s losses. After the recorded balance of common stock is reduced to zero, the Company records 45% share of AioTV’s losses against our convertible promissory note investment balance until the carrying value of the convertible promissory note investment balance is reduced to zero. In the third and fourth quarter of 2017, the Company recorded $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively, in losses to reflect its 45% share of AioTV’s losses. As of December 31, 2017, the Company assessed the fair value of AioTV, and recorded a $0.4 million impairment charge to this investment, reducing its book value to zero.

On December 19, 2018, the Company entered into an assignment and assumption agreement to transfer all the Company’s equity interests and debt interests in AioTV to a third party for a cash consideration of $1 by the buyer. This transaction was closed at April 11, 2019.

The Company presents the below summarized unaudited financial information of the Company’s equity method investees.

|  | Condensed |  |  | Condensed |  |  | Condensed |
|  | Year Ended |  |  | Year Ended |  |  | Year Ended |
|  | December 31, |  |  | December 31, |  |  | December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |  |  | 2017 |
|  | (in thousands) |  |  | (in thousands) |  |  | (in thousands) |
Operating data: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Revenue |  | $ | 7,609 |  |  | $ | 6,131 |  |  | $ | 6,943 |
Gross profit |  | $ | 4,904 |  |  | $ | 4,847 |  |  | $ | 4,841 |
Income (loss) from operations |  | $ | (60 | ) |  | $ | (911 | ) |  | $ | (2,776 | )
Net income (loss) |  | $ | (3,001 | ) |  | $ | (4,422 | ) |  | $ | (2,104 | )
Net income (loss) attributable to Equity method investees |  | $ | — |  |  | $ | (262 | ) |  | $ | (687 | )

F-18

|  | Year Ended |  |  | Year Ended |  |  | Year Ended |
|  | December 31, |  |  | December 31, |  |  | December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |  |  | 2017 |
|  | (in thousands) |  |  | (in thousands) |  |  | (in thousands) |
Balance sheet data: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Current assets |  | $ | 6,061 |  |  | $ | 13,550 |  |  | $ | 20,527 |
Long-term assets |  | $ | 666 |  |  | $ | 1,289 |  |  | $ | 2,545 |
Current liabilities |  | $ | (7,633) |  |  | $ | (9,672 | ) |  | $ | (70,213 | )
Long-term liabilities |  | $ | (56,407) |  |  | $ | (53,071 | ) |  | $ | — |
Non-controlling interests |  | $ | — |  |  | $ | — |  |  | $ | — |

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. The accounting guidance also establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy which requires the Company to use observable market data, when available, and to minimize the use of unobservable inputs when determining fair value. The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs into three levels that may be used in measuring fair value as follows:

Level 1-observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2-inputs other than the quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that are observable either directly or indirectly.

Level 3-unobservable inputs based on the Company’s assumptions.

The Company’s financial instruments consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, restricted cash, accounts receivable, long-term investments, accounts payable and certain accrued expenses. Short-term investments consist of bank notes, term deposits and hold for trading with maturities longer than three months and less than one year when acquired. As of December 31, 2019, the respective carrying values of financial instruments except for long-term investments approximated their fair values based on their short-term maturities. As of December 31, 2019, the combined fair value of the entity’s short-term investments and long-term investments in available-for-sale Level 3 convertible bond and redeemable securities was $2.1 million.

There were no financial assets measured and recognized at fair value on a recurring basis and classified under the appropriate level of the fair value hierarchy for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.

The following is the change in value of financial assets using unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the year ended December 31, 2019.

|  | Amount |
|  | In thousands |
As of December 31, 2018 |  | $ | — |
Add: Reclassed to short-term investment as trading security |  | 2,095 |
As of December 31, 2019 |  | $ | 2,095 |

NOTE 7- OPERATING LEASES

The Company’s leases consist of operating leases fo r office space in PRC, India, Japan and the United States. The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. As of December 31, 2019, the Company had no long-term leases that were classified as a financing lease. As of December 31, 2019, the Company did not have additional operating leases that have not yet commenced.

Total operating lease expenses for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $1.9 million, including $0.5 million in cost of net sales and $1.4 million in operating expense on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss).

As of December 31, 2019, the Company recognized operating lease ROU assets of $2.9 million and total lease liabilities $3.0 million, including a current portion of $1.6 million for operating leases.

F-19

|  | For the year ended December 31, 2019 |
|  | (in thousands) |
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities |  |  |  |
Operating cash flows used in operating leases |  | $ | 1,790 |
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange the new lease obligations: |  |  |  |
Operating leases |  | $ | 2,860 |
Weighted average remaining lease term |  |  |  |
Operating leases |  | 1.9 years |
Weighted average discount rate |  |  |  |
Operating leases |  |  | 4.38 | %

Maturities of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2019 are as follows:

|  | Amount |
|  | (in thousands) |
2020 |  | $ | 1,680 |
2021 |  |  | 1,223 |
2022 |  |  | 179 |
2023 |  |  | 12 |
2024 |  |  | — |
Thereafter |  |  | — |
Total future lease payments |  |  | 3,094 |
Less: Imputed interest |  |  | 135 |
Total lease liability balance |  | $ | 2,959 |

For comparative periods prior to the adoption of the new accounting guidance on January 1, 2019, the Company has retained the following disclosures as previously reported. Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases as of December 31, 2018 were as follows:

|  | Amount |
|  | (in thousands) |
2019 |  | $ | 1,674 |
2020 |  |  | 1,112 |
2021 |  |  | 649 |
2022 |  |  | — |
2023 |  |  | — |
Thereafter |  |  | — |
Total |  | $ | 3,435 |

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were $2.1 million and $1.9 million, respectively.

NOTE 8-COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Contractual obligations and commercial commitments

Letters of credit:

The Company issues bid bond, commercial letters of credit or standby letters of credit primarily to support international sales activities outside of China and in support of purchase commitments. When the Company submits a bid for a sale, often the potential customer will require that the Company issue a bid bond or a standby letter of credit to demonstrate its commitment through the bid process. In addition, the Company may be required to issue standby letters of credit as guarantees for advance customer payments upon contract signing or performance guarantees. The standby letters of credit usually expire without being drawn by the beneficiary thereof. Finally, the Company may issue commercial letters of credit in support of purchase commitments. As of December 31, 2019, the Company’s outstanding letters of credit approximated $13.6 million. These balances are included in the balance of Short-term restricted cash and Long-term restricted cash.

F-20

Purchase commitments:

The Company is obligated to purchase raw materials and work-in-process inventory under various orders from various suppliers, all of which should be fulfilled without adverse consequences material to the Company’s operations or financial condition. At December 31, 2019, the Company had outstanding purchase commitments, including agreements that are non-cancelable and cancelable, approximating $48.3 million.

Intellectual property:

Certain sales contracts include provisions under which customers are indemnified by the Company in the event of, among other things, a third party claim against the customer for intellectual property rights infringement related to the Company’s products. There are no limitations on the maximum potential future payments under these guarantees. The Company has not accrued any amounts in relation to these provisions as no such claims have been made and the Company believes it has valid enforceable rights to the intellectual property embedded in its products.

Uncertain Tax Positions:

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had $15.5 million of gross unrecognized tax benefits, of which $0.5 million related to tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the annual effective tax rate. The remaining $15.0 million gross unrecognized tax benefits, if recognized, would affect certain deferred tax assets and federal tax benefit of state income tax.

Litigation:

The Company is a party to other litigation matters and claims that are normal in the course of operations, and while the results of such litigation matters and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, management of the Company believes that the final outcome of such matters will not have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

NOTE 9-ORDINARY SHARE REPURCHASE AND ISSUANCE

On November 12, 2014, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program of up to $40.0 million of its ordinary shares outstanding over the 24 months through 2016. On November 4, 2016, the Company’s Board of Directors approved an extension for this program to November 2018. On November 4, 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors approved an extension for this program to November 2020. For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, the Company repurchased 328,856, 623,765 and 72,739 shares at the cost of $1.0 million, $2.5 million and $0.1 million, respectively. All the repurchased shares under the repurchase program are classified as treasury shares of the Company until they are retired or reissued.

NOTE 10-ORDINARY SHARE AND SHARE INCENTIVE PLANS

Stock Incentive Plans

As of December 31, 2019, the Company has the stock incentive plans described below. Substantially all outstanding awards are subject to potential accelerated vesting in the event of a change in control of the Company. The Company repurchases and cancels its ordinary shares forfeited with respect to the tax liability associated with certain vesting of restricted stock and restricted stock unit grants under these plans.

2017 Equity Incentive Plan:

The 2017 Equity Incentive Plan, or (the “2017 Plan”), was approved by the Board of Director on November 4, 2016, and will expire on December 31, 2021. The 2017 Plan provides for the grant of the following types of incentive awards: (i) stock options, (ii) stock appreciation rights, (iii) restricted stock, (iv) restricted stock units, (v) performance shares and performance units, and (vi) other stock or cash awards (“Award,” and collectively, “Awards”). Those who are eligible for Awards under the 2017 Plan include employees, directors and consultants who provide services to the Company and its affiliates.

The maximum aggregate number of shares that may be awarded and sold under the Plan is 2,000,000 Shares plus (i) any shares that, as of December 31, 2016, have been reserved but not issued pursuant to any awards granted under UTStarcom Holdings Corp.’s Amended and Restated 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2006 Plan”), and (ii) any shares subject to stock options or similar awards granted under the 2006 Plan that expire or otherwise terminate without having been exercised in full and Shares issued pursuant to awards granted under the 2006 Plan that are forfeited to or repurchased by the Company. The shares may be authorized but unissued, or reacquired common stock.

F-21

As of December 31, 201 9, 1,334,657 shares underl ying options and restricted stock awards and units were outstanding under the 2017 Plan. The 2006 Equity incentive plan expired on December 31, 2016, and as of December 31, 2019, 1,590,693 ordinary shares available for grant under this plan were transferre d to the 2017 equity incentive plan.

Stock Award and Stock Option Activity

During 2019, the Company granted equity awards primarily consisting of restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock options and performance shares. Such awards generally vest over a period of four years from the vesting start date. Restricted stock has the voting rights of ordinary shares and the shares underlying restricted stock are issued and outstanding. As of December 31, 2019, the number of ordinary shares available for issuance pursuant to future grants under the 2017 plan, including remaining unissued shares under Prior Plans that have been transferred into the 2017 plan were 2,003,580. The 2006 Plan expired on December 31, 2016, and as of December 31, 2019,1,590,693 shares were transferred to the 2017 Plan that was approved by the Board of Director on November 4, 2016. The following table summarizes the Company’s stock option activities:

|  |  |  |  |  | Weighted |
|  | Number of |  |  | average |
|  | shares |  |  | exercise |
|  | outstanding |  |  | price |
|  | (in thousands) |  |  |  |
Options Outstanding, December 31, 2017 |  |  | 244 |  |  | $ |  |  | 2.26 |
Options granted |  |  | — |  |  |  |  |  |  | — |
Options exercised |  |  | (35 | ) |  | 2.24 |
Options forfeited or expired |  |  | (3 | ) |  | 4.17 |
Options Outstanding, December 31, 2018 |  |  | 206 |  |  | $ |  |  | 2.24 |
Options granted |  |  | — |  |  | — |
Options exercised |  |  | (25 | ) |  | 2.24 |
Options forfeited or expired |  |  | — |  |  | — |
Options Outstanding, December 31, 2019 |  |  | 181 |  |  | $ |  |  | 2.24 |

Under the Plans, the Company granted restricted stock awards. Restricted stock awards are unvested stock awards that may include grants of restricted stock or grants of restricted stock units. Such awards generally vest over a period of four years from the date of grant. Restricted stock has the voting rights of ordinary share and the shares underlying restricted stock are considered to be currently issued and outstanding. Restricted stock units do not have the voting rights of ordinary shares, and the shares underlying the restricted stock units are not considered issued and outstanding. The expense for such awards is based on the fair market value of the shares at the date of grant and is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. The grant of restricted stock awards is deducted from the shares available on a one to one basis for grant under the Company’s stock plan. Unvested restricted awards as of December 31, 2019 and changes during the year ended December 31, 2019 is summarized below:

|  |  |  |  |  | Weighted |
|  |  |  |  |  | average |
|  |  |  |  |  | grant date |
|  | Shares |  |  | fair value |
|  | (in thousands) |  |  |  |
Total nonvested restricted stock at December 31, 2017 |  |  | 921 |  |  | $ |  | 1.96 |
Granted |  |  | 789 |  |  | 3.53 |
Vested |  |  | (379 | ) |  | 2.37 |
Forfeited |  |  | (25 | ) |  | 3.33 |
Total nonvested restricted stock at December 31, 2018 |  |  | 1,306 |  |  | $ |  | 2.77 |
Granted |  |  | 407 |  |  | 3.23 |
Vested |  |  | (494 | ) |  | 2.76 |
Forfeited |  |  | (66 | ) |  | 3.63 |
Total nonvested restricted stock at December 31, 2019 |  |  | 1,153 |  |  | $ |  | 2.89 |

During 2019, 0.5 million shares of restricted stock awards vested. The total fair value of restricted stock awards vested, as measured on the date of vesting, during 2019 was $1.4 million. During 2019, the Company also granted 0.4 million restricted stock awards.

During 2018, 0.4 million shares of restricted stock awards vested. The total fair value of restricted stock awards vested, as measured on the date of vesting, during 2018 was $0.9 million. During 2018, the Company also granted 0.8 million restricted stock awards.

F-22

The following table summarizes significant ranges of outstanding and exercisable stock options as of December 31, 2019:

|  |  |  |  |  |  | Weighted |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  | Number of shares |  |  | Average |  | Weighted |  |  | Number of shares |  |  | Weighted |
Range of |  |  | Outstanding |  |  | Remaining |  | Average |  |  | Exercisable |  |  | Average |
Exercise Prices |  |  | as of 12/31/2019 |  |  | Contractual Term |  | Exercise Price |  |  | as of 12/31/2019 |  |  | Exercise Price |
$ | 2.24 |  |  | $ | 2.24 |  |  |  | 181,450 |  |  | 3.08 |  | $ | 2.24 |  |  |  | 114,800 |  |  | $ | 2.24 |

|  | Number of shares |  |  | Weighted average exercise price |
Options exercisable as of December 31, 2019 |  |  | 114,800 |  |  | $ | 2.24 |
Options vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2019 |  |  | 181,450 |  |  | $ | 2.24 |

The intrinsic value represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value and is calculated as the difference between the market value as reported by NASDAQ on December 31, 2019 of $2.95 and the exercise price of the in-the-money shares. During 2019, the total pre-tax intrinsic value of options exercised was negligible. The weighted average remaining contractual life of options exercisable was 0.08 years, and the weighted average remaining contractual life of options expected to vest was 3.08 years as of December 31, 2019.

2006 Equity Incentive Plan:

The 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, or 2006 Plan, was implemented on July 21, 2006 after being adopted by the Board of Directors on June 6, 2006 and approved by the Company’s stockholders on July 21, 2006, and expired on December 31, 2016. The 2006 Plan replaces the 1997 Plan, the 2001 Plan, and the 2003 Plan, (collectively, the “Prior Plans”), and no further awards will be granted pursuant to the Prior Plans. The 2006 Plan provides for the grant of the following types of incentive awards: (i) stock options, (ii) stock appreciation rights, (iii) restricted stock, (iv) restricted stock units, (v) performance shares and performance units, and (vi) other stock or cash awards. Those who are eligible for Awards under the 2006 Plan include employees, directors and consultants who provide services to the Company and its affiliates.

The maximum aggregate number of shares that may be awarded and sold under the 2006 Plan is 1,500,000 shares, which was amended on January 4, 2016, to add an additional 1,500,000 shares to the 2006 Plan, plus (i) any shares that have been reserved but remain unissued under the Prior Plans as of July 21, 2006, and (ii) any shares subject to stock options or similar awards granted under the Prior Plans that expire or become exercisable without having been exercised in full and shares issued pursuant to awards granted under the Prior Plans that are forfeited to or repurchased by the Company. As of December 31, 2016, the number of shares transferred from the Prior Plans to the 2006 plan totaled 8,474,347. As of December 31, 2016, 2,042,798 options and restricted stock awards and units were outstanding under the 2006 Plan.

The Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee of the Board, `or Compensation Committee, administers the 2006 Plan. Subject to the terms of the 2006 Plan, the Administrator has the sole discretion to select the employees, consultants, and directors who will receive Awards, determine the terms and conditions of Awards, and to interpret the provisions of the 2006 Plan and outstanding Awards. Options granted under the 2006 Plan generally vest and become exercisable over four years.

Awards granted under the 2006 Plan are generally not transferable, and all rights with respect to an Award granted to a participant generally may be exercised during a participant’s lifetime only by the participant; provided, however, that with the Administrator’s approval, a participant may (i) transfer an Award to a participant’s spouse or former spouse pursuant to a court-approved domestic relations order which relates to the provision of child support, alimony payments or marital property rights, or (ii) transfer an Award by gift to or for the benefit of the participant’s immediate family.

The exercise price of all stock options and stock appreciation rights granted under the 2006 Plan must be at least equal to 100% of the fair market value of the ordinary share on the date of grant (or at least 110% of such fair market value for an incentive stock option, or (“ISO”), granted to a shareholder with greater than 10% voting power of the Company’s stock). The maximum term of a stock option granted to any participant must not exceed seven years from the date of grant or five years for an ISO granted to a shareholder with greater than 10% of the voting power of the ordinary share. The Administrator will determine the terms and conditions of all other Awards granted under the 2006 Plan.

The 2006 Plan expired on December 31, 2016, and 960,940 shares were transferred to the 2017 Plan that was approved by the Board of Director on November 4, 2016.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense for stock options is estimated at the grant date based on each option’s fair value as calculated by the Black-Scholes model. The Black-Scholes model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of short-lived exchange traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option pricing models require the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards, actual and projected employee stock option exercise behaviors, risk-free interest rate and expected dividends.

F-23

The Company uses historical volatility as management believes it is more representative of future stock price trends than implied volatility due to the relatively small number of actively traded options on the Company’s ordinary shares available to determine implied volatility. The Company estimates an expected term of options granted based upon the Company’s historical exercise and cancellation data for vested options. In addition, separate groups of employ ees that have similar exercise behavior are considered separately. The expected term of employee stock purchase plan shares is the average of the remaining purchase periods under each offering period. The Company bases the risk free interest rate used in t he option valuation model on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with remaining terms similar to the expected term on the options. The Company does not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future and therefore uses an expected dividend yiel d of zero in the option valuation model. The Company is required to estimate forfeitures at the time of grant and revise those estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. The Company uses historical data to estimate p re-vesting option forfeitures and record stock-based compensation expense only for those awards that are expected to vest.

The fair values of stock-based payment awards excluding non-employee, were estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:

|  | Years ended December 31, |
Stock Options: |  | 2016 |
Expected term in years |  |  | 4.75 |
Weighted average risk-free interest rate |  |  | 1.30 | %
Expected dividend rate |  |  | 0.00 | %
Volatility |  |  | 51.60 | %

At December 31, 2019, there was approximately $1.5 million of total unrecognized compensation cost, as measured, related to unvested stock options and restricted stock and restricted stock units, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.69 years.

At December 31, 2018, there was approximately $2.0 million of total unrecognized compensation cost, as measured, related to unvested stock options and restricted stock and restricted stock units, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.87 years.

The following table summarizes the stock-based compensation expense recognized in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations:

|  | Years Ended December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |  |  | 2017 |
|  | (in thousands) |
Cost of net sales |  | $ | 136 |  |  | $ | 66 |  |  | $ | 12 |
Selling, general and administrative |  | 985 |  |  | 901 |  |  | 793 |
Research and development |  | 278 |  |  | 130 |  |  | 61 |
Total |  | $ | 1,399 |  |  | $ | 1,097 |  |  | $ | 866 |

NOTE 11—INCOME TAXES

Cayman Islands

Under the current tax laws of Cayman Islands, the Company and its subsidiaries are not subject to tax on their income or capital gains. In addition, upon payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders, no Cayman Islands withholding tax will be imposed.

United States and Foreign Income Taxes

United States and foreign income (loss) before income taxes and minority interest were as follows:

|  | Years Ended December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |  |  | 2017 |
|  | (in thousands) |
United States |  | $ | 6,647 |  |  | $ | 13,381 |  |  | $ | (29,673 | )
Foreign |  |  | (10,591 | ) |  |  | (8,939 | ) |  |  | 37,917 |
|  | $ | (3,944 | ) |  | $ | 4,442 |  |  | $ | 8,244 |

F-24

The components of the income tax expense (benefit) are summarized as follows:

|  | Years Ended December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |  |  | 2017 |
|  | (in thousands) |
Current |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Federal |  |  | (984 | ) |  | $ | — |  |  | $ | — |
State |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |
Foreign |  |  | 150 |  |  | $ | (890 | ) |  | 2,355 |
Total current income tax expense (benefit) |  | $ | (834 | ) |  | $ | (890 | ) |  | $ | 2,355 |
Deferred |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Federal |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |
State |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |
Foreign |  | 803 |  |  | 512 |  |  | (1,092) |
Total deferred tax expense (benefit) |  | 803 |  |  | 512 |  |  | (1,092) |
Total income tax expense (benefit) |  | $ | (31 | ) |  | $ | (378 | ) |  | $ | 1,263 |

On December 22, 2017, the United States government enacted the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, commonly referred to as the Tax Reform Act. The Tax Reform Act includes significant changes to the U.S. income tax system including but not limited to: a federal corporate rate reduction from 35% to 21%; limitations on the deductibility of interest expense and executive compensation; repeal of the Alternative Minimum Tax (“AMT”); full expensing provisions related to business assets; creation of new minimum taxes such as the base erosion anti-abuse tax (“BEAT”) and Global Intangible Low Taxed Income (“GILTI”) tax; and the transition of U.S. international taxation from a worldwide tax system to a modified territorial tax system, which will result in a one time U.S. tax liability on those earnings which have not previously been repatriated to the U.S. (the “Transition Tax”). The provisional impacts for the tax year ending December 31, 2019 of this legislation are outlined below:

| • | The Tax Reform Act also repealed the corporate AMT for tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2018 and provides for existing alternative minimum tax credit carryovers to be refunded beginning in 2018. The Company has approximately $1 million in refundable credits. The Company claimed half million of the refundable credits in the 2018 tax year and the remaining half million of the refundable credits will be claimed in the 2019 tax year.

| • | The Tax Reform Act creates a new requirement that GILTI income earned by foreign subsidiaries must be included currently in the gross income of the U.S. shareholder. Under U.S. GAAP, the Company is permitted to make an accounting policy election to either treat taxes due on future inclusions in U.S. taxable income related to GILTI as a current period expense when incurred or to factor such amounts into the Company's measurement of its deferred taxes. The Company had zero GILTI inclusion and no GILTI tax liabilities due to the net tested loss from all the CFCs. As such, this provision does not have immediate impact on the Company.

Prior to the effectiveness of the Tax Act, the Company did not recognize a deferred tax liability related to un-remitted foreign earnings because such earnings were expected to be reinvested indefinitely. Because such earnings were previously subject to the one-time transition tax on foreign earnings, any taxes due with respect to such earnings would generally be limited to foreign and state taxes. As of December 31, 2019, the Company has not recognized a deferred tax liability related un-remitted foreign earnings, as it is intends to indefinitely reinvest these earnings and expects future US cash generation to be sufficient to meet future US cash needs.

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had gross unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $15.5 million and had certain deferred tax assets and the federal tax benefit of state income tax items totaling $15.0 million. Of the total $15.5 million gross unrecognized tax benefits, $0.5 million related to tax benefits that, if recognized, would impact the annual effective tax rate. The Company has reduced its unrecognized tax benefits by approximately $2.0 million during 2019 mainly due to statute of limitations expirations and rate change impact.

The Company’s policy is to recognize interest expense and penalties related to the above unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. The Company had accrued interest and penalties of approximately $0.4 million as of December 31, 2019 and approximately $0.4 million as of December 31, 2018.

The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various U.S. state and foreign jurisdictions. The Company is also under audit by the taxing authorities in China on a recurring basis. The material jurisdictions that the Company is subject to examination are in the United States and China. The Company’s tax years for 2010 through 2019 are still open for examination in China. The Company’s tax years for 2010 through 2019 are still open for examination in the United States.

ASC 740-10 establishes criteria for recognizing or continuing to recognize only more-likely-than-not tax positions, which may result in income tax expense volatility in future periods. While the Company believes that it has adequately provided for all tax

F-25

positions, amounts asserted by taxing authorities could be greater than the Company’s accrued position. Accordingly, additional provisions on income tax re lated matters could be recorded in the future as revised estimates are made or the underlying matters are settled or otherwise resolved.

A summary of the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

|  | Years Ended December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |  |  | 2017 |
|  | (in thousands) |
Beginning balance-gross unrecognized tax benefits (UTB’s) |  | $ | 17,496 |  |  | $ | 18,728 |  |  | $ | 20,137 |
Lapse of statute of limitations |  |  | (291 | ) |  |  | (1,232 | ) |  |  | (1,409 | )
Rate change impact |  |  | (1,698 | ) |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |
Ending balance—UTB |  |  | 15,507 |  |  |  | 17,496 |  |  |  | 18,728 |
UTB’s as a credit in deferred taxes |  |  | (12,905 | ) |  |  | (14,604 | ) |  |  | (14,604 | )
Federal benefit of state taxes |  |  | (2,062 | ) |  |  | (2,063 | ) |  |  | (2,063 | )
UTB’s that would impact the effective tax rate |  | $ | 540 |  |  | $ | 829 |  |  | $ | 2,061 |

In establishing its deferred income tax assets and liabilities, the Company makes judgments and interpretations based on the enacted tax laws and published tax guidance applicable to its operations. The Company records deferred tax assets and liabilities and evaluates the need for valuation allowances to reduce the deferred tax assets to realizable amounts. The likelihood of a material change in the Company’s expected realization of these assets is dependent on future taxable income and its ability to use foreign tax credit carryforwards and carrybacks.

A summary of the components of net deferred tax assets is as follows:

|  | December 31, |  |  | December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |
|  | (in thousands) |
Deferred Tax Assets |  |  |  |  |  |
Allowance and reserves |  | $ | 2,935 |  |  | $ | (10,671 | )
Prepaid expense |  |  | 95 |  |  |  | 28 |
Net operating loss carryforward |  |  | 162,712 |  |  |  | 164,512 |
Tax credit carryforwards |  |  | 5,660 |  |  |  | 32,958 |
Writedown/amortization of intangible assets and goodwill |  |  | 15 |  |  |  | 241 |
Property, plant and equipment |  |  | 4,147 |  |  |  | 3,500 |
Demo equipment income |  |  | 4,588 |  |  |  | 4,439 |
Accrued warranties |  |  | 25 |  |  |  | (302 | )
Other |  |  | 15,193 |  |  |  | 14,205 |
Total deferred tax assets |  |  | 195,370 |  |  |  | 208,910 |
Deferred Tax Liabilities |  |  |  |  |  |
Deferred revenue and customer advances, net |  |  | (157 | ) |  |  | 27 |
Total deferred tax liabilities |  | (157) |  |  | 27 |
Total net deferred tax assets |  |  | 195,213 |  |  |  | 208,937 |
Less: Valuation Allowance |  |  | (193,788 | ) |  |  | (206,630 | )
Total net deferred tax assets |  | $ 1,425 |  |  | $ 2,307 |

As of December 31, 2019, the Company’s U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards were $562 million and expire in varying amounts between 2025 and 2034. As of December 31, 2019, state net operating loss carryforwards were $277 million and expire in varying amounts between 2020 and 2039. The Company has concluded that these federal and state net operating losses did not meet the more likely than not standard contained in FASB ASC 740-10 and has therefore provided a $134.6 million valuation allowance against the related deferred tax assets. In the event the tax benefits related to the valuation allowance are realized, an immaterial amount would be credited to paid-in capital. As of December 31, 2019, the Company also had net operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs”) in China of approximately $77.8 million. The China net operating loss carryforwards will expire in varying amounts between 2024 and 2029. The Company has also concluded that these China net operating losses did not meet the more likely than not standard and has therefore placed a $11.8 million valuation allowance against the related deferred tax assets. As of December 31, 2019, the Company had NOLs in countries other than the U.S. and China. These NOLs are approximately $97.8 million. The majority of the NOLs do not expire and can be carried forward indefinitely. However, the Company concluded majority of these losses did not meet the more likely than not standard and has therefore placed a valuation allowance of $16.4 million against the related deferred tax assets.

F-26

As of December 31, 2019, the Company has U.S. research and development credit carryforwards of $3.1 million, $2.5 million of the credits have an indefinite life and $0.6 million of the credits expire in varying amounts between 2020 and 2023. The Company has U.S. foreign tax credits of $2.5 million which expire in varying amounts bet ween 2020 and 2028. The Company has concluded that these U.S. tax credit carryforwards did not meet the more likely than not standard contained in FASB ASC 740-10 and has therefore placed a $5.6 million valuation allowance against the related deferred tax assets.

The difference between the Company’s effective income tax amount and the federal statutory amount are reconciled below:

|  | Years Ended December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |  |  | 2017 |
|  | (in thousands) |
Federal tax (benefit) at statutory rate |  | $ | (858 | ) |  | $ | 1,120 |  |  | $ | 2,885 |
Stock based compensation expense |  |  | 132 |  |  |  | 184 |  |  |  | 295 |
Effect of differences in foreign tax rates |  |  | 547 |  |  |  | 2,113 |  |  |  | (6,793 | )
FIN48 reserve |  |  | (349 | ) |  |  | (1,230 | ) |  |  | (1,478 | )
Change in deferred tax valuation allowance |  |  | 1,107 |  |  |  | (1,679 | ) |  |  | 5,971 |
Other |  |  | (610 | ) |  |  | (886 | ) |  |  | 383 |
Total tax expense (benefit) |  | $ | (31 | ) |  | $ | (378 | ) |  | $ | 1,263 |

On June 24, 2011, the Company effected the Merger to reorganize the corporate structure of UTStarcom, Inc., a Delaware corporation incorporated in 1991, and its subsidiaries. The Merger resulted in shares of the common stock of UTStarcom, Inc. being converted into the right to receive an equal number of ordinary shares in our capital, which were issued by us in connection with the Merger. Following the Merger, UTStarcom, Inc. became our wholly-owned subsidiary and the Company became the parent company of UTStarcom, Inc. and its subsidiaries. The Company, together with its subsidiaries, continues to conduct its business in substantially the same manner as was conducted by UTStarcom, Inc. and its subsidiaries. The transaction was accounted for as a legal re-organization of entities under common control.

The China Corporate Income Tax Law (“CIT Law”) became effective on January 1, 2008. Under the CIT Law, China’s dual tax system for domestic enterprises and foreign investment enterprises (“FIEs”) was effectively replaced by a unified system. The new law establishes a tax rate of 25% for most enterprises and a reduced tax rate of 15% for certain qualified high technology enterprises.

The CIT Law provides the reduced 15% enterprise income tax rate for qualified high and new technology enterprises. One of the Company’s China subsidiaries, HUTS, through which the majority of our business in China is conducted obtained the High and New Technology Enterprise Certificate, or (“High-tech Certificate”), from the relevant approval authorities on September 19, 2008, and thereafter were approved to pay CIT at the reduced tax rate of 15%. The approval for the reduced 15% tax rate is valid for three years and applies retroactively from January 1, 2008, subject to possible re-assessment by the approval authorities. During the re-assessment, the tax authority may suspend the implementation of the reduced 15% rate. HUTS’s High-tech Certificate renewal was approved on November 13, 2017, thus the approval extended the reduced 15% tax rate terms for three years from 2017. However, since HUTS is currently in significant loss position, the reduced tax rate will not have a material adverse impact on the business or liquidity until HUTS begin to generate profit and deplete all the net operating loss carry forwards.

As of September 30, 2005, the Company did not believe it was more likely than not that it would generate a sufficient level and proper mix of taxable income within the appropriate period to utilize all the deferred tax assets in China and the United States. As a result of the review undertaken at September 30, 2005, the Company has concluded that it was appropriate to establish a full valuation allowance for the net deferred tax assets in China and the United States wherein the cumulative losses weigh heavily in the overall assessment. The Company has continued to provide full valuation allowances since 2005 as it did not believe it was more likely than not that it would generate sufficient taxable income within the appropriate period to utilize those deferred tax assets.

In 2019, the change in deferred tax valuation allowance of $1.1 million is primarily attributable to the tax expense related to continuing to provide full valuation allowance on the Company’s deferred tax assets at December 31, 2019 in the United States and China. In 2018, the change in deferred tax valuation allowance of $1.7 million is primarily attributable to the tax expense related to continuing to provide full valuation allowance on the Company’s deferred tax assets at December 31, 2018 in the United States and China. In 2017, the change in deferred tax valuation allowance of $6.0 million is primarily attributable to the tax expense related to continuing to provide full valuation allowance on the Company’s deferred tax assets at December 31, 2017 in the United States and China.

In 2019, 2018, and 2017, there was no net income tax benefit related to tax credits due to full valuation allowance applied.

F-27

NOTE 12-OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE), NE T

Other income (expense), net consists of the following:

|  | Years ended December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |  |  | 2017 |
|  | (in thousands) |
Foreign exchange gains (loss) |  | $ | (3,880 | ) |  | $ | (2,610 | ) |  | $ | 619 |
Gain from the currency translation adjustment |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | 1,703 |
Reversal of FIN45 due to expiration of the statute of limitations (1) |  |  | 1,182 |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |
Reversal of water conservancy fund |  |  | — |  |  |  | 468 |  |  |  | — |
Gain on liquidation of subsidiary |  |  | — |  |  | 909 |  |  |  | — |
Aged account payable reversal (2) |  |  | 3,161 |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |
Other |  |  | 409 |  |  | 589 |  |  |  | 654 |
Total |  | $ | 872 |  |  | $ | (644 | ) |  | $ | 2,976 |

(1) | In 2019, approximately $1.2 million reversal of FASB Interpretation No. (“FIN”) 45 reserve due to expiration of the related statute of limitations.

(2) The Company reversed an aged account payable balance due to the expiration of the related statute of limitations in India.

NOTE 13-NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017:

|  | Years Ended December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |  |  | 2017 |
|  | (in thousands) |
Numerator: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Net income (loss) |  | $ | (3,913 | ) |  | $ | 4,820 |  |  | $ | 6,981 |
Denominator: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Weighted average shares outstanding-Basic |  |  | 35,556 |  |  | 35,642 |  |  | 35,467 |
Potentially dilutive ordinary share equivalents-stock options and restricted stock |  |  | — |  |  | 677 |  |  | 709 |
Weighted average shares outstanding-Diluted |  |  | 35,556 |  |  | 36,319 |  |  | 36,176 |
Net income (loss) per share – Basic |  |  | (0.11 | ) |  | $ | 0.14 |  |  | $ | 0.20 |
Net income (loss) per share – Diluted |  | $ | (0.11 | ) |  | $ | 0.13 |  |  | $ | 0.19 |

The dilutive effect of share-based awards is reflected in diluted net loss per share by application of the treasury stock method, which includes consideration of unamortized share-based compensation expense and the dilutive effect of in-the-money options and unvested restricted stock units. Under the treasury stock method, the amount the employee must pay for exercising stock options and unamortized share-based compensation expense are assumed proceeds to be used to repurchase hypothetical shares. An increase in the fair market value of the Company’s ordinary share can result in a greater dilutive effect from potentially dilutive awards.

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, nil and 1.5 million potential ordinary shares were dilutive.

NOTE 14-SEGMENT REPORTING

The Company’s reporting segments are as follows:

| • | Equipment- Sales of equipment, including network infrastructure and application products. Network infrastructure products mainly include broadband products. Network application products mainly include wireless infrastructure technologies.

| • | Services-Providing services and support for our equipment products and also the new operational support segment.

The Company’s Chief Operating Decision Makers make financial decisions and resource allocations based on information they receive from their internal management system and currently evaluate the operating performance and allocates resources to the reporting segments based on segment revenue, gross profit and income before income taxes. Cost of sales and direct expenses in

F-28

relation to production are assigned to the reporting segments. The accounting policies used in measuring segment assets and operating perfo rmance are the same as those used at the consolidated level.

Summarized below are the Company’s segment net sales, gross profit and income before income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 based on the current reporting segment structure.

|  | Years Ended December 31, |
|  |  |  |  |  | % of |  |  |  |  |  |  | % of |  |  |  |  |  |  | % of |
|  |  |  |  |  | net |  |  |  |  |  |  | net |  |  |  |  |  |  | net |
Sales by Segment |  | 2019 |  |  | sales |  |  | 2018 |  |  | sales |  |  | 2017 |  |  | sales |
|  | (in thousands, except percentages) |
Equipment |  | $ | 43,722 |  |  | 67 | % |  | $ | 97,680 |  |  | 84 | % |  | $ | 77,283 |  |  | 79 | %
Services |  |  | 21,901 |  |  | 33 | % |  |  | 18,264 |  |  | 16 | % |  |  | 21,009 |  |  | 21 | %
Total |  | $ | 65,623 |  |  | 100 | % |  | $ | 115,944 |  |  | 100 | % |  | $ | 98,292 |  |  | 100 | %

|  | Years Ended December 31, |
|  |  |  |  |  | Gross |  |  |  |  |  |  |  | Gross |  |  |  |  |  |  | Gross |
|  |  |  |  |  | Profit |  |  |  |  |  |  |  | Profit |  |  |  |  |  |  | Profit |
Gross profit by Segment |  | 2019 |  |  | % |  |  |  | 2018 |  |  | % |  |  | 2017 |  |  | % |
|  | (in thousands, except percentages) |
Equipment |  | $ | 14,156 |  |  |  | 32 | % |  |  | $ | 25,598 |  |  | 26 | % |  | $ | 26,647 |  |  | 34 | %
Services |  |  | 10,001 |  |  |  | 46 | % |  |  |  | 6,670 |  |  | 37 | % |  |  | 6,499 |  |  | 31 | %
Total |  | $ | 24,157 |  |  |  | 37 | % |  |  | $ | 32,268 |  |  | 28 | % |  | $ | 33,146 |  |  | 34 | %

|  | Years ended December 31, |
Segment income and income (loss) before income taxes |  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |  |  | 2017 |
|  | (in thousands) |
Equipment |  | $ | 51 |  |  | $ | 13,398 |  |  | $ | 16,847 |
Services |  |  | 10,001 |  |  |  | 6,670 |  |  |  | 6,499 |
Total Segment income |  |  | 10,052 |  |  |  | 20,068 |  |  |  | 23,346 |
General and Corporate |  |  | (13,996 | ) |  |  | (15,626 | ) |  |  | (15,102 | )
Income (loss) before income taxes |  | $ | (3,944 | ) |  | $ | 4,442 |  |  | $ | 8,244 |

General and corporate expenses include all un-allocated expenses such as sales and marketing, general and administration and common R&D expenses, equity income (loss) of associates, and investment impairment.

Sales are attributed to a geographical area based upon the location of the customer. Sales data by geographical area are as follows:

|  | Years Ended December 31, |
|  |  |  |  |  | % of net |  |  |  |  |  |  |  | % of net |  |  |  |  |  |  |  | % of net |
|  | 2019 |  |  | Sales |  |  |  | 2018 |  |  | sales |  |  |  | 2017 |  |  | sales |
|  | (in thousands, except percentages) |
Net Sales by Region |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
China |  | $ | 2,439 |  |  |  | 4 | % |  |  | $ | 3,146 |  |  |  | 3 |  | % |  | $ | 2,926 |  |  | 3 | %
India |  |  | 37,206 |  |  |  | 57 | % |  |  |  | 70,106 |  |  |  | 60 |  | % |  |  | 42,352 |  |  | 43 | %
Japan |  |  | 21,761 |  |  |  | 33 | % |  |  |  | 35,504 |  |  |  | 31 |  | % |  |  | 49,185 |  |  | 50 | %
Taiwan |  |  | 3,515 |  |  |  | 5 | % |  |  |  | 6,445 |  |  |  | 6 |  | % |  |  | 3,018 |  |  | 3 | %
Other |  |  | 702 |  |  |  | 1 | % |  |  |  | 743 |  |  |  | 1 |  | % |  |  | 811 |  |  | 1 | %
Total |  | $ | 65,623 |  |  | 100 | % |  |  | $ | 115,944 |  |  | 100 |  | % |  | $ | 98,292 |  |  | 100 | %

Long-lived assets, consisting of property, plant and equipment, by geographical area are as follows:

|  | December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |
|  | (in thousands) |
China |  | $ | 962 |  |  | $ | 1,058 |
Other |  | 130 |  |  | 200 |
Total long-lived assets |  | $ | 1,092 |  |  | $ | 1,258 |

F-29

NOTE 15-CREDIT RISK AND CONCENTRATION

Financial Risks:

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk, consist principally of cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments and accounts and notes receivable. The Company places its temporary cash and short-term investments with several commercial banks. Approximately $35.4 million and $51.0 million of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments were on deposit in accounts outside the U.S. at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, of which approximately $3.1 million and $8.9 million were held by subsidiaries in China. China imposes currency exchange controls on certain transfers of funds to and from China. The Company’s China subsidiaries are subject to pre-approval from the State Administration of Foreign Exchange (“SAFE”) for non-domestic financing. Additionally, the amount of cash available for transfer from the China subsidiaries for use by the Company’s non-China subsidiaries is also limited both by the liquidity needs of the subsidiaries in China and the restriction on foreign currency exchange by Chinese-government mandated limitations including currency exchange controls on certain transfers of funds outside of China.

The Company’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to its investment portfolio. The fair value of its investment portfolio would not be significantly affected by either a 10% increase or decrease in interest rates due mainly to the short-term nature of most of its investment portfolio with the exception of the available-for-sale securities. The investment classified as available-for-sales securities is reported at fair value. It will be measured subsequently at fair value on the balance sheets with unrealized gains and losses will be recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in shareholders’ equity. Any negative events or deterioration in financial well-being with respect to the counterparties of the long-term investments and the underlying collateral may cause material losses to the Company and have a material effect on the Company’s financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the Company’s interest income can be sensitive to changes in the general level of U.S. and China interest rates since the majority of its funds are invested in instruments with maturities of less than one year. In a declining interest rate environment, as short-term investments mature, reinvestment occurs at less favorable market rates. Given the short-term nature of certain investments, declining interest rates will not negatively impact the Company’s investment income.

The Company maintains an investment portfolio of various holdings, types and maturities. The Company does not use derivative financial instruments. The Company places its cash investments in instruments that meet high credit quality standards, as specified in its investment policy guidelines. The Company’s policy is to limit the risk of principal loss and to ensure the safety of invested funds by generally attempting to limit market risk.

The Company’s available-for-sale securities are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss in shareholders’ equity. Any negative events or deterioration in financial well-being with respect to the counterparties of these investments may cause material losses to the Company and have a material effect on the Company’s financial condition and results of operations.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Major Customers:

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company’s accounts receivable balance included amounts due from customer A, representing approximately 1% and 1% of the Company’s total accounts receivable, net of allowances for doubtful accounts, respectively.

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company’s accounts receivable balance included amounts due from customer B, representing approximately 91 % and 93% of the Company’s total accounts receivable, net of allowances for doubtful accounts, respectively.

The following customers accounted for 10% or more of the Company’s net revenues:

|  | For the years ended |
|  | December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |  |  | 2017 |
Customer A |  |  | 21 | % |  |  | 28 | % |  |  | 40 | %
Customer B |  |  | 48 | % |  |  | 58 | % |  |  | 39 | %

Country Risks:

The Company’s main operating functions inclusive of R&D, manufacturing and related supports as well as its core management team are in China. The Company’s operations in China are subject to special considerations and significant risks not typically associated with companies in the United States. These include risks associated with, among others, the political, economic and legal environments, foreign currency exchange. The Company’s results may be adversely affected by, among other things, changes in the political, economic and social conditions in China, and by changes in governmental policies with respect to laws and

F-30

regulations, changes in China’s telecommunications industry and regulatory rules and policies, anti-inflationary measures, currency conversion and remittance abroad, and rates and methods of taxation.

In addition, the major customers of the Company are based in Japan and India. Therefore, our results of operations may be adversely affected by the political and business relationship between as well as other events affecting Japan or India in general. From time to time there have been tensions and conflicts among China, Japan and India. Adverse changes in political and economic policies, geopolitical uncertainties, and international conflicts may lead to a reduction in our sales. Any future conflicts among China, Japan and India have an adverse impact on the political and business relationship of the countries. Furthermore, events affecting Japan or India in general, such as natural disasters, or a local currency devaluation may also have a negative impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

NOTE 16-RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

On September 3, 2019, Tonghao Cayman acquired an additional 9,200,000 Ordinary Shares from the Company’s former shareholders became the largest shareholder of the Company. Tongding Interconnection Information Co., Ltd. (“TDI”) is the parent company of the Tonghao Cayman. During 2019, the Company had sales transactions with TDI at the amount of $49 thousand.

NOTE 17-SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In December 2019, a novel and deadly strain of coronavirus was reported in Wuhan, China. On January 30, 2020, the World Health Organization declared this COVID-19 outbreak a health emergency of international concern. On February 28, 2020, the World Health Organization increased the assessment of this risk of spread and the risk of impact of COVID-19 to very high at global level. In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 a pandemic. With the aim to contain the COVID-19 outbreak, the PRC government has imposed various strict measure across the PRC, including, but not limited to, travel restrictions, mandatory quarantine requirements, and postponed resumption of business operations. Besides, India announced twenty-one-day national lockdown. However, as COVID-19 continued to evolve into a worldwide health crisis, it has adversely affect the global economy and financial market. In this period of time, the Company temporarily closed the principle office in Hangzhou and had a lot of restrictions on travelling. If the COVID-19 cannot be effectively controlled in a short of time, it may adversely affect the Company’s business operations, financial condition and operating results for 2020, including but not limited to negative impact to the Company’s total revenues, slower collection of accounts receivables and additional allowance for doubtful accounts. Because of the uncertainties surrounding the COVID-19 outbreak, the extent of the business disruption and the related financial impact cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.

On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (the “Cares Act”) became law in the United States to provide certain tax incentives with the aim of mitigate the related economic harm for businesses. The Company is currently evaluating the benefit these tax incentives might have on the consolidated financial statements.

In December 2010, the Company invested $2.1 million into Aceland Investments Limited. In October 2019, the Board of Aceland approved a resolution to reduce its share capital and was expected to repurchase our full investment in Aceland within one year. As the result, the Company classified this investment as a trading security in the short-term investment account in the amount of $2.1 million at December 31, 2019. In March 2020, Aceland repurchased all of the Company’s investment and the Company recorded a $0.3 million gain in the other income.

F-31

SCHEDU LE I

UTSTARCOM HOLDINGS CORP. (UNCONSOLIDATED-PARENT COMPANY BASIS)

REGISTRANT BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except par value)

|  | December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |
|  | (in thousands) |
ASSETS |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Investment in subsidiaries |  | $ | 113,317 |  |  | $ | 115,285 |
Total assets |  |  | 113,317 |  |  |  | 115,285 |
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Current liabilities: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Accounts payable-intercompany |  |  | 14,129 |  |  |  | 13,119 |
Total current liabilities |  |  | 14,129 |  |  |  | 13,119 |
Total liabilities |  |  | 14,129 |  |  |  | 13,119 |
Stockholders’ equity: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Ordinary shares: $0.00375 par value; 250,000 authorized shares; 40,335 and 39,799 shares issued at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively; 35,525 and 35,318 shares outstanding at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively |  | 123 |  |  | 123 |
Additional paid-in capital |  |  | 1,265,615 |  |  |  | 1,264,160 |
Treasury stock, at cost: 4,810 and 4,481 shares at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively |  |  | (11,948 | ) |  |  | (10,899 | )
Accumulated deficit |  |  | (1,216,704 | ) |  |  | (1,212,790 | )
Accumulated other comprehensive income |  |  | 62,102 |  |  |  | 61,572 |
Total stockholders’ equity |  |  | 99,188 |  |  |  | 102,166 |
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity |  | $ | 113,317 |  |  | $ | 115,285 |

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-32

UTSTARCOM HOLDINGS CORP. (UNCONSOLIDATED-PARENT COMPANY BASIS)

CONDENSED INFORMATION AS TO THE RESULTS OF OPERATIONS OF THE REGISTRANT

(In thousands)

|  | Years ended December 31, |
|  | 2019 |  |  | 2018 |  |  | 2017 |
|  | (in thousands) |
Sales |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Unrelated parties |  | $ | — |  |  | $ | — |  |  | $ | — |
Related parties |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |
Intercompany |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |
Cost of sales |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Unrelated parties |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |
Related parties |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |
Intercompany |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |
Gross profit |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |
Operating expenses: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Selling, general and administrative |  |  | 633 |  |  |  | 697 |  |  |  | 852 |
Research and development |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |
Total operating expenses |  |  | 633 |  |  |  | 697 |  |  |  | 852 |
Operating loss |  |  | (633 | ) |  |  | (697 | ) |  |  | (852 | )
Interest income |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |
Interest expense |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |
Other income, net |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |
Loss before income taxes and equity in loss of affiliated companies |  |  | (633 | ) |  |  | (697 | ) |  |  | (852 | )
Equity in net income (loss) of affiliated companies |  |  | (3,281 | ) |  |  | 5,517 |  |  |  | 7,833 |
Income tax benefit (expense) |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | — |
Net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) |  | $ | (3,914 | ) |  | $ | 4,820 |  |  | $ | 6,981 |

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statement

F-33

UTSTARCOM HOLDINGS CORP.

NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1-BASIS OF PRESENTATION

UTStarcom Holdings Corp., or the Company, a Cayman Island corporation, is the parent company of all UTStarcom Holdings Corp. subsidiaries. The condensed financial statements of the Company have been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC and in conformity with U.S. GAAP. The Company determined cash flow activities during the period were not material and therefore omitted the statement of cash flows from these financial statements.

On June 24, 2011, the Company effected a merger, or the Merger, to reorganize the corporate structure of UTStarcom, Inc., a Delaware corporation incorporated in 1991, and its subsidiaries. As a result of the reorganization, UTStarcom Holdings Corp. became the parent company of UTStarcom, Inc. and its subsidiaries. Pursuant to the Merger, the Company issued an equal number of ordinary shares in exchange for the common stock of UTStarcom, Inc. Given the reorganization of the corporate structure on June 24, 2011, the prior period numbers have been adjusted as if the new corporate structure had been in place since the beginning of the earliest period presented in the above condensed financial statements.

The Company is generally a holding company of certain subsidiaries, or collectively subsidiaries. The condensed financial statements of the Company have been prepared with the assumption that the current corporate structure has been in existence throughout all relevant periods.

The Company records its investment in subsidiaries under the equity method of accounting as prescribed in ASC 323-10, “ The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock. ” Such investment is presented on the balance sheet as “Investment in affiliated companies” and the subsidiaries’ profit or loss are recognized based on the effective shareholding percentage as “Equity in net income (loss) of affiliated companies” on the results of operations.

Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP have been condensed or omitted. The footnote disclosures contain supplemental information relating to the operations of the Company and, as such, these statements should be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated financial statements of the Company.

The Company is a shell company and does not have any activities. Operating expenses for the Company for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 consisted mainly of the retaining fee for the Board of Directors, its director and officer insurance expenses and the expenses associated with investor relations. As the Company does not have any cash activity, the recorded expenses were paid on behalf of the Company by UTStarcom, Inc., its subsidiary, and statements of cash flows have been omitted.

F-34

SCHEDU LE II

UTSTARCOM HOLDINGS CORP.

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES

For the Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017

|  |  |  |  |  | Charged |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  | Balance at |  |  | (credited) to |  |  | Credited to |  |  |  |  |  |  | Balance at |
|  | beginning of |  |  | costs and |  |  | other |  |  | (Deductions) |  |  | end of |
Description |  | the period |  |  | expenses |  |  | accounts |  |  | Adjustments (1) |  |  | the period |
Year ended December 31, 2019 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Allowance for doubtful accounts |  | $ | 2,124 |  |  |  | 4,396 |  |  |  | (14 | ) |  |  | — |  |  | $ | 6,506 |
Tax valuation allowance |  | $ | 206,630 |  |  |  | 1,107 |  |  |  | — |  |  |  | (13,949) |  |  | $ | 193,788 |
Year ended December 31, 2018 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Allowance for doubtful accounts |  | $ | 2,437 |  |  | $ | 812 |  |  | $ | (280 | ) |  | $ | (845 | ) |  | $ | 2,124 |
Tax valuation allowance |  | $ | 236,332 |  |  | $ | (1,679 | ) |  | $ | — |  |  | $ | (28,023 | ) |  | $ | 206,630 |
Year ended December 31, 2017 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Allowance for doubtful accounts |  | $ | 2,339 |  |  | $ | (56 | ) |  | $ | 154 |  |  | $ | — |  |  | $ | 2,437 |
Tax valuation allowance |  | $ | 329,523 |  |  | $ | 6,162 |  |  | $ | — |  |  | $ | (99,353 | ) |  | $ | 236,332 |

(1) | Represents write-offs of allowance for doubtful accounts and foreign exchange adjustments.

F-35